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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

mERE CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
#HE12H31HILLEFE
Year ended 31 December
20234 20224F
ARBTFT AR®ETFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 41,826 117,354
PRPF1SIR ARSI Loss before income tax (110,400) (56,721)
FABIEREEREEZE Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year (127,162) (53,850)
RNBVEB AEHER Loss and total comprehensive loss for
BE R 2 EEIBALEE the year attributable to owners of the
Company (127,033) (53,418)
BEKREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
#12831H
As at 31 December
20234 20224F
ARBTFT AR®EFT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
ERIEE Non-current assets 91,819 54,043
TMENEE Current assets 234,581 429,177
BEEE Total assets 326,400 483,220
Emkas Equity and liabilities
ErIasE Non-current liabilities 12,219 1,350
I =R Current liabilities 245,418 286,045
I=REElR Total liabilities 257,637 287,395
AR R Total equity 68,763 195,825
EN (AR EERE Net current (liabilities)/assets (10,837) 143,132
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6 China New Energy Limited

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group” or “We”), | am pleased to report the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Reporting
Year”).

It was a year of post pandemic economic recovery worldwide in 2023 with
the overall global economy showing a weak recovery trend. The Economic
Outlook Report released by the Organization for Economic Cooperation
and Development predicts that the global economy will grow by only
2.9% in 2023. Although governments around the world have increased
infrastructure construction and fiscal stimulus efforts, they were still unable
to make profound changes to the economic situation. Relations between
China and the United States have been strained for years and have had
a huge impact on the global trading system. Global trade is becoming
more difficult and such difficulty cannot be shaken off at this stage. The
progress of some potential projects in Africa, Southeast Asia and other
foreign countries that we have been communicating with in recent years
has moved slowly. Affected by the previous global epidemic, market
demand and consumer patterns in China have undergone major changes.
The intensification of competition within the same industry has increased
the uncertainty of the market. These factors pose greater challenges to the
business development of the Company, and more measures are needed.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

From a global perspective, the world is undergoing great changes not
seen in a century, with a slow pace in global economic recovery, while
the economic and business environment also face great uncertainties.
The Board and management team of the Company required the
marketing team to explore project opportunities by participating in
industry exhibitions, seminars and visiting old and new customers, excel
in technical, service and even price competitions and do their very
best to secure new projects. The engineering department shall ensure
safe construction, and deliver projects with quality and quantity, to win
customer reputation for the Company. The finance department has
strengthened financial and cost management, improved the recovery rate
of accounts receivable, and enhanced the Company’s cash flow. They
also required the technology and R&D departments continue to proceed
in technological research, strengthen project's R&D cooperation with well-
known universities and elevate the Company’s R&D level. We will continue
to promote the thousand-ton scale trial work of biomass hydrothermal
depolymerization and carbon enhancement synthesis for automotive and
aviation fuel projects to accelerate the Company’s progress in the high-
value ethanol industry. This will provide the Company with technical
reserves to respond to the national carbon peak and carbon neutrality
strategy, and participate in the competition of bioenergy and green
chemical production technology. At the same time, we strive to take the
lead in the development and application of green methanol technology
and hydrogen production equipment manufacturing in the field of
hydrogen energy in the future.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Our total revenue has decreased by 64.4% from approximately
RMB117.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB41.83 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Due to the aforementioned market environment and other factors, the
number of newly signed contracts in the Reporting Year has significantly
decreased, resulting in a decrease in the number of contracts that can
be performed and hence a significant decline in operating income for the
Reporting Year.

Our net loss increased by 150.5% from a loss of approximately RMB50.53
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 and turned into a loss of
approximately RMB126.59 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
mainly due to the decline in turnover, shrinking of gross profit margin and
decrease in gross profit by 133.7% year on year.

—E=EER
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8 China New Energy Limited

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the development and innovation of new technologies
have brought about new opportunities to the global economy. However,
climate change and environmental issues will be two main obstacles to
global economic growth. With the continuous improvement in people’s
awareness of environmental protection, governments and enterprises
around the world have begun to increase investment in environmental
protection, promoting the development of green economies. The green
economy plays an increasingly important role in future economic growth.
The National Development and Reform Department has released the
“14th Five Year Plan” for the development of bioeconomy, providing new
opportunities for the development of green and low-carbon technologies
such as new biomass energy and biochemical engineering. Our
Company has always been focusing on researching energy conservation
and emission reduction, updating technology and equipment, and
providing respective upgrades for the industries in which we operate. Our
Company has also strengthened research and development in the fields
of clean energy and new energy, such as hydrogen energy technology
development and equipment manufacturing, in the hope of increasing
opportunities for future business expansion and gaining business
momentum for sustainable development of the enterprise.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my appreciation to the
valued shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”), supportive
business partners and associates, insightful management team and
dedicated staff for all their contributions and commitments to the
Company. In addition, | would also like to thank the Board for their
valuable advice in steering the Group.

Yu Weijun
Chairman and Executive Director

28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is a leading ethanol system producer in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”). We primarily provide integrated
services including engineering design, equipment manufacturing,
installation and commissioning, and subsequent maintenance for the core
system of ethanol production system in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries in the PRC. The Company has been qualified as
a National High-Tech Enterprise equipped with a provincial standard
technology centre. We have cooperated with Guangzhou Institute of
Energy Conversion, Chinese Academy of Sciences and various well-
known universities, and have undertaken many national research projects
with over 40 patented technologies researched and developed by the
Company. These proprietary intellectual properties enable us to provide
production processes and technologies for alcohol, ethanol fuel and
similar chemicals for customers at large. The pressure vessel equipment
designed and constructed by the Company is both CE and ASME certified.

The Company is well-equipped to undertake a full range of services from
engineering design, large-scale equipment manufacturing to integration,
installation and commissioning, maintenance for alcohol, ethanol fuel,
biobutanol, xanthan gum concentration and similar production systems.
We provide customers with complete customised solutions for project
construction, relocation, upgrading, transformation and installation of
systems through bidding, invitation to bid and quotation. According to our
business process and operation system, we have established a business
model led by marketing service and followed by technical research
and development (“R&D") centre support, centralised procurement,
collaborative production, distribution and on-site production, equipment
system integration, installation and commissioning, where each step
is assigned with technical engineer service. We have thus created
a comprehensive system of design, construction, installation and
commissioning and turnkey project to sincerely serve our customers.

—E=EER
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China New Energy Limited

In 2023, although the COVID-19 epidemic was over, the global economy
recovered slowly. Great changes have taken place in the market where
the Company is located, and major changes have taken place in the
market demand and the mode of consumption. The production capacity
of domestic fuel ethanol and edible alcohol industries has expanded for a
few years and has shown a saturated state with little fluctuation. The total
production capacity in 2023 was about 13.68 million tons, an increase of
about 80,000 tons compared to 2022, with a growth rate of only 0.6%.
The economic recovery and development of various industries in China
were uneven. The rise in the prices of upstream bulk commaodities and
raw materials has trimmed the profit of the fuel ethanol industry, thus
causing the fuel ethanol industry to face the dilemma of low investment
in fixed assets. The intensification of competition within the same industry
has increased market uncertainty. Internationally, due to the cumulative
influence of geopolitical factors, potential projects in Africa, Southeast
Asia, and other foreign countries that we have been communicating with
in recent years have made slow progress. The above internal and external
factors have to some extent affected the development of the industry and
the Company’s business.

In response to the complicated and unfavorable internal and external
business environment, under the leadership of the Board, the
management team of the Company has tried every means to overcome
difficulties and control the decline of the Company’s business performance
by focusing on the annual business objectives and tasks.

The main business activities of the Group in the Reporting Year were as
follows:

1) The status of the Company’s marketing activities and contracts

During 2023, the Group has signed sales contracts with a total
value of approximately RMB68.58 million. When compared with
the Group’s total contract value of approximately RMB123.00
million for 2022, the contract sum had decreased by RMB54.42
million or approximately 44.2%. Market and economic conditions
in 2022 and 2023 were considerably unfavorable to the Group
and the substantial decrease in the value of new contracts has
affected the operating income of the Reporting Year.

During the Reporting Year, the Company recorded a total revenue
of RMB41.83 million, representing a decrease of RMB75.52
million or approximately 64.4% when compared to approximately
RMB117.35 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
significant drop in the number of new contracts secured not only
impacted the revenue for 2023 but also might affect that for 2024.
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The status of the Company’s projects under construction for the
year

During the Reporting Year, Engineering, Procurement and
Construction (“EPC”) projects in fuel ethanol and edible alcohol
industries still represented the major types of businesses for the
Company, with mainly facility upgrades rather than new built.

During the Reporting Year, 27 new construction or technical
renovation contracts were signed for the amount of RMB52.69
million, accounting for 76.8% of the total contract amount; 8
technical service contracts for the amount of RMB10.15 million,
accounting for 14.8% of the total contract amount; 27 equipment
purchase and sales contracts for the amount of RMB5.74 million,
accounting for 8.4% of the total contract amount.

The status of the Company’s technology R&D

During the Reporting Year, the Company continued to increase
R&D investment and adhered to the innovation-oriented business
philosophy. It helped maintain the Company’'s competitiveness
in ethanol production technology and create a sound technical
foundation for the Company’s market development.

During the Reporting Year, the Company invested RMB6.51
million in R&D and applied for 1 new patent in order to enhance
its capacity for patent development and intellectual property
rights, so as to further strengthen the Company’s core technology
competitiveness in the industry.

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in research on
multiple alcohol and fuel ethanol production facilities and their
process methods. In 2023, the Company continued to promote
key R&D projects. The Company participated in the R&D of the
Key Project of the Ministry of Science and Technology of China,
which focused on the targeted depolymerization and efficiency
enhancement pre-treatment technology for multi-biomass alcohol
raw materials (RD0OB8). In 2024, we will carry out the design
work of the experimental device to obtain important technical
data and equipment manufacturing experience, which will lay
the foundation for our development towards cellulose ethanol.
In order to accelerate the Company’s progress in the high-value
ethanol industry, we will continue to promote the thousand-ton
scale test work of the “Biomass Hydrothermal Polycarbonization
Synthesis for Automotive and Aviation Fuel” (RD064) project.
This will provide the Company with technical reserves to cope
with the national carbon peak and carbon neutrality strategy, and
participate in the competition of bioenergy and green chemical
production technology.

—E=EER
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China New Energy Limited

FUTURE PROSPECTS

(1)

(2)

Business development strategy

In the next few years, with the world’s attention and commitment
to carbon emission reduction and carbon neutrality and China’s
dual carbon goals, application and development of new energy
production technologies will enter into a new era. The Company
will seize this historic opportunity and actively develop new
technologies and new business given its leading position in the
industry.

The Company aims to maintain technical advantages in the
fuel ethanol market. Through our R&D efforts in the cutting
edge 1.5th and 2nd generation cellulose ethanol production
technologies, hydrogen energy production technology, as well
as high-carbon ethanol production technology through ethanol
intensive processing and related equipment manufacturing, we
will be able to increase project income from cellulose ethanol,
hydrogen energy industry and high-carbon ethanol equipment
manufacturing in the future.

Looking forward, the Company will further strengthen the building
of our marketing team, continuously improve the depth and
breadth of sales network, maintain good relationships with the
existing customers and actively acquire new customers. The
Company will also proactively explore investment opportunities
in related industries and increase production equipment
manufacturing and technical service income from other chemicals
in order to expand the current revenue portfolio.

Strengthening technology R&D

The Company believes that independent innovation is essential for
its sustainable development. Since its establishment, the Company
has committed substantial resources to R&D for new technologies
and processes for energy-saving and environmentally friendly
new energy production. As at the end of the Reporting Year, the
Company and its subsidiaries have registered a total of 40 valid
patents, including 25 invention patents. Relying on its leading
position in the clean energy technology industry, the Company will
continue to increase investment in technology R&D. We conduct
effective exchanges and cooperation with customers, universities
and research institutes so as to create an organic combination of
production, learning and research. Our R&D activities will focus on
fuel ethanol technology, super grade alcohol, hydrogen production,
green bio-based chemicals and equipment manufacturing
technology and related chemical production processes. So long as
our technology is ahead of the curve, the self-owned intellectual
property will eventually convert into income from businesses of the
Group.



FA#5[cl BR
E2

RBEFE > AR BREXERKAARE
41 83EETT (20225 : AR#E117358870) » kb
B ZE2022F 12831 H IEFE T %64.4%; BIRA
NEVEE AEHEIBARK126 598 & 7T (2022
F BB ARK053EET) © LEEIE20226F12
HA31H IEFEEHEIN150.5% o AR L T E B R
ERNEHN LR EFEE -AREEFSER 8B
TENBEAKESE VIR REFENGRE
BB D #944.3%

HEMA

HE N AREE2022F12831H IEFERHIA
Ri#&102.1788 TR/ O AR EES5.22B & 7T
BAOREREFEMNIARIEICIBERTT  ZR
DEERTREFEWAARERN IS

EMKREFE

REENENREE2022F12831HIEEER
BN AREIS1I9A BTN ARK2031H
BARIBI%EREFENHFEOAREKS12
BEiT o AEENERRENEREE20226F12
B3R LEEEMNI20% B IOEREEEN
#9-12.2% o EF R/ EZ BN A D ITEB A
EHESEEE S

KEERHE R EHERREE2022612831
HIEFENNAREIIBEETHVHARE
062H B TTE66%EREFENIARKES 768
Bro ThEEHR IEEB 4R

BEIRE w2
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Year, the Company realized a total operating revenue
of RMB41.83 million (2022: RMB117.35 million), a decrease of 64.4%
over the year ended 31 December 2022, and a loss attributable to owners
of the Company of RMB126.59 million (2022: loss RMB50.53 million),
which increased by 150.5% compared to the year ended 31 December
2022. The decrease of revenue was mainly due to lesser contracts
secured than the previous year. The total contracted amount shrank by
about 44.3% in the Reporting Year as the capital investment in the ethanol
industry became less active due to the economic downturn.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased by approximately RMB55.22 million, or 54.0%,
from approximately RMB102.17 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately RMB46.95 million for the Reporting Year. Such
decrease was mainly driven by the corresponding decrease in revenue of
the Reporting Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately RMB20.31 million,
or 133.7%, from approximately RMB15.19 million profit for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB5.12 million loss for
the Reporting Year. The Group’s overall gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 12.9% for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately -12.2% for the Reporting Year. The decrease in gross profit
margin was mainly due to the change in the actual cost of some projects.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses decreased by approximately
RMBOQ.62 million, or 6.6%, from approximately RMB9.38 miillion for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB8&.76 million for the
Reporting Year, mainly due to the reduction of projects.
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Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased by approximately RMB2.32
million, or 11.9%, from approximately RMB19.48 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB17.16 million for the
Reporting Year. Such fluctuation was mainly attributable to the decrease in
legal and professional fees.

Net impairment losses under expected credit loss model

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group have engaged an
independent valuer to evaluate the expected credit loss of the trade
and other receivables and contract assets. Based on current economic
conditions, historical collection experience and outlook, the Group was
required to make a further impairment loss on the trade and other
receivables and contract assets amounting to approximately RMB76.03
million for the Reporting Year which increased approximately RMB35.23
million, or 86.3% compared to RMB40.80 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Group has strengthened its collection policies and
holds ongoing discussions with the customers about collection and billings
and will even take legal action if necessary.

Other income and other (losses)/gains — net

The other income and other (losses)/gains — net increased by
approximately RMB1.90 million from approximately RMBO0.59 million loss
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB2.49 million
loss for the Reporting Year, mainly attributable to the decrease of subsidy
income and the increase of bad debts written off for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Finance costs — net

The Group’s finance costs — net increased by approximately RMBO.16
million from approximately RMB1.67 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB1.83 million for the Reporting Year.
The finance costs mainly represented interests on bank borrowings.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, for the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB126.59
million as compared to a loss of approximately RMB50.53 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing an increase of
approximately RMB76.06 million or 150.5%, mainly due to the decrease
in revenue and gross profit.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, there were a total of 589,758,898 shares
in issue. There was no change in the number of issued shares of
the Company during the Reporting Year. The Group’s operation and
investments were financed principally by cash generated from its business
operations and equity contribution from the Shareholders. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
RMB10.84 million (2022: net current assets of approximately RMB143.13
million) and bank deposits, balances and cash of approximately RMB5.17
million (2022: approximately RMB1.88 million). As at 31 December
2023, the Group’s total equity attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB69.41 million (2022: approximately
RMB196.44 million), and the Group's total debt comprising lease liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB257.64 million (2022: approximately
RMB287.40 million). The Directors have confirmed that the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due
in the foreseeable future. The Group expresses its gearing ratio as a
percentage of total debts divided by total equity. The Group’s gearing ratio
was approximately 3.75 (as at 31 December 2022: approximately 1.47).

BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings were
approximately RMB26.99 million (31 December 2022: RMB28.48
million), of which RMB19.96 million will be repayable within 1 year. Such
loans were all denominated in RMB. The weighted average effective
interest rates as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were 3.72% and 4.83%
respectively. There is no seasonal requirement for borrowings. As at 31
December 2023, certain bill receivables and the right-of-use land and
buildings of the Company’s subsidiaries have been pledged to the bank as
security for banking facilities granted to the Group. The pledged land and
properties will be released upon the settlement of relevant loans.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the Group’s operations in China, the major revenues and expenses
are denominated in RMB. Since there are certain monetary assets and
monetary liabilities that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the Group
would be exposed to foreign exchange risk. The Group currently does
not have any foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
of the Company monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 31 August 2023, Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science
and Technology Co., Ltd.* (BRAEKXTHEEREIEBRAR)
(“Zhongke Tianyuan”), a company established under the laws of the
PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
subscription agreement (“Subscription Agreement”) with (i) Mr. Lin
Yongmin (“Mr. Lin") and (i) Heilongjiang Zhongke Green Biotechnology
Co., Ltd.* (BEEIHEMEMEM R BRAFE]) (“Zhongke Green”),
a company established under the laws of the PRC with its entire equity
interest held by Mr. Lin and Ms. Xia Xiaohong as to approximately
99% and 1%, pursuant to which, among others, each of Mr. Lin and
Zhongke Tianyuan shall subscribe 25.38% and 40.77% of the entire
equity interest of Zhongke Green immediately prior to the Subscription
Agreement (“Subscriptions”) by injecting RMB43,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$46,974,000) and RMB53,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$57,898,000) respectively. In addition, Mr. Lin shall
purchase the entire equity interest held by an existing equity interest
holder, Ms. Xia Xiaohong in Zhongke Green, amounting to 1% of the
entire equity interest in Zhongke Green. Immediately following the
Subscriptions and the said acquisition, Zhongke Tianyuan and Mr. Lin
shall hold approximately 24.54% and 75.46% of the entire equity interest
of Zhongke Green.

Prior to the Subscriptions and the acquisition of 1% of the entire equity
interest in Zhongke Green by Mr. Lin, Mr. Lin and Ms. Xia Xiachong
held approximately 99% and 1% of the entire equity interest in Zhongke
Green.

The subscription price for Mr. Lin and Zhongke Tianyuan for 25.38% and
40.77% of the entire equity interest of Zhongke Green immediately prior
to the Subscriptions was RMB43,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$46,974,000) and RMB53,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$57,898,000) respectively. The subscription price pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement was determined after arm’s length negotiation
between Zhongke Green and Zhongke Tianyuan.

* For identification purpose only
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Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Zhongke Tianyuan shall settle
the subscription price of RMB53,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$57,898,000) to Zhongke Green by offsetting the account receivable
due from Zhongke Green as a result of a construction project previously
engaged by Zhongke Green, and the settlement of the subscription price
has been completed upon completion of the subscription of equity interest
by Zhongke Tianyuan for 40.77% of the entire equity interest of Zhongke
Green immediately prior to the Subscriptions pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement (“Transaction”).

Zhongke Tianyuan and Mr. Lin have completed the Subscriptions
immediately following the entering into of the Subscription Agreement.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having
made all reasonable enquiries, each of Mr. Lin and Zhongke Green is a
third party independent of the Company and its connected persons.

The main business of Zhongke Green is engaged in the production and
sales of edible alcohol and high protein feed, located in the corn raw
material production area of the Northeast plain of the PRC, with a superior
geographical location.

Following the Transaction, Zhongke Green shall become an associate of
the Company. The Company believes that the Transaction is in line with
the long-term development goals and business development strategy of
the Group. The investment of Zhongke Green can bring potential profit
growth for the Group, which is in line with the overall interests of the
Company and the Shareholders.

For more details about the Transaction, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 26 November 2023 and 22 March 2024.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Reporting Year, the
Group did not have other significant investments, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, neither the Group
did have other plans for material investments or acquisition of capital
assets as at 31 December 2023.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's financing and treasury activities are centrally managed and
controlled at the corporate level. Bank borrowings of the Group are all
denominated in RMB and have been arranged on installment repayment
basis. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into derivative transactions for
speculative purposes.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material capital
commitments (2022: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information for the Group is disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 85 employees (2022: 94
employees). The decrease in the number of employees was mainly
attributable to the staff turnover in the project management and support
department in the PRC. The Group believes that on-going and continuous
development of its employees is critical to its success. The Group provides
its employees with tailored training programmes that are designed to
upgrade their skills and knowledge and to prepare them for the next step
in their career paths within the Group. The Group entered into separate
labour contracts with each of its employees in accordance with the
applicable labour laws of China. The remuneration offered to employees
generally includes salaries and bonuses. In general, the Group determines
salaries of its employees based on each employee’s qualifications, position
and performance.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

As from 31 December 2023 to the date of this annual report, no
significant events have occurred.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YU Weijun, aged 59, is an executive Director and chairman of
the Board. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Yu is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic planning and corporate development
of the Group. He is also a member of the remuneration committee, the
chairman of each of the nomination committee and the risk management
committee of the Company. Mr. Yu is a director of Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (B & &K T
HAERERE AR/AT), Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High and
New Technology Engineering Co., Lid.* (BR&BEPR K coiE
T TR B BR/AE)) and Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology Co., Ltd.*
(BENEBEHZARAR).

Mr. Yu has over 35 years of experience in the technology sector. From
June 2014 to October 2018, he was appointed as the supervisor of Tiandi
Science & Technology Co., Ltd.* CRMEHLRMHBERAT) (a listed
company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600582). From
September 2015 to December 2018, Mr. Yu was the director of Hubei Jin
Zhuang Renewable Resources of Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* G5
& HREBEEEREIRAST). From January 2016 to January 2022,
he acted as an independent non-executive director of Guangzhou Startec
Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (BEMNE2xFFERNDERAR) (a
listed company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 430429).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Jilin University
of Finance and Economics (FME 4K KZ) (previously known as Jilin
Institute of Finance and Economics* (#4848 £B5%)) in Changchun,
China. He also obtained an Executive Master of Business Administration
from Sun Yat-Sen University (also known as Zhongshan University*) (FALL
KE2) in Guangzhou, China. Mr. Yu is a member of The Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants* (FEIzE & &AM ®) and a member
of the Guangdong Institute of Certified Public Accountants* (&8 & 5=t
SR E).

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. TANG Zhaoxing, aged 54, is an executive Director and chief executive
officer of the Company. He joined the Group in August 2006. Mr. Tang is
primarily responsible for overseeing the overall operation, sales and project
design and management of the Group.

From June 2002 to August 2006, Mr. Tang was a general manager of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan Regeneration Resources Engineering
Co., ld.* (BRFPMKXTBEERIIZBRAHE). He is the director
and deputy chief executive officer of Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New
Energy Science and Technology Co. Ltd.* (BEEHRI KT A RAHY
B R/AE]) and the director of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High
and New Technology Engineering Co., Ltd.* (BB BEPR KX TEH
Rt T2 BBR/AE]) and Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology Co.,
Ltd*(EMNEER B RAT).

Mr. Tang has over 33 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sectors. Prior to joining the Group, he has held various
management and engineer positions in the sectors of operation and sales;
process and equipment installation design; process planning and design;
and technology and project management.

Mr. Tang obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from South China
University of Technology (EERET A2 in Guangdong, China and an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree from Peking University
(JEmAE) in Beijing, China.

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Antony BENNETT, aged 55, was appointed as a Director
and re-designated as an independent non-executive Director in March
2011 and July 2020 respectively. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee and
the risk management committee of the Company.

Mr. Bennett has over 30 years of experience in the technology sector.
Prior to joining the Group, he was a director and a co-founder and later
a consultant of FAI Inc. (currently known as Ziff Davis Inc.) from January
1994 to June 1999. Mr. Bennett was a director of Virtual Internet plc
(stock code: VI), the shares of which are listed on the London Stock
Exchange, from January 1999 to December 2001 and was a corporate
development director at Coms plc and later promoted as the chief
executive officer from November 2005 to January 2013. He was also a
non-executive director of MTI Wireless Edge Ltd. (stock code: MWE), the
shares of which are listed on the London Stock Exchange, from February
2013 to March 2022. He is a non-executive director and chairman of
Getech Group plc (stock code: GTC) and an independent non-executive
director of Ethernity Networks Ltd. (stock code: ENET). Both companies
are listed on the London Stock Exchange. Mr. Bennett is also a director
and chief executive officer of Sunbird Bioenergy Africa Limited and a
director of related companies that include Grey Reach Investments
Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy Management Services, Sunbird Bioenergy
Sierra Leone Limited, Sunbird Bioenergy and Zambia Limited.

Mr. CHAN Shing Fat Heron, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in July 2020. He is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of each of the audit committee and
the nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in marketing and sales
management. He has held various senior management, managing
directors, consultants and directors positions in sectors of account
management and marketing, managing sales and marketing activities,
liaison to various entities and business associations and project
partnership. Since May 2007, Mr. Chan has been the managing director
of IC Strategy Company Limited, where he has been responsible for
organising education and business related projects, and the business
development of the trading business in China and the international
market.
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China New Energy Limited

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor's degree in Public Administration and
Mathematics from the University of Saskatchewan in Canada, a master’s
degree in Business Administration from Oklahoma City University in the
United States and also a doctorate degree in Business Administration from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong.

Ms. WONG Mei Ling, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in March 2023. She is also the chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the risk management committee of the
Company.

Ms. Wong obtained a master degree of Finance of the Curtin University.
She is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 20 years of experience in accounting field. Ms. Wong was an
independent non-executive director of Global Token Limited (the shares
of which were delisted from the Growth Enterprise Market (GEM) of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 20 April 2021) from December 2016
to April 2021. She was also the chief financial officer of Sun Television
Cybernetworks Enterprise Limited from July 2011 to January 2016, and
the financial controller of Up Energy Development Group Limited (the
shares of which were delisted from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with effect from 5 January 2022) from September 2006 to July 2011.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. PAN lJinfeng, aged 52, is our general manager. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the overall management and daily operations
of the Group, including providing technical support, equipment supplies,
after-sales technical services and company operation management.

Mr. Pan joined the Group in April 2008 as the marketing director and was
responsible for the liaison, undertaking and post-construction services
of the domestic and overseas projects of the Group. He has been the
general manager of Guangdong Boluo Zhongke Tianyuan High and New
Technology Engineering Co., Limited* (ER&EZEPR KT
T T2 ABR/AT]) since February 2012, where he is responsible for
overseeing the overall management and daily operations of the company.
Mr. Pan has been the general manager of the Group since March 2022.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
technology sector. Prior to joining the Group, he has held management
positions in the sectors of technology and project management.

Mr. Pan graduated from Guangdong Science and Technology School* (&
HEREEMER). He has also obtained the national certificate of
senior winemaker.

* For identification purpose only
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China New Energy Limited

Mr. ZHOU Hongcai, aged 55, is our deputy general manager. He is mainly
responsible for overseeing the overall technical design, development and
management of engineering projects.

From April 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Zhou was a technical director at
Zhongke Regeneration. From September 2006 to August 2016, Mr. Zhou
became the technical director of Zhongke Tianyuan. Since August 2016,
Mr. Zhou has been our deputy general manager of Zhongke Tianyuan.

Mr. Zhou has over 30 years of working experience in the engineering
sector. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhou has held various positions at
Hunan Jintian Chemical Fertilizer Company Limited* G#E 4 X1EAB1E
T AT . From July 1990 to July 1992, Mr. Zhou was a teacher at
the company’s vocational school where he was responsible for delivering
lectures. From August 1992 to December 1997, Mr. Zhou was the
technical supervisor and technical factory manager of the company’s
adhesive manufacturing plant where he was involved in management
of the factory. From January 1998 to March 2003, Mr. Zhou was the
technical supervisor of the company’s technology development centre,
where he was mainly responsible for technical management.

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in chemical engineering at South

China University of Technology (ZEFIE T A%2)in Guangdong, China in
July 1990.

* For identification purpose only
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Ms. CHEN Yin, aged 45, is our finance director. She has been responsible
for overseeing the daily financial management and accounting matters of
the Group. Ms. Chen joined the Group in August 2020 and served as the
Investment Development Manager of Zhongke Tianyuan.

Ms. Chen has over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting,
with rich experience in finance and investment and financing, and strong
management and risk control abilities. Prior to joining the Group, from July
2003 to January 2007, Ms. Chen was the cost accountant and financial
manager at Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan Renewable Resources
Engineering Co., Ltd.* (BERARKTHEERTLEHFRAE) where
she was responsible for cost accounting and financial matters. From
February 2007 to September 2007, she was the Financial Manager of
Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (ERPRIRTTH SRR A RAE) where she was responsible
for supervising daily financial and accounting matters. From October
2007 to January 2012, she was the Environmental Protection Project
Manager at Guangzhou Zhongke Environmental Energy Technology
Co., Ltd.* (BEIMNARIRFERIFAR/AE) where she was responsible
for supervising the implementation and revenue and expenditure of the
company's environmental engineering projects. From February 2012 to
July 2020, she was the Chief Financial Officer of Guangzhou Guanghang
Logistics Co., Ltd.* (BN E /#0745 BR/A B]) where she was responsible
for supervising the company’s financial department and financing work.
During the period from February 2012 to July 2020, she also was the
Financial Manager of Guangdong Guoke Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (B
HERAIEEEBE/AT)and its management company Guangdong
Hongde Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (BERAELEESEHFIR
‘AE])where she was responsible for the accounting of the company’s
investment projects.

Ms. Chen obtained her Bachelor's degree in Accounting at Changsha
University of Technology* (B2 T A%)in June 2003. Ms. Chen also
obtained a Registered Risk Manager Certificate in January 2016.

Ms. XU Huijuan, aged 44 is our Board secretary/joint company secretary.
Ms. Xu joined the Group in September 2006. She is primarily responsible
for equities management and company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Xu has over 19 years of experience in finance, accounting and
company secretarial matters. Ms. Xu has held various positions in the
Group since joining us in September 2006. From September 2006
to December 2007, she was the deputy office supervisor of Zhongke
Tianyuan. Ms. Xu has been the board secretary of Zhongke Tianyuan since
May 2011. She has also been the finance manager of our Company since
January 2008 and our Board secretary since May 2011.

* For identification purpose only
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China New Energy Limited

Before joining the Group, from July 2003 to September 2006, she was
an accounting assistant and an asset management manager at Zhongke
Environment, where she was primarily responsible for accounting matters,
asset management and equities management.

Ms. Xu obtained her bachelor’s degree in Accounting at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies* (BEERSMEINE A Z2) in Guangdong, China
in June 2003. She obtained an intermediate economist qualification
issued by the Human Resources and Social Security Department of
Guangdong Province* (BEHE ANERMAEREES)in January
2011. Ms. Xu also obtained a master’s degree in Professional Accounting
from Sun Yat-sen University* (FALLAX2)in Guangdong, China in
December 2013.

Dr. OU lJingshen, aged 48 is the deputy director of our research and
development department. He is primarily responsible for overseeing
laboratory operations of the Group.

Dr. Ou joined the Group in 2007. From January 2007 to August 2007,
Dr. Ou was a researcher of Zhongke Tianyuan, where he was responsible
for the operation of laboratories and experiments. Since November 2015,
he has been our deputy director of the biofuel engineering technology
research centre of Zhongke Tianyuan, where he has been responsible
for its daily operations, developing research and development plans, and
providing technical support to other departments in Zhongke Tianyuan.

Dr. Ou has over 7 years of experience in laboratory operations. Prior
to joining the Group, from July 1999 to February 2001, Dr. Ou was an
assistant of Guangdong Huaning Group Co. Ltd.* (EREZEREREA
@), where he was responsible for the operation of laboratory tests.

Dr. Ou obtained a bachelor's degree in biopharmaceutical at South
China University of Technology (EEmI2 T A%)in Guangdong, China
in July 1999. He then obtained a master degree in engineering at South
China University of Technology GERIE T A% in Guangdong, China
in June 2006. He also obtained a doctor of science degree at South
China University of Technology (ZERFIE T AE)in Guangdong, China in
December 2014. He has published various articles such as “The Specific
SiRNA Plasmids Construction and their Inhibition Effect on Expression of
mcl-1 Protein in Liver Cancer Cell” and “Incorporation of Endoglucanase
E4 into Minicellulosomes by In-Vitro Assembly” on the Modern Food
Science and Technology and the Journal of South China University of
Technology GERFIE T A2 in 2010 and 2013, respectively.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance. The Board believes that good and effective
corporate governance practices are the key to safeguarding the interests of
the Shareholders and sustaining the success of the Group to create long-
term value for the Shareholders. The Company has applied the principles
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”).

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with all code
provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2023, except for the deviation disclosed in this report.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board takes the lead to establish, promote and continually reinforce a
positive and progressive corporate culture which is vital for the Company
to achieve its objectives towards sustainable growth and reward to
community. Our sound corporate culture reaches all levels of the Group
with the core principles of fostering management'’s accountability to ensure
highest standard of business ethics and integrity and mutual commitment
of the leadership team and the employees, and aligns with the Company’s
mission, corporate values and strategies.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirms that the Directors complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2023.
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China New Energy Limited

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised a total of five Directors,
being two executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman) and
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer); and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett, Mr. Chan Shing
Fat Heron and Ms. Wong Mei Ling. Biographical details of the Directors
are set out on pages 19 to 22 of this annual report.

The Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to having independent non-executive directors representing at
least one-third of the board under Rule 3.10A during the year ended 31
December 2023. As such, there exists a strong independent element in
the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement. The
Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

During the period from 16 December 2022 to 15 March 2023, the
Company did not meet the following requirements after the retirement of
Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam as an independent non-executive Director on 16
December 2022:

(@ at least three independent non-executive directors on the board of
directors under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules;

(b) at least one of the independent non-executive directors must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

(c) the audit committee comprising a minimum of three members
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

On 15 March 2023, Ms. Wong Mei Ling was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Risk Management Committee of the Company. Following
the appointment of Ms. Wong, the Company fully complied with the above
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for overseeing and approving the Group’s overall
business plans and strategies and monitoring the implementation of such
business plans, strategies and policies, and the leadership and control of
the Company.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices for the
year under review and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate
governance practices, including the adequacy of the Group’s resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
relating to its environmental, social and governance performance and
reporting.

The executive Directors are primarily responsible for overall management
of the Group, while the senior management including the finance director
and the general manager are delegated the responsibilities of managing
the day-to-day businesses and operations and executing the business
decisions of the Group.

The roles of the independent non-executive Directors are to oversee the
Board independently to ensure that there is no potential conflict of interest,
to provide independent advice to the Board, and to ensure that the
Board has taken into consideration the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole and the advice of the senior management team
of the Group when making decisions.

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. This is achieved by giving Directors
access to external independent professional advice from legal advisers
and auditors, as well as their declaration of independence according to the
Listing Rules during the year. The Board reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis and
is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism.
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China New Energy Limited

Board Process

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. The
Directors may participate in meetings either in person or through
electronic means of communication. According to the current Board
practice, if a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting rather
than by a written resolution. The articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”) also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided
therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted in
the quorum at meetings for approving any transaction, contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) has a material interest.

Board and committee minutes are recorded in appropriate detail and
draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and committee members for
comments before being approved.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, four regular Board meetings
were held and attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is
set out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Meetings” of this
report.

Code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code stipulates that notice of at least 14
days should be given of a regular board meeting to give all directors an
opportunity to attend. During the year ended 31 December 2023, two
regular Board meetings were convened with less than 14 days’ notice to
enable the Directors to react timely and make expeditious decisions in
respect of internal affairs of the Group. As a result, the aforesaid regular
Board meetings were held with a shorter notice period than required
with no objection by the Directors. The Board will endeavour to meet the
requirement of this code provision in future.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, a formal meeting was arranged
between the Chairman of the Board and the independent non-executive
Directors without the other Directors’ presence. The independent non-
executive Directors may communicate and discuss with the Chairman
directly at any time to share their views on the Company’s affairs. The
Company considers that there are sufficient channels and communication
for discussion of the Company’s affairs between the Chairman and
independent non-executive Directors in the absence of other Directors.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Yu Weijun is the Chairman
of the Board and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for overseeing the functions of
the Board and providing leadership for the Board to ensure that the Board
works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key and
appropriate issues are discussed at the Board level in a timely manner.
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for overseeing the overall
management, operation and businesses of the Group.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each independent non-executive Director. The Company has assessed
their independence and concluded that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the relevant guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Group has an internal policy in place to give each newly appointed
Director a formal and tailored induction after his/her appointment so as
to ensure that he/she has a clear understanding of the Group’s business
and operations and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. The
Company provides regular updates on the business performance of the
Group to the Directors. The Directors are continuously updated on the
latest development about the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory
requirements to ensure compliance and maintenance of good corporate
governance practices.

—E=EER
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The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Directors participated in continuous professional development
by way of attending training and/or seminars organised by professional
organisations and director training webcasts organised by the Stock
Exchange and also reading materials relating to new practices, rules
and regulations to keep themselves updated on the roles, functions,
knowledge, skills and duties of a listed company director.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings
received by the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as
follows:

A Hha g R

Training/Seminars/

E=H4 Name of Directors Reading materials
BiTES Executive Directors

REERzSE Mr. Yu Weijun v
]S Mr. Tang Zhaoxing v
BIEMITES Independent Non-executive Directors

Richard Antony Bennettfc 4= Mr. Richard Antony Bennett v
PRE%EE S g Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron v
BERZT Ms. Wong Mei Ling v

EEREEEZES Appointment and Re-election of Directors
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Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All Directors have been appointed for a specific term. Each of the
executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years until terminated by either party by
giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors was appointed to the Board pursuant
to his/her respective letters of appointment for a term of three years until
terminated by either party by giving to the other not less than one month’s
prior notice.



RBAER (BT EE S SR LURRERR =AY
ERMIBESENA LT EHREEHES IR
NAERAFTEERRBAFAE (RREAFAE))
b WHBERREAS LEEEE - ARITRE
E > HER—RIEU EEE Q) L REZENER
ZEB/RGABEIUL ;(0) EREZEHEHN
HERFZEBRERRBAERE ; WONKEH
RIERARABIFPITES FEEFAESEE
) ERBOFLU L MR SR REBEST AR
RELREREAK-BE NEERRAEKR
gL RARBEREN=DZ—EFRRIE TAH
BRINZARG LEEE T

RERAMAZREEENER TN EKATE
AR o

GE M ELE
TXHIEREENEHE2023F12H31HIEEE
BONEFT S EELECTTRRKRERE
KERIHEEF

ERERRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

According to the Articles, any person appointed by the Board either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company after
his appointment and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting.
The Articles also provide that if any one or more Directors (a) were last
appointed or re-appointed 3 years or more prior to the meeting; (b) were
last appointed or re-appointed at the third immediately preceding AGM;
or (c) at the time of the meeting will have served more than 9 years as a
non-executive Director (excluding as the chairman of the Board), he or
they shall retire from office and shall be counted in obtaining the number
required to retire at the meeting. Moreover, at each AGM, one third of the
Directors who are subject to retirement by rotation shall retire from office
and shall be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available on the website of the Company.

Attendance Records of Meetings
Set out below are details of the attendance records of each Director at the

Board meetings, Board Committees meetings and AGM held during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

HERY, SEREERY
Attendance/Eligible to attend
B bz oM REBEE R
EX88% ZE993 ZEC9E ZE99d %Z89%E RBEAEg
Risk
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management Annual
Board Committee  Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee General
LD Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HiTES Executive Directors
REERE ZR) Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairmar) 4/4 - 202 202 n n
BB (FTEAEH) Mr. Tang Zhaoxing 4/4 - - - - 1
(Chief Executive Officer)
BIERITESR Independent Non-executive
Directors
Richard Antony Bennettfc 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 4/4 212 212 212 11 11
BREETE Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 404 212 212 212 - 171
BEB UL (1) Ms. Wong Mei Ling (Note) 22 22 = = 171 171
Hist: EEBR Y TESEARASBIIIERNTES =X Note: Ms. Wong Mei Ling was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the

ZERTFEREAREEZEGME 202353715
HieER -

chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk Management Committee
of the Company with effect from 15 March 2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee
(collectively, the “Board Committees”) on 16 June 2020. All the Board
Committees perform their distinct roles and functions in accordance with
their respective terms of reference which are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board Committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon
reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The attendance of each member of the Board Committees during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out in the section headed “Attendance
Records of Meetings” of this report.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are (among others) to review
and supervise the financial reporting process of the Group, review the
effectiveness of internal audit function, and oversee the audit process and
the audits of the financial statements of the Group. Meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

Following the appointment of Ms. Wong Mei Ling as an independent non-
executive Director on 15 March 2023, as at 31 December 2023, the Audit
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Wong Mei Ling, Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan Shing
Fat Heron. Ms. Wong Mei Ling is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth experience in
their own profession. At least one of the committee members possesses
appropriate professional qualifications in finance and accounting and
meets the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to (i) review the audited annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and the unaudited financial statements for the
six months ended 30 June 2023 with recommendation to the Board for
approval, (ii) review the internal control systems of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, (iii) review the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budgets of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, and (iv) propose re-
appointment of auditor with recommendation to the Board for approval.
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (among others)
to make recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board, review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors. Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be held at least
once a year.

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprised the
Chairman of the Board, Mr. Yu Weijun, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Mr. Chan
Shing Fat Heron. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance its effectiveness. The
Board Diversity Policy provides that the Company should endeavour to
ensure that the Board members have the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to support the
execution of the Group’s business strategy. Pursuant to the policy, the
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of
a number of factors, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural background, education, ethnicity,
length of service, personal integrity and time commitments of the
proposed candidates. The Board Diversity Policy also provides that the
ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board which will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and
confirmed that the Board has an appropriate mix of skills and experience
to deliver the Company’s strategy.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised one female Director
(independent non-executive Director) and four male Directors (comprising
two executive Directors and two independent non-executive Directors),
representing one over five of the Board’s composition. The Board targets
to maintain at least the current level of female representation, with no
immediate numerical targets as to the female Directors on the Board.
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As at 31 December 2023, around 20% of the Group's workforce was
female, and around 40% of the Group’s senior management was female.
The table below summarizes the share of women at different position
levels across the Group as at 31 December 2023.

B
Level
EE RHREER ECSE =]
Senior
171 Gender Director  Management Manager Employee
Bt Male 4 3 7 54
pegi3 Female 2 5 9
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Note: The above data is calculated based on the number of total employees of the Group as

of 31 December 2023.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity and inclusivity
within our organization in the long run. The Board will continue to explore
opportunities to increase the proportion of female Board members and
female staff across the Group’s workforce over time as and when suitable
candidates are identified.

The Board has also adopted a policy on Directors’ nomination (the
“Nomination Policy”). The purpose of the Nomination Policy is to set out
the procedures for nominating candidates for Directors, the procedures
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee in selecting and
recommending candidates for Directors, and the follow-up procedures
for considering and approving, as appropriate, nominations made by the
Board and, where applicable, Shareholders. The nominating procedures
are as follows:

a. To assess the qualifications, skills, knowledge, ability and
experience of candidates, and the time and attention that may
be spent in performing the duties of Directors with reference to
the relevant business activities and objectives of the Company, as
well as the contributions that candidates may bring to the Board
(including qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity):

b. To assess the personal ethics, integrity and reputation of the
candidates (including, but not limited to, conducting appropriate
background checks and other verification procedures on the
candidates):
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C. With reference to the Board Diversity Policy, to consider the
structure, size and composition of the Board at that time (including
but not limited to skills, knowledge, balance of experience and
diverse perspectives that is in line with the Company’s business
requirements) and the Company’s corporate strategies, and take
into account the benefits of the diversification of Board members
and the contribution that candidates may bring to the Board;

d. To consider the factors of Board succession planning and the
long-term needs of the Company;

e. In the case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
Director, to assess the independence of the candidate by
reference to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules; and

f. To consider any other factors and matters that the Nomination
Committee may consider appropriate.

The Board shall consider the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee and make a decision on whether the nominated candidate is
eligible for appointment as a Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings to (i) assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, (i) review the structure, size and composition of
the Board, (iii) review the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy, and (iv) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of the new independent non-executive Director and the re-
election of the retiring Directors at the 2023 AGM.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are (among others)
to review, determine and make recommendations to the Board on
the policy and structure or the remuneration payable to the Directors
and senior management, and making recommendations on employee
benefit arrangements. The Remuneration Committee has adopted
the model under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. Meetings of the
Remuneration Committee shall be held at least once a year.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprised one
executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron and Mr. Richard
Antony Bennett. Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings to (i) review and make recommendation to the Board
on the proposed remuneration of the new Director appointed during the
year, and (ii) review and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Group for the
year 2023.

Remuneration of the Directors and Senior Management by Band
Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual

remuneration of the senior management (including all executive Directors)
by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

AE
) Az Remuneration band Number of individuals
AR ¥0ZE AR 11,000,000 RMBO to RMB1,000,000 10
AE#§1,000,0017cE A E#2,000,0007T RMB1,000,001 to RMB2,000,000 0
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Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Risk Management Committee

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are (among
others) to monitor the Group’s exposure to sanction risks and to oversee
the implementation of the related internal control procedures. Meetings of
the Risk Management Committee shall be held at least twice a year.

As at 31 December 2023, the Risk Management Committee comprised
one executive Director, namely Mr. Yu Weijun and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and Ms.
Wong Mei Ling. Mr. Yu Weijun is the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Management
Committee held one meeting to (i) review the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management system of the Group; and (ii) recommend
corporate governance improvement to the Company.
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Going forward, the Risk Management Committee will hold meetings at
least twice a year to comply with its terms of reference.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total fees paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, KTC Partners CPA
Limited, for services rendered in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out below:

2023
ARETT
2023
RMB’000

B

%%&ﬁﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ%mﬁ
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Audit services 1,086

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for presenting a clear,
balanced assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects and
preparing the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group on a going-concern basis.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB126,723,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at 31 December 2023, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB10,837,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Save for disclosed above, for the purpose
of the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In the light of the measures disclosed in note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 taken by
the major shareholders and management of the Company to improve
the working capital and liquidity and cash flow position of the Group
together with the expected results of these measures, the Directors
are of the view that the Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirements and it is reasonable to expect the Group to remain a
commercially viable concern. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 90 to 92 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and ensuring effective
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing their
effectiveness to safeguard the Shareholders’ interest and the Company’s
assets. However, these systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate risk of failure in business operations, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Group has implemented an effective internal control system
which includes a defined management structure with clear lines of
responsibility, limits of authority, proper procedures for income and
expenditure, monthly review by the executive Directors of management
reports on operations and financials, regular business meetings between
executive Directors and the core management team and periodic review of
the Group’s financial results by the Board.

The Audit Committee reviews regularly the effectiveness and adequacy of
the Group’s internal control system which includes financial, operational
and compliance mechanisms and risk management functions in order
to identify, evaluate and manage risks and take appropriate measures
to avoid or mitigate those risks that could adversely impact the Group’s
business activities. The review also covers the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's accounting and
financial reporting function. The review process consists of, amongst
other matters, assessment and implementation of material control issues
identified by an independent external auditor during the statutory audit.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system (including risk management functions)
under code provision D.2.1 of the CG Code. The Company has engaged
an independent internal control consultancy firm in February 2024 to
carry out several review procedures (“Internal Control Review”) on
the Group’s main procedures, systems, and monitoring measures. The
Internal Control Review which covered the period from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 served to assist the Board in evaluating whether the
Group can provide reasonable benchmarks and has established sufficient
procedures, policies and monitoring measures, to enable the Directors to
make appropriate assessments of the financial condition and prospects of
the Group.

In the year under review, no material issues in the Group's internal control
system were identified in the review areas and the findings of the review
were reported to the Audit Committee. The independent internal control
consultancy firm also performed a follow-up review of the remedial
actions undertaken by the management of the Group on the control risks
identified during the Internal Control Review. The Board considered that
the risk management and internal control systems were adequate and
effective.



EEREGASHENERFR
Rk

FEBRDERBEST R ERA R LHRR
FREEEITZEE BRRRIZNIRAEHE
AR PTRE RIS Aff o

EFgEMEEREMABHERER (RREH
BER) ET#HAERTEERSRASRESH
FRIZRE REBBUR AR H B RME—AREESIHY
T2 R A BBER] - I RERAEBE N HE R
REERERER A ARE M-

TXRRNEHEHR T TERHE

(i) EFMEEREBRKENRHEZRE
RE > WM AERFELURFRIIAEANR
HERE

(i) EFERTENRNEETE LR
NMEARKERE BEELAREE
BINBERKREREAREMAS RO
PR LA E VAR ; &

(i) AEEEFEREEHAARTIENRHEE
K> MSEBEARATES

AEETEEEREEREEMNEESNE
2 B SEER-

EXEELAHS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced as soon as reasonably practicable when
it is the subject of a decision.

The Board has implemented a policy on handling and dissemination
of inside information (“Inside Information Policy”) which sets out
the procedures and internal controls for guiding the Group's officers
and employees how to handle confidential and price-sensitive inside
information. It ensures that inside information of the Group can be
disseminated to the public promptly in accordance with the applicable
laws and regulations.

Below is a summary of the key provisions of the Inside Information Policy:

(i) Directors and employees must follow the reporting channels for
disclosing the inside information and take reasonable care to
safeguard the confidentiality of all inside information;

(ii) The Directors are empowered to take appropriate actions to ensure
compliance with the disclosure requirements including issuing
announcements and making a request to the Stock Exchange for
a trading halt in case the Company is facing an unexpected and
significant event; and

(iii) Directors and employees of the Group must not deal in the
Company'’s securities when they are in possession of unpublished
inside information.

The Group also keeps Directors and employees informed of the latest
regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside information.

—E=EER
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

To promote effective communication with the Shareholders and to
enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”). The Board communicates with
the Shareholders and investors through various channels. The Board
members meet and communicate with Shareholders and investors
at annual general meetings and other general meetings where the
Shareholders can obtain a better understanding of the business and
operating performance of the Group. Corporate communications (such as
interim and annual reports, notices, circulars and announcements) are
sent to Shareholders in a timely manner and are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy including steps taken at the general
meetings, the handling of queries received (if any) and the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, and considered
that the policy has been properly implemented during the year and
remains effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the issuer should have
a policy on payment of dividends and should disclose it in the annual
report.

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
June 2020 which sets out the guidelines to distribute dividends to its
Shareholders. Under the Dividend Policy, the Shareholders are entitled to
receive dividends that the Company declares. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Board and may require the approval
of the Shareholders, and the Company may change the Dividend Policy
in the future. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to
distribute dividends of such amounts or any amounts every year or any
year in the future.

The Board may recommend a payment of dividends in the future
after taking into account the Group’s operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial conditions, contractual
restrictions, capital expenditures and other factors which the Board may
deem relevant at such time.
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Any declaration of payment of dividends as well as the amount of
the dividends will be subject to the constitutional documents and the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991, including the approval of the Shareholders,
if required.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Xu Huijuan, a joint company secretary and the Board secretary, is
primarily responsible for equities management and company secretarial
matters of the Group.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
has also engaged Mr. Chan Kwong Leung Eric, the director of Gladson
Secretaries Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as a joint
company secretary to assist Ms. Xu to discharge her duties. His primary
contact persons at the Company are Mr. Yu Weijun, an executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board, and Ms. Xu Huijuan.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. Xu Huijuan and Mr. Chan
Kwong Leung Eric have undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 9.3 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
(“EGM”) shall be convened on the requisition of one or more members of
the Company (including a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s)))
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings, on a one vote per share basis in the share capital of the
Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
joint company secretary at the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, which is presently situated at Unit 2406, 24/F., Strand 50,
50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, for the purpose of requiring
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
clearly specified in such requisition with reasons therefor and signed by
the requisitionist(s).
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China New Energy Limited

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such
meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries to the Company for
the attention of the joint company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at Shareholders’ Meeting

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting under the Articles or the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991.
If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an EGM as
described above and specify the proposals in such written requisition.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

On 27 June 2023, the Shareholders approved at the 2023 AGM the
proposed amendments (the “Amendments”) to the Memorandum
and Articles by way of adoption of the new Memorandum and Articles
in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing Memorandum
and Articles in order to (i) conform to the core shareholder protection
standards; (ii) bring the Memorandum and Articles in line with
amendments made to the Listing Rules and the applicable law and
procedures in Jersey; and (iii) incorporate certain housekeeping changes.
Details of the Amendments were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 2 June 2023. The latest amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

By order of the Board

Yu Weijun

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024



R HERELRS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B A S

A\ 47
JI g

(RE~tEREARS) (IR Hat
T China New Energy Limited ((A28))) &
HIB AT #ifE (RER)) TIRE 1
gkEgh (RIE-HERER) BEEAZ
B sTERRID R REREEFE A
HEERR - HFNERZAIFES-
RRETIIRBEEBHEXAZFIERAT
(TEk3ZFR)) ERAIMER —+E s>
(RIE~HtERERHRSEES) (RE-
HERERRSIEI ) GE-TIHEEZ
B BRI T AEE2023F1H81H
F2023F 128310 (T#RE5HARM) 3¢ 2023
ME) FRERENCEEE A EZE
o AREBTIRR - HERE RS
SIRE M TRETMEERE SO T E
ERBIRRRBENIEE (FRREXE
) o ANEERTEHREMEERS  WHE
REA]HARER > UREIRESEMINE
HYBRAE o

RIE-HERERRE

HEAMEMEEREENRE HER
EREEEN HMERIIBMR A
BEREOER HES (EH)NES
g (EFg) REARSMAEINFIAT
AR EBATERTLIFEFRET -EF
SHEBRRRE HERELGRSBET
EHRE IR B R R > R NSRIRIR
HEkBERTEREET(E REN
BEEEE REAEE SRR A/
ENREN @

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Introduction

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”)
outlines the measures, plans and performance of China New
Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, collectively
(the “Group”) at the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) levels to ensure the sustainability of environmental, social
and governance. This report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guidelines (the
“ESG Reporting Guidelines”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). All information contained
herein reflects the Group’s performance in environmental
protection and social responsibility from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 (“Reporting Period” or “FY2023"). This
report complies with the “Comply or Explain” provisions in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guidelines
And included the disclosure of environmental Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIS”). The Group will regularly issue annual reports
and are readily available for public access to continuously improve
the transparency of information disclosure.

ESG Governance

In order to effectively implement the group’s environmental, social
and governance management measures, we have established
a clear sustainable development governance framework, with
the directors (the “Directors”) and the board of directors (the
“Board”) leading all functional departments and subsidiaries of the
company to promote the orderly governance work of the Company.
The Board of Directors will review and provide independent
advice while reviewing the environmental, social and governance
reports, and will strengthen the risk management in the
environment, society and governance, assume internal monitoring
responsibilities, and ensure the long-term benefits of the Group’s
development and stakeholders.

—E=FEFR
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ESG Governance Structure

Effective ESG management is inseparable from the attention of the
senior management and the participation of all staff. The Company
integrates ESG concepts into its corporate culture and day-to-
day operations, and establishes a top-down ESG governance
framework, where the board of directors fully supervises the
ESG issues and is ultimately responsible for them. According
to the actual situation of each department, we include relevant
information disclosure in the daily operation and management,
promote the deep participation of management, horizontal
coordination of each business department, subsidiaries implement
ESG monitoring indicators, and further improve the management
level of ESG matters. The Company has set up a dedicated ESG
promotion team (including management, organizational level and
executive level representatives). The work of the team includes:
conducting internal and external ESG importance evaluation,
setting ESG objectives; analyzing ESG objectives, improving
ESG data collection system, and promoting the achievement of
objectives; continuously benchmarking with peers and improving
ESG management; implementing information disclosure of ESG
related matters.

o Management Layer

After the review and Risk Management Committee reviews
the relevant major matters and ESG report, report to the
Board of Directors, and decide by the board of directors,
and the senior management personnel is responsible for
promoting the implementation.

o Organization Layer

According to the division of business and functions,
different task teams are set up to coordinate the related
work of major subsidiaries, such as the collection, analysis
and compilation of performance indicators, etc.

o Executive Layer

Each major subsidiary company shall set up a special
working group with full-time personnel to carry out relevant
work according to its own business characteristics, such
as regular statistics and submission of performance
indicators.
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Supervision of the ESG

The board of directors regularly listens to the ESG matters such as
operation management and safety management, and the directors
put forward the matters and requirements related to ESG at the
meeting.

ESG Management Policy and Strategy

Adhering to the concept of “innovation, perfection and integrity”,
the board of directors and the subordinate committees integrate
ESG matters related to the enterprise, such as governance,
operation, production safety, climate change and social
responsibility into the management, deliberation, decision-
making and other work. Functions of the Board of Audit and Risk
Management Committee Including risk management including
ESG risk; the annual internal control evaluation report is reviewed
by the Board Audit and submitted to the Board for approval to
establish an effective and reliable internal control system.

Report category

Report category covers the key performance indicators of the
Group: mainly include an office in Guangzhou and Huizhou
processing plant, for China ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage
industry ethanol production system core to provide comprehensive
services, including engineering design, equipment manufacturing,
installation and commissioning and subsequent value-added
maintenance. The installation of the equipment is performed by
approved contractors who are not employees of the Group and
contain no information.

Details of the corporate governance routine are listed in the annual
report for FY2023.
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Stakeholder engagement and importance assessment

The Group believes that building a strong relationship with its
stakeholders is a key driver to its business success. It maintains
close communication with a variety of stakeholders (including, but
not limited to, investors and shareholders, customers, contractors,
subcontractors, suppliers, employees, governments and
regulators, communities, NGOs, and the media) through different
pipelines. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s channels of
communication with key stakeholders include association e-mails,
phone calls, interviews, training, annual and extraordinary general
meetings, and annual reports with stakeholders to help improve
the Group'’s environmental, social and governance strategies and
reporting.

The procedures for assessing the importance of the
environmental, social and governance areas include: (1) the
identification of environmental, social and governance reporting
matters; (2) based on industry benchmarks, determine the
importance of relevant issues for enterprises; (3) stakeholder
communication, priority listed; and (4) the verification and
approval by the management, the results obtained are considered
the most concerning issues for stakeholders in the group,
including employee related issues, product responsibility, anti-
corruption, and customer service. The Group is committed to
regularly reviewing the issues and striving to continuously improve
its sustainability performance.

Contact us
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach

and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with us via email at zkty@zkty.com.cn.
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ENVIRONMENT

As a clean energy system marketer, the Group has outstanding
research and development capabilities and innovation-oriented
business philosophy in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage
industry. In the process of business operation and management,
the Group takes environmental protection as the core. The
Group is committed to fulfilling its social responsibility to protect
the environment, and is committed to protecting the earth and
building a sustainable future for the next generation. In order to
regulate environmental management and minimize the impact of
business operations, the Group has developed relevant policies on
environmental management and reduced environmental footprints
through the effective use of resources and the adoption of
favorable environmental technologies, while enhancing employee
environmental awareness and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

During the Reporting Period, information on the major emissions
and resource consumption of the environment is described in the
table “Summarize Environmental Key Performance Indicators”.
Total emissions of main greenhouse gas decreased from 225.27
tons of carbon dioxide in the fiscal year of 2022 to 76.50 tons of
carbon dioxide in FY2023, annual, down about 66% year on year.
The annual total density of FY2023 is 1.83 tons per million RMB.
The reduction in carbon emission intensity per unit of output value
is mainly due to the Company's emission reduction measures this
year.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission

The Group's main exhaust gas and greenhouse gas emissions
come from electricity consumed by gasoline consumption in
vehicles, employee business aviation travel, and processing
equipment and offices. The Group aims to reduce energy
consumption and carbon emissions, and regulations have been
established to manage energy consumption, greenhouse gas
emissions and discharge of general waste and sewage in a
proper and effective manner. The Group strictly abide by the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution, the Law on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution of Solid Waste, Chapter 358, Hong
Kong Law Chapter 354 and other laws and regulations concerning
environmental protection, establish environmental responsibility
system, and actively adopt the environmental pollution generated
in the operation of several environmental protection measures.

Air emissions

In the business operation of the Group, the main source of exhaust
gas emissions is the exhaust gas of transport vehicles. During
the operation of the Group, vehicles are required to transport
employees and visiting personnel. Consumption of gasoline also
leads to emissions of air pollutants. The treatment methods and
emission reduction measures are as follows:

° Optimize operating procedures to increase vehicle loading
rate and reduce idle rate;

° Turn off the engine during unnecessary use of the vehicle;
° Carry out regular maintenance and repair of vehicles to
effectively reduce fuel consumption and further reduce

carbon emissions and exhaust emissions;

o Choose low-sulfur unleaded gasoline as a fuel; and

o Prevent the vehicle engine from going idle.



IRIE @
BEALHRY (&)
BEREK

FERTEREREHBOREBTHFE
UHEBEEEREREHIN GEEL) 5t
BEHEEEFAE RIEEEIN GEE
2) KREBMEER ~ —AREEY) ~ AT
MAMEBEMEIEREREIN GEE
SE

AEBAEMNBIREEENRER  SEH

FERBHE M - HEEES NS BES
a?fﬁi“&ﬁ%fﬂﬁ*ﬁ?ﬁ&ﬂ’]%ﬁ% ARTER
A2 E R/ SR B 5 FE AE RA RV IR 35
S REBB MR HEERETERIEMNE
B HEmETAERER ITEERER
PAHZIBET Bolbsh RREFRIED
BERKE %EL?—HE%DBM&%HDEH]‘
2 AERNTEEMNMPEREEEEDR
WA G ZER AR E B 2 &= kT
1B AR RV B o

AEBIEEENS THEBS 6 E R SR

BI(E HEHE B 816K &
’J HE RENHERSNERES-
%l?ﬁ)ﬁ?%lﬁq*ﬁﬂ’]ﬁ* BHIHR
BEBER ARRRERTE EiR IR
ESpEllpEd %@J’ Ehe /NS S Wt
MAZERKXE BIEEBEASEERR
BEE TRAMMEEAEREREERE
NWETESEES ﬁiia%ﬁﬁ B HR
B RAFAERA BRI  EEARET
B EEMNEHOHE > 5IFERRERE
EEBIHES A E EH - AR EET
BRI -

RIE-HERERRS
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
GHG emissions

The Group’s main GHG emissions from vehicle consumption are
direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1), outsourced electricity
is indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) and business
aviation travel, general waste, packaging materials and paper are
other indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 3).

While strengthening environmental management, the Group also
advocates energy conservation and emission reduction measures.
Encourage employees to participate in green operations, designed
to mitigate the impact of GHG emissions. In order to minimize
environmental pollution associated with vehicle use, the Group
monitors and manages fuel consumption, conducts routine
maintenance of vehicles, and encourages employees to take
public transport. In addition, due to the nature of the business,
employees were often required to conduct live interviews and
attend seminars, and the Group encouraged them to use
conference calls or video conferencing systems to reduce the
carbon footprint due to business aviation travel.

The Group also encourages employees to actively participate
in the work of carbon GSP in Guangdong Province, promote
the carbon GSP, and establish the consumption concept and
life concept of low carbon, saving, green and environmental
protection. The group has carried out a carbon GSP pilot within
the group. Combined with the actual situation, organize and carry
out the creation of low-carbon community and low-carbon factory
activities, and organize the Company's employees to participate
in the pilot project. At important time points such as National
Low-carbon Day and Energy Conservation Publicity Week, we
will organize distinctive thematic publicity activities in pilot areas,
widely publicize the principles, rules and relevant policies and
measures of carbon GSP, advocate the public to practice low-
carbon life and low-carbon consumption, and guide the public
and related enterprises to actively participate in carbon GSP. The
specific carbon inclusion behavior include the following:
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
GHG emissions (Continued)

The Company actively encourages employees to carry out green
office, implement the concept of saving, conduct publicity,
education and training from the aspects of water saving
management, energy saving management and consumables
management, guide all staff to develop the working habit of low-
carbon office, realize green and low-carbon office and reduce
resource consumption. The specific achievements are as follows:

In 2023, about 46% of the Company will be paperless

In 2023,73% of the Company's staff will be working in public
transport or clean energy

In 2023, the Company will achieve 100% energy saving

All employees of the department must learn the concept of “green
energy saving, optimization and efficiency”, and cooperate with
the supervision system of the administrative department to ensure
the consumption of steady reduction of high carbon emission
supplies.

Carry out the Group’s carbon peak roadmap research

The Group has entrusted relevant consulting companies to help
develop the group’s carbon peak roadmap, working mechanism
and safeguard measures, etc. The administrative office organizes
annual reports, visits to listed companies, and participation in
carbon-neutral and professional meetings from time to time, and
actively communicates with the outside world about the two-
carbon strategy of the Company. Including but not limited to the
following contents: the Company’s historical carbon emissions,
the Company’s future planning, the Company's carbon dioxide
emission characteristics over the years, the Company’s future
emission reduction potential, the Company’s peak time point, the
Company'’s financial characteristics, etc.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)

Research and development of energy conservation and
emission reduction technologies

The national development and reform department issued the
“14th Five-Year Plan” for Bioeconomy Development, which brings
new opportunities for the development of new green and low-
carbon technologies such as biomass energy and bio-chemical
industry. In order to accelerate the Company’s progress in the
ethanol high-value chemical industry, the Group continues to
promote the thousand-ton test work of biomass hydropyrolysis
polymerized carbon synthesis vehicle and aviation fuel project,
and make technical reserves for the Company to cope with the
national carbon peak and carbon neutral strategy, and participate
in the competition of bio-energy and green chemical production
technology. The technology and research and development
department will continue to promote technology research and
development, strengthen the special research and development
cooperation with well-known universities, improve the research
and development level of the Company, and strive to gain the lead
in the development and application of green methanol technology
and hydrogen production plant in the future.

Actively packaging company carbon emission reduction
projects

The Group is following the policy trends in China's voluntary
carbon emission reduction market. The Group has noted that
many projects have the potential to develop carbon emission
reduction projects. The Company is communicating with the
relevant consulting firms, making a comprehensive assessment
of the carbon asset development of the Group and its clients.
If the development conditions are met, the Group will entrust
carbon asset companies to develop related projects, and provide
the relevant file materials as required. Carbon asset company
provides the whole process of project identification, methodology
development, buyer comparison, project design file selection,
DOE approval, competent authority approval, project registration,
project monitoring, DOE verification, issuance approval and
business dispute settlement of domestic voluntary emission
reduction projects.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)

Formulate rules and regulations for corporate carbon asset
management

Carbon asset management involves a wide range of departments,
involving enterprise strategy formulation, raw material
procurement, engineering construction, asset finance, new project
preparation office, carbon asset trading and other departments.
Therefore, it is necessary for the Company to set up a carbon
asset management leading group. The main members of the
leading group include the main heads of the above departments,
and issue the Company’s carbon asset management rules
and regulations to standardize the relevant responsibilities and
processes of the carbon asset design of the main business
operation of each department.

Optimize the carbon asset pool and build the best performance
portfolio

By drawing on the experience of various flexible mechanisms in
the international carbon emission trading market, the Company
can give full play to its own advantages and provide low-carbon
technology, management means or funds for other enterprises
in exchange for carbon quotas for other enterprises, so as to
achieve a win-win situation and fulfill the contract at the lowest
cost. The Company needs to cooperate with a professional carbon
asset management team, so as to analyze the transformation
and development trend of carbon markets at home and abroad,
actively participate in carbon asset financial derivatives, and seek
business opportunities from hedging.

Sewage emission

The Group is committed to completing the wastewater treatment
procedures to avoid polluting other natural resources. The
wastewater discharged from the daily operations of the office
and the processing plant will be discharged into the municipal
wastewater pipe network to the regional water purification plant.
The Group carefully uses and applies modern technologies and
devices to achieve the recycling of wastewater and enhance its
performance in this respect.
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect Al: Emission (Continued)
Waste emissions

Given the operational nature of the Group, no amounts of
hazardous waste were produced during the Reporting Period,
only a limited amount of harmless waste. For the harmless waste
such as metal, waste residue, plastic, paper and general waste,
according to the recyclable waste and non-recyclable waste for
appropriate classification, and centrally stored in the designated
collection area.

During the Reporting Period, 16.32 tons of recyclable waste
collected will be transferred to the scrap collector for regular
recycling. Other harmless wastes shall be identified and classified,
centrally stored and disposed of, submitted to the designated
management person to dispose of the waste timely, and the
surrounding environmental hygiene shall be maintained.

In addition to actively reducing waste in processing plants,
employees working in the office are also encouraged to develop
“green living habits” to minimize waste. Posters are put up
throughout the canteen to remind employees to select appropriate
portions of food to avoid wasting food.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations concerning atmospheric and greenhouse gas
emissions, the discharge of water and land, and the generation of
harmless waste. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
violate any environmental laws or regulations in the area where
it operates, and it is not required to pay large fines, face non-
monetary penalties or lawsuits for environmental protection.
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A. IRIE @ A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)

EEA2.ERER Aspect A2: Use of Resources

AHMBNERASEETRENRRES Gasoline and electricity are the main types of energy consumed by

FUHFEMN EERERIEE - AERGITE T the Group throughout and in its daily operations. The Group has

EASBYE TR R FBBER » LA BETR ~ 7K A0 developed strict resource use policies to control the conservation

FEMEEL > LIRS B RMBRE R of energy, water and raw materials to improve the efficiency of

ARENEERIN resource use, reduce waste and promote recycling.

GETEHFE Energy consumption

HMTHRESZEHEVERBS KIE We regularly issue energy saving notices and tips to employees to

N RTE) HIRAEIRE R B ¢ raise their awareness of energy saving, including:

. SRS HEE > WERETH . Monitor and regulate the fuel consumption, and carry out
HHEE the daily maintenance of the vehicles;

. RFEEMBENN T ; . Using highly efficient processing equipment;

J FMAFMEEINTI TR ; . Using technology to simplify the processing process;

. TR B B 6] R B R 3 A EE BRE R 4R . Turn off all electronic equipment at lunch time and when
FrEET2sM ; leaving the office;

J BB EAEIEER ; . Set the computer in an energy-saving mode;

. FREEEEREE ; & . Use of energy-saving light bulbs and light tubes; and

. EZREEERIENEERAN . Use of teleconference or video conferencing systems to
B £k e replace business aviation travel.

5 6 China New Energy Limited
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ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources (Continued)
Water consumption

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience
significant difficulties in obtaining the water source required
for the operation. Based on the nature of the business, the
water consumption mainly comes from the daily water used by
the employees at work, and the Group regularly reminds the
employees to save water through notices and tips. To reduce water
consumption, the Group reminds them to:

° Control the water output of the faucet to avoid twisting to
the end;

o Turn off the tap when using soap or hand sanitizer; and

° Avoid unnecessary flushing.

Paper Consumption

The Group strives to practice paperless office, often encouraging
all employees to use double-sided photocopying, recycle paper
and often use electronic information systems to share information
or internal administrative files to reduce paper. Carefully recycle
reusable paper products such as envelopes. Where possible and
appropriate, the Group has minimized the use of paper cups and
paper towels during its operations.

Use of packaging materials

During the Reporting Period, the packaging materials of the
material processing equipment for ethanol production system are
transported, including cartons, adhesive, plywood, etc. Effectively
packing and protect products, our group has packing skills
and saves materials. In addition, the Group selects recyclable
packaging materials and reuse packaging materials as much as
possible to reduce waste generation and encourages suppliers and
subcontractors to respond together.

—E=EER
Annual Report 2023 5 7



BRI HERERRS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

58

BEA3.RERRXAER

AR AEEEFENBIINFERES
IEAREERFHEETS S LETIR
BREFAETRATAEER LUALD
AEENKEEEPHIRENBRERD
BEFE - TEEEBTERIRIER
R E R B FRARE  IRIGREN S
ERMAEE - AEBEBHIRIREE
R4 W B BEEDREEREEE
BRIRERE - EIb A ERFHEMTEN
RN BAE RE SRS S5EM
TR AT RYIR (REAT AN T » LURL
DR K BETAABEERIVE
¥ MR D HARRIR R ERASHE 1058
MR~ B AR F BRI B EE
ERBEEL

BREEE

BEEEXEHEEPTERRONEEK
W EMTRINAGEERS B TRA
REMFEEERRTKE  RERR
EMT &M UEREMRGFRERRE
AT BRESENTERE WRARE
EHfERRSZE MM ELESR
BRFETRI T R ST

BEA4. RIZEME

RREHE ~EEEEL B ki
IR R - TP KT~ B HKF
RIFERNEEEERRAEERES
EREJEEERRBIERNEZE
HEFEIRTS - AEBIEREAHRERRAKR
Rz W EEREIRFRITETHE 5
RRKRREB AR ERERIRE
st EREFEENTUERK
FEBHERB S ELARBIMERT
MK URRBAIEZEFEENE
ARIGEZBERIGT R

China New Energy Limited

ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Since the Group operates in China and overseas, the Group
emphasizes corporate social responsibility and has invested
substantial resources in environmental protection programs to
reduce the negative impact on the environment and natural
resources of the Group’s operating activities. The Group has
complied with all environment-related regulations and international
standards. The concept of environmental protection has been
incorporated into the management. The Group has implemented
an environmental monitoring system to continuously assess and
monitor environmental risks in its daily operations. Therefore, it
has the obligation to the local community environment and natural
resources of the measures taken including processing facilities
apply new environmental technology and processes, to reduce the
consumption of non-renewable resources such as gasoline, water,
electricity, and reduce its related greenhouse gas emissions, and
by reducing, recycling and recycling to reduce waste in the daily
operation.

Noise management

Despite using very little heavy machinery in the business
operations, the processing plant still makes noise. To minimize the
noise level generated, processing equipment should be checked
regularly to ensure they remain in optimal condition. In order to
meet the industry standards of noise pollution and minimize the
impact of noise pollution, the processing plant has taken noise
control measures for the high noise generating equipment.

Aspect 4. Climate Change

During the Reporting Period, the Group operations were not
affected by the extreme climate. Rainstorm, hail, earthquake,
flood and other major climate-related events may later affect the
transportation and follow-up maintenance services of the Group’s
ethanol production system equipment. The Group assigns special
personnel to observe the weather and climate and maintain close
contact with the Emergency Management Agency. In the event
that the weather and climate are force majeure, the management
will reduce the unnecessary losses to the Group according to the
emergency plan. The Group develops a general emergency plan
and accordingly adequate materials to ensure preparedness for
major climate emergencies that may affect the Group.
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A. RiF @ A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
BHEIRIZRASRAENISIZNT - Summary of Environmental KPIs as follows:
Bfi  2023fE 2022f14
Fiscal year Fiscal year
BE item unit 2023 2022
EERBER Air emissions
—&ALAYNOX) — Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) AFr kilogram 148 416
—FRELAEYIS0x) — Sulfur Oxides (SOx) AFr kilogram 0.03 0.08
—FBRI(PM) ~ Particulate Matter (PM) AFr Kilogram 0.11 032
RERBEHER GHG emissions
—BEERREREYN GEE]) — Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
FURHRE petrol (Unleaded) consumption M_EtiREE 7.1 208
tonnes COze
—BEAER SR EE2) — Indirect GHG emission (Scope II)
ETHE electricity consumption M — LR 61.2 180.3
tonnes COze
—EMEERERAEHE BE3) - Other Indirect GHG emission (Scope 111)
ETEME AR —ARESY) ~ FRALA]  Air travel, general waste, Paper 0B — S b b 82 24.17
MR consumption tonnes COze
RERBHREE Total GHG emission W_SERES 765 22527
tonnes COze
BTERESHEARERGES  Toal Intensity per milion RMB in revenue  BE— S1EHR 183 198
tonnes COze
EEKHERR Sewage emission
—[EK - Sewage 753K cubic meter 664 1864
EEREAB ARBIG? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? 175K cubic meter 42 48
FEYIHERL Waste emissions
—BEEP — Hazardous wastes? TER TEH TEA
not applicable not applicable  not applicable
—BEEY — Non-hazardous wastes
# Paper AFr Kilogram 149.22 419.12
EEREAB ARBIG? Intensity — unit per million HKD revenue? AFT kilogram 1.11 112
—RRIIR General waste AFr kilogram 68 192
EEREABE ARBIG? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? AFT kilogram 045 048
ZEZ=FFRH
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A. R @ A. ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
Bfi  2023fE 2022814
Fiscal year Fiscal year

BE item unit 2023 2022
RETRIHFE Energy consumption
—H — Petrol (Unleaded) FL 2,752 7730
EERERE ARBIGEE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? FL 21.2 20
-8 — Electricity FRBF kWh 99,716 280,066
EERERE ARBIGEE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? F RS kWh 719 724
FkE Water consumption
EEAK Domestic water 355K cubic meter 663.67 1864
EERSOEAREWGEE? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? 53K cubic meter 47 48
BEMEHER Use of Packaging Materials
—EF B BaRE — Carton boxes, adhesive tape, plywood, etc AFr kilogram 32 80
EERERE ARBIG@E? Intensity per million RMB in revenue? AFr kilogram 0.27 0.24

PEE Note:

1. BERBHRERNRZ_SEREES 1. Greenhouse gas emission data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide
Hl)» i 22 (BIRBRER) R &R ZTET equivalence with reference to the requirements of, including but not limited
KRttReFEERTaREseTE2(RE to, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
REEREETE | tESHARETE) Standard published by the World Resources Institute and the World
AP T 8 2 (IR IR R AE VIR IZEHRTE Business Council for Sustainable Development, the Reporting Guidance
5 RAEEBHBRATFIEEN( 201760] on Environmental KPIs published by the Stock Exchange and the 2017
FEBERS)RERE ; Sustainability Report published by CLP Power Hong Kong Limited;

2. RIS AEELWA B ARKEILT 2. During the Reporting Period, the total revenue of the Group was RMB41.8
BT (020814 1 1173880 3 & million (FY 2022: RMB117.3 million); and

3. RSB ~AEBURESEATELE 3. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not produce any major
e hazardous waste.

60 China New Energy Limited
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SOCIAL

Employees are the most valuable assets of the Group. The Group
protects the rights of its employees, cares about their health and
safety, improves their working conditions, and seeks better career
development opportunities for them.

Employment and Labour Practices
Aspect B1: Employment

The Group strictly complies with the local labor laws and
regulations in which it operates, Including the labor law of the
People’s Republic of China (hereinafter referred to as “labor
law”), the labor contract law of the People’s Republic of China
(hereinafter referred to as “labor contract law”), to participate in
the Hong Kong mandatory accumulation fund plan (hereinafter
referred to as “MPF Scheme”), to comply with the Hong Kong law
chapter 485 of the mandatory accumulation fund plan ordinance,
Hong Kong law chapter 608 the minimum wage ordinance, Hong
Kong law chapter 57 the employment ordinance, and the Hong
Kong law chapter 282 the employee compensation ordinance and
other laws and regulations, By providing competitive wages, health
insurance, disability and disability insurance, maternity leave and
other compensation to employees.

The Group offers competitive compensation, promotion
opportunities, compensation and benefits to attract and retain
talent, such as contributions to the Social Security Fund and
employee housing reserves. The Group has a remuneration
committee responsible for the review of the remuneration of the
directors. In the case of general employees and management,
compensation is reviewed annually against market trends,
employee seniority, experience and performance. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had 85 (FY 2022:94 employees) as
full-time employees. All the employees are from different provinces
in mainland China, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom. During
the Reporting Period, a total of nine employees of the Group had
left for personal reasons, and the annual employee turnover rate
was approximately 9% (FY 2022:6.8%).

—E=EER
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B1: Employment (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, employee statistics were summarized
by gender, age group, and class, as follows:

Employee statistics percentage
By Gender

Male 76%
Female 24%
By Age

<30 <)
30-50 b4
>50 28
By Level

Senior Management 5.8%
Mid-level 17.6%
Entry 76.6%

Employment communication

Performance evaluation is a basic platform for management and
front-line employees to assess their performance and express their
expectations for the Group’s future development. The workload
of employees will also be reviewed and adjusted during the
assessment process to avoid overwork.

In order to enhance the sense of belonging of employees, the
Group will hold celebrations on the lunar New Year, Mid-Autumn
Festival and other holidays. The Group also holds regular lunch
parties to interact between employees and create harmonious
employee relationships.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
serious non-compliance with laws and regulations regarding
human resources.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The health and safety of the employees have always been the
focus of the Group. The Group strictly complies with the Work
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment
of Occupational Diseases and Chapter 509 of the Law of Hong
Kong. In metalworking facilities, employees may cause operations
that significantly affect health and safety. The Group bears this
risk in mind and pays special attention to the metalworking
business. The group has been certified by “Safety Production
Standardization Level 3 Enterprise” by “Huizhou City Production
Safety Association”, which provides guidelines and policies for
standardizing the safe working environment. Health and safety
affairs will be assigned to assigned staff responsible for review
and updating of manuals and procedures quarterly and annually
separately.

During the past reporting period, the Group experienced no
serious injury or employee injuries (more than 7 consecutive
days). The Group has no record of any accident resulting in
death or serious injury, no reimbursement or compensation for
the accident, or any serious violation of laws and regulations
concerning the health and safety of the employees.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

All new employees must attend induction and 1SO9001:2015
Certification Standards training to ensure that employees
understand the Group’s values, policies and objectives and to
ensure that employees understand their own role in the Group. At
the Group processing facility, all workers are trained and have the
necessary skills and knowledge before starting work. Management
encourages employees to plan their own training objectives to
master or improve the necessary skills and knowledge for their
work, such as training for protecting intellectual property rights.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group complies with the Labor Law, the Regulations of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prohibition of Child Labour, the
Employment Ordinance, the Hong Kong Children Law and other
laws and regulations concerning the employment of adolescents
under the age of 16 and their legal rights. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not find any material violations to prevent
child labour or forced labour to affect operational activities.

The Group strictly forbids the use of any child labor and forced
labor in its business activities. All new employees joining the Group
are required to provide true and accurate personal information for
recruiters to strictly verify their information, including academic
certificates, ID cards and hometown information. Recruiters
can verify the identity of all new employees through the wechat
mini program “Guangdong Province” or Alipay mini program
“electronic ID card”. The Group has a complete recruitment
process, which can investigate the education background and
past work experience of each candidate, and also has a formal
reporting process to handle any special situation. The Group
also checks periodically to prevent child labour or forced labor
in its operation. Any probation period or labor contract is strictly
prohibited, and no employee can start work before completing the
relevant training.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Aspect B4: Labour Standards (Continued)
Equal opportunity

The Group is committed to ensuring equal opportunities for
employees in recruitment, training and development, job
promotion and compensation and benefits. Employees will not
be discriminated against or deprived of equal opportunity on
the basis of gender, racial background, religion, color, sexual
orientation, age, marital status, family status, retirement, disability,
pregnancy, or any other discriminatory factors prohibited by the
applicable laws of China and Hong Kong. To eliminate workplace
discrimination, an employee may report directly to management
if he or she acts or words unfairly or feels discrimination. The
management will investigate the reported incidents and take strict
disciplinary action after verification. Employees may also report
directly to the Equal Opportunity Commission.

Operating Practices
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group supports the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions
and will prioritize the use of local suppliers with the same
conditions as their non-local counterparts. The total number of
suppliers and subcontractors is 122 (FY 2022:184) companies, all
coming from mainland China.

The internal rules and regulations adopted by the Group include
the Procurement Management System and the outsourcing
Processing Management System, which define the procedures
for selecting and evaluating suppliers and subcontractors
under the conditions under consideration in order to adhere to
a fair and transparent operational practice. In addition, when
selecting suppliers or subcontractors, environmental practical
concerns should be avoided. Through our Procurement Supplier
Management Policy, we require suppliers and subcontractors to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations ensuring safety,
environmental and social aspects.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management (Continued)

Adhering to the business philosophy of full participation and
sustainable operation, we make to progress in corporate
governance, environmental sustainability, social responsibility
and public welfare. The group has a deep understanding of
the cooperation with suppliers, in order to continue to provide
responsible and high-quality one-stop comprehensive services for
the environment, society and customers.

In order to be a responsible social enterprise, the Company has
issued the Initiative on Low Carbon Supply Chain, encouraging
suppliers to actively carry out energy conservation and emission
reduction actions, and helping suppliers to connect with the direct
financing tools of carbon emission reduction.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
Product and service complaints

The Group strives to provide customers with high-quality ethanol
production core systems and provide comprehensive services.
The Group requires quality control according to 1ISO9001:2015
certification standards, aiming to continuously improve its quality
control system and improve the level of product manufacturing
and service management. The Group has set up a telephone
hotline, E-mail, website and other complaint and feedback
channels to collect customer opinions and suggestions, and
guarantee customer information and privacy. 12 systems (FY
2022:11) were delivered during the Reporting Period, with no
complaints received or recovered for safety and health reasons.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility (Continued)
Intellectual Property Protection

In order to protect the smart property rights, the Group has
revised the Smart Property Rights Management Manual to ensure
the protection of business data and to prevent the unauthorized
disclosure of sensitive information to the partners. Regularly review
and update existing policies and procedures to comply with the
latest local laws and regulations, such as the Patent Law of the
People’'s Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Patent (Amendment) Ordinance of
Hong Kong 2016.

Confidentiality

The Confidential Information includes all knowledge acquired
by the Group regarding the affairs, secrets or information of
the Group, including, but not limited to, the business scope,
personnel, operations, policies, strategies, customers, contracts
and financial status. All employees have signed employment
contracts and confirm and guarantee that such information will not
be disclosed during and after the period of employment.

Aspects B7: Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to managing all business without undue
influence and regards honesty, integrity and fairness as its core
values. All directors and employees must strictly comply with the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap 201 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) to prevent unethical claims. The provisions in the Personnel
Management Rules requires the employee to know and comply
with any illegal provisions to prevent bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. Through the annual self-evaluation of internal
control operations, all departments, factories and subsidiaries
of the Company shall conduct self-inspection of their operation
projects, timely adjust the design and implementation of the
internal control system, and implement the mechanism of self-
supervision.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)
Aspects B7: Anti-corruption (Continued)

At the same time, the Group distributes relevant anti-corruption
pamphlets and cases to educate all employees to comply
with laws and regulations to publicize the importance of anti-
corruption. The Group has set up multiple pipelines such as
telephone hotlines, email addresses and email addresses for
reporting. There will be special personnel to collect and classify
the reports regularly, and the supervision and investigation of the
reports will be transferred to the audit department for handling.
The Group has also adopted a number of measures to encourage
employees to actively report violations of rules and legislation and
to strengthen the privacy protection of informants.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
corruption litigation cases of the Group or its employees.

Community
Aspect B8: Community investment

The Group promotes the overall social contribution of its member
companies. We focus on fostering a sense of social responsibility
among our employees and encourage them to contribute better
to our community during work and during private time. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to focus on community service,
encourage employees to actively participate in volunteer service,
and jointly promote the spirit of service in the community where
the Group operates.

In addition, the Group has historically promoted a green and
sustainable lifestyle. We share our responsibilities for a green
community, a blue sky, and an ideal home that can balance
environmental sustainability and urban prosperity.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated services in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage
industries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 212 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A comprehensive review of the business of the Group as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2023 and an indication of likely future developments in
the Group’s business can be found in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 18 of this annual report. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year under review using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights
on page 5 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which could have
a material impact on the Group's performance and could cause actual
results to differ materially from expected and historical results. The Board
monitors risks on an ongoing basis and has implemented appropriate
procedures and processes to manage and mitigate the adverse
consequences of such risks. The principal risks are as follows:

Order book and contract backlog

It is often difficult to predict whether or when the Company will secure
new contracts as it depends on a number of factors, such as the actual
business needs of the potential customers, market conditions, financing
arrangements and government policies.
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China New Energy Limited

Whilst the Group has sufficient orders and backlog of contract, the
projected revenue amounts might not be able to result in actual revenue or
translate into profits and therefore are not indicative of the future operating
results of the Group. Contract backlog figures represent the estimated total
contract values of work which remain to be completed pursuant to the
terms of the outstanding ethanol production system technology integrated
service contracts. The contract value of a project or other transaction
represents the amount the Group expects to receive as at the relevant
date. However, such backlog figure is based on the assumption that
the relevant contracts will be performed in full in accordance with their
terms and schedule. Since the contract may be subject to cancellation or
change of order or schedule by the counterparty or other force majeure
which may affect the progress of the project, such changes to any one or
more sizeable contracts could have substantial and immediate effect on
the backlog of the Group, leading to reduction in the amount of backlog
and revenue and profit which, in turn, put pressure on our working capital.

Accounts receivable and progress payment from customers

The Group may experience delays or defaults in recognising trade
receivables and progress payments from its customers. For the ethanol
production system technology integrated service projects, project owners
typically make progress payments to the Group based on the percentage
of work completed at specific milestone dates. In accordance with the
contracts entered into between the Group and its customers, once
the service project reaches a certain stage as specified in the relevant
contract, the Group will be paid a portion of the contract value on a
progressive basis. The milestone stages of payment generally include
(i) the signing of the contract; (ii) before delivery of the equipment to
the project site of the customer; (iii) after completion of installation of
the equipment and issuance of project completion report; and (iv) the
expiry of the defect liability period, which is generally 12 months from
the date of project completion report issued by the customer. From
time to time, the Group may be required to commit cash and other
resources to the projects prior to reaching a payment stage to cover
certain expenses for the projects. There is a risk that the customers do
not fulfill their contractual obligations pursuant to the terms and conditions
of the contracts and will fail to make full and timely payments to the
Group. Delays in progress payments by the customers may significantly
undermine our working capital position and thereby affect the liquidity of
the Group, and would also adversely affect the financial conditions and
results of operations of the Group.
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Research and development

As part of the business strategies, the Group continues to focus on
research and development to strengthen its design and engineering
capability. Advanced biofuels using cellulose as feedstock have been
touted as the next step beyond the corn-based ethanol. However,
cellulosic ethanol is more difficult to produce than grain ethanol because
it uses the inedible and irregular parts of the plants. Cellulosic ethanol
production also requires the in-house development of new technologies.
The Group may be unsuccessful in researching and developing such
new technologies. The success of the Group's business is therefore
dependent upon its ability to continuously develop, in a timely manner,
new technological applications through research and development and
introduce new solution designs to cater to the customers’ requirements.
The Group may be required to invest extra time and resources to develop
new technological applications for solution designs in order to satisfy
changing requirements of the customers.

Competition

The Group operates in a competitive industry and it may not be able to
maintain an edge over its competitors. There are other providers of ethanol
production systems operating in the market who may possess more in-
depth experience, expertise, technical know-how and financial ability
to capitalise on pricing strategies and other services to gain an edge in
the competition. There can be no guarantee that the competitiveness of
its competitors will not improve or that the Group will be successful in
expanding its market share against its competitors or expanding into new
markets. Hence this could adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
conditions and operating results.

The Group's financial instruments and financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 96 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

—E=EER
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China New Energy Limited

RESERVES

Details of the changes in reserves of the Group and the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 97 and notes 33 and 41(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves consist of share premium and
retained earnings. As at 31 December 2023, distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB47.1 million (2022: RMB67.5
million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers amounted to approximately 75% of the total sales and sales to
the largest customer accounted for approximately 37%. Purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 25% of the
total purchases and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 9%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the total
number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group's five largest
customers and suppliers.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers, business associates
and the local community are key stakeholders of the Group’s success.
The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging
employees, providing quality services to customers and collaborating
with business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to deliver
sustainable products and services and support the local community.

For more detailed information, please refer to the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 45 to 68 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Weijun (Chairman)
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Antony Bennett
Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron
Ms. Wong Mei Ling (appointed on 15 March 2023)

Pursuant to Article 19.6 of the Articles, Mr. Richard Antony Bennett and
Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron will retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM and shall
be eligible for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 19 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of the
independent non-executive Directors regarding their independence in
accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and considers each of them to be independent.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts or appointment letters,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Group were entered into or
subsisted during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no contract of
significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules,
the “Controlling Shareholder”) or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of an acquisition of Shares or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, and neither the
Directors nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or had exercised such
right.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any related company
(holding companies, subsidiaries, or fellow subsidiaries) was a party and
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders or their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was interested in any business
which competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have
with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as permitted
under the relevant statutes for the benefit of the Directors (including
former Directors) of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Articles and in the Directors and officers liability
insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential liability and
costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against such
Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ")), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive of
the Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as
follows:

RIRAFE : Long positions in Shares:
ERRBEERIT
SR g1/ #mitE FriERin &8 st REBABESLE
Approximate
% of the issued
Capacity/ Number of share capital
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held Total of the Company
REHRESE R EEERS Watl) 99,012,168 99,012,168
Mr. Yu Weijun Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 1)
BREAA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
102,082,520 17.31%
EIE A TEAERER (fE2) 48,000,000 48,000,000
Mr. Tang Zhaoxing Interest in controlled corporation
(Note 2)
BREEA 3,070,352 3,070,352
Beneficial owner
51,070,352 8.66%
Richard Antony Bennettst 4 BEnEAA 3,908,099 3,908,099 0.66%

Mr. Richard Antony Bennett

/6

China New Energy Limited

Beneficial owner
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Notes:

1 These 99,012,168 Shares were held by Tewin Capital Holding Limited (“Tewin
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Yu Weijun. Mr. Yu was deemed or taken to
be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tewin Capital for the purpose of the
SFO.

2. These 48,000,000 Shares were held by Tonzest Capital Holding Limited (“Tonzest
Capital”) which was wholly owned by Mr. Tang Zhaoxing. Mr. Tang was deemed or
taken to be interested in the same block of Shares held by Tonzest Capital for the
purpose of the SFO. On 9 October 2020, 48,000,000 Shares have been pledged by
Tonzest Capital in favour of an independent third party as a security of a loan in the
amount of HK$1,500,000. As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding amount of the
loan was HK$670,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to
the Company, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the
Directors and chief executive of the Company were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein;
or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

FR2023F 12831 H  BEEFA FHA L (EIE  As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
BEEYANBETEBTHAL) RIRH AR persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
A BRI RS RIS S EXVERE2R%3%  interests or short positions in Shares or underlying Shares which would
EBRNE S AN B R B AP BR » s Rt A fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
TIRIEE 5 R RSB SE336(8 B FFEREEC  provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the

AR Eka

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to the section 336

of the SFO:
AT
BT
R, 8 BmtE RETahE{=] BABEIL
Approximate
% of the issued
Number of share capital
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held of the Company
Tewin Capital ERBEAA W21 99,012,168 16.79%
Beneficial owner (Note 1)
EREZT Fofden (atl) 102,082,520 17.31%
Ms. Tan Fenggiao Interest of spouse (Note 1)
Tonzest Capital BnEAA W:22) 48,000,000 8.14%
Beneﬂmal owner (Note 2)
BREELL Pt (7a22) 51,070,352 8.66%
Ms. Zeng Fanghua Interest of spouse (Note 2)
Best Full Investments Limited BHMEB A (11323) 45,444,000 7.71%
Beneficial owner (Note 3)
BHERE REEE R (173) 45,444,000 7.71%
Mr. Liang Hongtao Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3)
wEZL Fofdtgs (f7a24) 45,444,000 7.71%
Ms. Han Jing Interest of spouse (Note 4)
Kapok Capital Management Limited EnBEB A Was) 44,652,107 7.57%
Beneficial owner (Note 5)
PRIz %+ TR (W525) 44,652,107 7.57%
Ms. Chen Wan Ling Interest in controlled corporation (Note 5)
Jojo Global Investment Limited BEmBEA A (Wi6) 31,884,000 5.41%
Beneficial owner (Note 6)
EMERLE ZEEEER (HiE6) 31,884,000 541%
Mr. Jiang Xinchun Interest in controlled corporation (Note 6)
BEmnEAA 3,070,352 0.52%
Beneﬂmal owner
Exigen FefdtEa (/227) 34,954,352 5.93%
Ms. Wang Yan Interest of spouse (Note 7)

78 China New Energy Limited
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Notes:

1 Ms. Tan Fengqiao is the spouse of Mr. Yu Weijun, the Chairman and an executive
Director. The interests of Mr. Yu Weijun in the Company comprised (i) 99,012,168
Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tewin Capital: and (i) 3,070,352
Shares held by Mr. Yu directly. Ms. Tan Fengqiao was deemed to be interested in all
the Shares in which Mr. Yu Weijjun was beneficially interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

2. Ms. Zeng Fanghua is the spouse of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing, the Chief Executive Officer
and an executive Director. The interests of Mr. Tang Zhaoxing in the Company
comprised (i) 48,000,000 Shares held by his wholly-owned corporation, Tonzest
Capital; and (ii) 3,070,352 Shares held by Mr. Tang directly. Ms. Zeng Fanghua was
deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Tang Zhaoxing was beneficially

interested for the purpose of the SFO.

3. Best Full Investments Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Liang Hongtao. Therefore,
Mr. Liang Hongtao was deemed or taken to be interested in 45,444,000 Shares held
by Best Full Investments Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

4. Ms. Han Jing is the spouse of Mr. Liang Hongtao. Ms. Han Jing was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Liang Hongtao was interested for the purpose
of the SFO.

5} Kapok Capital Management Limited was wholly owned by Ms. Chen Wan Ling.
Therefore, Ms. Chen Wan Ling was deemed or taken to be interested in 44,652,107
Shares held by Kapok Capital Management Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

6. Jojo Global Investment Limited was wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Therefore,
Mr. Jiang Xinchun was deemed or taken to be interested in 31,884,000 Shares held
by Jojo Global Investment Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

7. Ms. Wang Yan is the spouse of Mr. Jiang Xinchun. Ms. Wang Yan was deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jiang Xinchun was interested for the purpose
of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no other person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above)
had, or were taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

—E=EER
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CONNECTED/RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which were required
to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in the note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of the related party transactions as disclosed
constituted disclosable non-exempted connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during year ended 31 December 2023.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Tewin Captial and Mr. Yu Weijun, Tonzest Capital and Mr. Tang Zhaoxing,
and Jojo Global Investment Limited and Mr. Jiang Xinchun (collectively,
the “Covenantors”) has each entered into a deed of non-competition
dated 16 June 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of its subsidiaries).

The Covenantors have confirmed that they have fully complied with the
terms of the Deed of Non-Competition. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the status of compliance and written confirmation
from the Covenantors, and confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, all
the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied
with by each of the Covenantors during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to date of this report.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up to award employees
and Directors based on their performance, qualifications, competence
demonstrated and market's comparable companies. A remuneration
package typically comprises salary, contributions to pension schemes
and discretionary bonuses relating to the profit of the relevant company.
The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and is decided by the Board, having regard to the prevailing
market practice, the Company’s remuneration policy and the employees’
seniority, experience and their duties and responsibilities with the Group.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 3
to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or subsisting
at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with
the relevant environmental and occupational health and safety laws and
regulations in China and we did not have any incidents or complaints
which had a material and adverse effect on the business, financial
conditions or results of operations of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.

For more detailed information about the Group’s environmental policies
and performance for this financial year, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 45 to 68 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various laws and regulations including the
Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 of the Jersey, Channel Islands, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter 310 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
etc. The Group has put in place internal controls to ensure compliance
with the same. In addition, as the Group carries out business activities
in China, compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable PRC laws, rules and regulations which have significant impact
on the Group. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations
are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation
units in the Company and subsidiaries from time to time.

Save as otherwise disclosed, as far as the Board is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

—E=EER
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RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the
public under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

KTC Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company
by the Board with effect from 7 January 2022 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers. Save for the above,
there was no other change in the auditor of the Company in the past three
years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been audited by KTC Partners CPA Limited who shall hold
office until the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-
appoint KTC Partners CPA Limited as the auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2024 AGM.

By order of the Board

Yu Weijun
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of China New Energy Limited
(incorporated in Jersey with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New
Energy Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 93 to 211, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Room 1305-07, 13/F., New East Ocean Centre, 9 Science Museum Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
AL AR E AP EEE AT A £ Y < 131#1305-07%

Tel §34: (852)2314 7999

Fax i 3 :(852) 2110 9498

E-mail % + #8445 info@ktccpa.com.hk
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EERFIBRGOMBERRWES. 1 H5E
™ BEESE023F12831HIEFEEBEF
KX AR 1126,723,0007t > B1020235E12H31
B> S&EENAPHEEBERTEENAR
#10,837,0007T ° &3R5 » ZE AP 5E3. 1P H
tMEERA FEERTEEN  AIEH &
EEFBEEENEREREE EFHILE
ENE R BIEHENR-

RSt EH

HREBEAFERREBEESFNEXNE DoH
TGV BRRNESRAEENEIR B
EEREEEFEIHRAOMBRER (FRRE)
REEBRFETEEN MESTEHZESE
FHREHEBHNER

BT R B EERB E AT E ) —HO PR
MHPYEIEIN EECHRE TEFEREERS
hEFENRREEZEE

R E S EE
Key Audit Matter

BRALELEERRERCFAEER

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB126,723,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at
31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately RMB10,837,000. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 3.1, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

In addition to the matters described in the Material Uncertainty Related to
Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

EENEINMARIERAEEEIE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition for ethanol production system construction contracts

B2 R EMBIRERWES

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

HE2023F12831HLEFE >

SEPABS RN o

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
of approximately RMB39,868,000 was derived from ethanol
production system construction contract for which revenue is

recognised on over time basis.
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EEREIEAREASEMIITNER8E !
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

EEEBIELERSR
2ROEELEERBANARE39,8680007  BFRAEE o

TEREEEE RS RMEBEEREEU KRG OEE
ERMERER 2 EEERDREIER ;
Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s review and approval of project budgets
and estimates of revenue recognition from ethanol
production system construction contract;

J HEREREIBEEANR 7 HAEENEE REEH
BEMER ;
Discussed with management and the respective project
teams to understand the progress of the projects and
relevant contract terms;



EERCELERKERSRMENEXEELERE
MTERENRESREBE NENEENEERDT cZEE T K
BARYET R Gt - ZEENRE SEEAETEAS
EFTTEH RIS ISR A M2 W2 E B ERGHARFR
EXNsRNAEEREERGSENANE D

The Group recognises revenue from its ethanol production
system construction contracts based on progress made
towards complete satisfaction of its performance obligation
under contracts. This basis involves significant judgements
and estimates. The progress is measured based on
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs
incurred up to the end of Reporting Period as a percentage
of total estimated costs for each product in the contract.

EERREE—ERAENSEtEE ERABEEERM
STTERLIE B PR IOER T A AN B FE A B Al > LIFEE 52
BB 72t o R 2E R T $R &5 HARE R 58 o

We considered this as a key audit matter because
management applied significant judgements in estimating
the remaining cost to complete the projects in order to
determine the percentage of completion and thus the
revenue to be recognised for the Reporting Period.

BWIZHERS
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. MR EZEEE2023F12831HIEEEEEN
BERA UZFEERERZ MRNEEER
AT A SR E RS
Tested, on a sample basis, the project costs incurred
during the year ended 31 December 2023 to supporting
evidence including purchase agreements, materials
receipt notes and labour cost records;

. BEETEFRBELENERNAKREEREEHIER
B AN B9 FE 52 5T BV ZE e 14 > ST S AR B B B9 E 5T AR
K ;
Evaluated the estimated cost to complete the project by
considering the actual costs incurred subsequent to the
year end, and the accuracy of management’s historical
estimation of the project costs;

. MR EERHEREERE =1 RE  HhTTMm

TEREANEANEE BEEETREBEERNRRZ
SRURERS ; &
Checked, on a sample basis, the settlements from
customers and third-party evidence to evaluate progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation, including final customer confirmation of
acceptance when a project is completed; and

J ZHEIEEHEE2023F12831HILFEFMEEN
BEEAGEEHERAB DLENE S WiREZE
DEEEM TR EERE
Checked management’s calculation of percentage
of actual costs incurred up to the year ended 31
December 2023 to total estimated costs, and
recalculated the revenue recognised based on the
percentage.

BEHEREETHNERSRENEAETBESRE LN
FETEBEMES UG EEERAMGt2aEY ;
Performed retrospective review by comparing the total actual
contract costs incurred at completion against the total budgeted
contract costs to assess the reasonableness of the estimates
used by the management.

—E=EER
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B 5 RMREREWRREAR & EEENREE

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables and contract assets

BHR2REG U HERRMET22  24536(b) °
Refer to notes 22, 24 and 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

122023F12H31B M 8 5 FEWGRIE K FE U R IR 4B BE LU
REBEBEEDNLAZ AREE108,025,0007t Kk A R
186,900,0007T ° 122023F 12831 HNESEEE D RS
AR #73,632,0007t 52 A R #520,066,0007T ©

The gross trade and bills receivables, and contract assets
amounted to approximately RMB108,025,000 and
RMB186,900,000 respectively as at 31 December 2023,
with loss allowance of approximately RMB73,632,000 and
RMB20,066,000 respectively as at 31 December 2023.

EERFRITETHENER ENBAXFAKBARR
KIEHAE BI85 R 2 8T (40 B 5 U IE K FE UL
EBRUKERAEENTRIREE/HmIEHEE Tt E2TEHE
EBER > SEELERENRE - FRZ R
MERERMRMR WAE S B Ak kAR = ETTH
B EsHMEABEMERER > SEEZERMNAREEL
BEER  RRQBEIER TERRAE R IEREEH -

The Group assesses expected credit loss allowances of
trade and bills receivables and contract assets using the
risk parameters including industry average default rates,
loss given default, forecast economic conditions and
expected credit loss. When measuring expected credit
loss, the Group considers the ageing of the balances, the
nature and credit profile of different customer base and
adjusts by considerations such as current conditions and
forward looking factors. In assessing forward looking factors,
the Group considers factors including economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes in
customers’ conditions.

86 China New Energy Limited

EEREIERARESFEMAITHEF 8 !
Our procedures performed to address this key audit matter
included:

J TRHEBEEEMLERRUEEREREREURE
FEERERRERES ;
Obtained an understanding of the key controls over
management’s assessment of the impairment of trade
and bills receivables and contract assets;

J ML EEETEREREEHBERERANMLEHEY

EMENBRZ BRst R ARAEFEBIME K
ERMRRUREREBRNEEY ;
Assessed the estimated default rates and loss given
default applied by management in the ECL calculation,
by considering the nature and credit profile of different
customer base and the appropriateness of data used;

J BESERRLE - TERTSER SHMEERTR
nEEBEEFMERERHNARMERE ;
Assessed current conditions and the forward looking
factors considered by management in the assessment
by referencing to macroeconomic, industry and market
information;

J RHREEZHEEZ RIRIBERERERUREE
BERZEZNIRE R EMBREETERE ; &
Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
of the trade and bills receivables and contract assets to
invoices and other supporting evidence; and



EERREFRRANEBREBRERAREEEENR
Bt A —HRERETEE HREEENEREA
TEKRHER-

We considered this as a key audit matter because
management applied significant judgements in the
impairment assessment of trade and hill receivables and
contract assets.

BWIZHERS
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J G EERHFEEREBNEREH
Tested, on a sample basis, settlement made by the
customers subsequent to year end.

EERAEZRUEREREREREUREREERMETH
FrRRRAE RSB T BRI Ko

We found the key assumptions used in impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivables and contract assets were
supported by the available evidence.

. 5B A B 2 ZE M R ARRT Y RS ESTE &
STETMAZEREBGRE B ERYE &
checking the accuracy and relevance of the input data
and mathematical accuracy of the valuation calculation
and the underlying data used in the calculation; and

J MIBRW G R ARz T2 RZETERED
o W EBZEBRREFUREIREBAEZRE
performing sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions for forecast revenue and estimated
costs and considering the extent of change in those
assumptions that would result in impairment.

—E=EER
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PRXTHEEELEN ((REELEMN) FYE - BERRE HEREEXURREHEEEZRENEG GEERGEEM

FBIRAME16+17/18)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets in Zhongke Tianyuan
cash generating unit (“CGU”) (please refer to Notes 16, 17 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements)

12023128318 » BB AR X TIREEE EUNY
X - BERREB BREEREAREERBZEEDH
7 AR #10,854,0007t ~ AR #17,844,0007t & A R
7,553,0007T © iRIE B IR E T » B, E2023F 12831 H
I FEMBTPRERBERE NP RTREESE
BARAWEEREEREREE

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-
of-use assets belonging to Zhongke Tianyuan CGU were
approximately RMB10,854,000, RMB17,844,000 and
RMB7,553,000 respectively. Based on management’s
assessment, no impairment loss has been recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2023, as
the recoverable amount of the Zhongke Tianyuan CGU was
higher than its carrying amount.

EEERBEPNIXTREELBEUNEREEETH
Al EE MEMTENRREELTBUERESL Y
REREREZIREHE

The management determined the recoverable amount of
the Zhongke Tianyuan CGU based on its value in use, which
was calculated based on the present value of the future cash
flows directly generated by the CGU.

EERAPRXREELBEMNBEN EA—IEME
BBEFEE DHEHREHGRESUBRENEEN UKk
HREEEHMNBRARERABESEFTRAZRSE
mETERER BEAREHB R ZEEAEE M

We have identified the impairment of the Zhongke Tianyuan
CGU as a key audit matter because of their significance to
the consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of a significant degree of judgements and high estimation
uncertainty made by the management for the profit forecasts
and cash flows projections for the value-in-use calculations.

88 China New Energy Limited

EHRPPMEENGEER B T BAOBERRET G 22
FEiE !

With the assistance from our engaged valuation specialists, our
procedures in relation to the impairment review included:

. B ERS W E B (G ER 2 A RE 5518
UMREEY;
obtaining the valuation report and assessing the
independent valuer’s competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity;

J EB2ETEEN SHMEEE T WEEEGER
ERBRHRESHEREIE;
assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness
of the valuation methodology and assumptions in
determining the recoverable amount with reference to
the industry practice;

J AMLEEERRERERN (BEHEEREX KR
F=) EANHIERBEN RGN EEMY ;
assessing the appropriateness of the management
judgments and reasonableness of the estimates used in
the cash flow projection, including the sales growth rates
and profit margins;

J HEEEmGEMMAZE MRS LEEEER
TERABLRAS 2B SRS T E2H AR
Bz aBEtREER (OEMEEREZSEN) ;
discussing with the management about the other
assumptions used in the valuation and to challenge the
reasonableness of the key inputs including assessing
the reasonableness of the discount rate based on
relevant market data of comparable companies where
appropriate;

. BB AR 2 R AR UK EESE R
STEPPTRZ BB 2 BB RN &
checking the accuracy and relevance of the input data
and mathematical accuracy of the valuation calculation
and the underlying data used in the calculation; and

J BRI E R AT FBRZETEHRED
Mo E B S BREREEUNHIRAEZRE
performing sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions for forecast revenue and estimated
costs and considering the extent of change in those
assumptions that would result in impairment.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.



ZEBEMBZE SRR A
AENET @

. BEESRAUFECERERNES
EEEEE TR EERNES RS
BMERDEYN BEEFEEEREE
BREXREBENSEHREREEATHE
EHER - HESBER/TEERTHE
EREF BEERIZEMREFIRF L
EREMBHRRANERMRE st iHE
FRET e MERIFFERERR -&F
gD RN EEZMENER S B HAFTE
SHVEEHRE  ERREMHRIBR AT
By SEEIBEAERECEES-

. AR BERE (BIEMER) BRI
B EBBEAR URGEMHRERES
BARRRES RIS RER

. 7 EEERNKBRENEFIBNMT
BENESRENEHRSE  UiRa it
BRRERER -BESAGERE BE
RPTEENES LIF-EFEARESF
BES R RAEEIEE-

EFEREEMN (HPaE) |5t TN 8%
ERFEEZEREAESFLER GEEENE
SHEARI ) A BTN E R ERRBEST
B

BEETRAERBRRER RAEFERTE
BB IEREERER URAANREERR
REREESFNBIMNBAERREMETNUR
HPRELE PR ERE B 1T B S A8 AR BOBh #EHE T (16
B BREERE-

BWIZHERS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that are of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

KTC Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Chow Yiu Wah, Joseph
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number PO4686
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024



AREHRER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

#HZE2023F12H31HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

Mt 20234 20224
AR%FT AREEF T
Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
SRR Revenue 5 41,826 117,354
THE Al S Cost of sales (46,948) (102,167)
£ (&) /F) Gross (loss)/profit (5,122) 15,187
HEREHEX Selling and marketing expenses (8,763) (9,383)
THRX Administrative expenses (17,158) (19,481)
AR EEBEEA TN Impairment losses under expected
ERSIE > 0FREEE] credit loss model, net of reversal 10 (76,031) (40,799)
Ht A Other income 7 1,564 5,760
Hith (5518) Wz —F%8  Other (losses)/gains — net 8 (4,050) (6,347)
SIRE A —UNSIE (i Share of result of associate 981 -
R EE Operating loss (108,579) (55,063)
U Finance income 9 7 9
A 75 Al A Finance costs 9 (1,828) (1,667)
TS Al A — 3 28 Finance costs — net (1,821) (1,658)
MRERSIRAIESIE Loss before income tax 10 (110,400) (56,721)
Frigis (FiR) 15 Income tax (expense)/credit 11 (16,323) 5,764
FRNEE Loss for the year (126,723) (50,957)
LT RE(LESIE - Loss attributable to:
S VNEIEZZ= PN — Owners of the Company (126,594) (50,525)
—IEE R — Non-controlling interest (129) (432)
(126,723) (50,957)
ATEE AFE(EESIEM  Loss per share for loss
SREE USSR attributable to owners of
AREBTERT the Company (expressed in
RMB per share)
SREKREIE Basic loss per share 15 (0.215) (0.086)
BREEEIE Diluted loss per share 15 (0.215) (0.086)
—E=FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2023F12831HIEEE  For the year ended 31 December 2023

20234 20224F
ARBFT AR®EFT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
FREE Loss for the year (126,723) (50,957)
Hit2mEEsE Other comprehensive loss
BISET B EF 7 E 18 m i ltemns that may not be reclassified to
BHH profit or loss
— AT ESAEMEEIWE - Change in the fair value of financial
NEMEELTEEE assets at fair value through other
(0B 18E) comprehensive income, net of tax (2,126) (1,668)
B GEE T 7 4E E R a9 E H Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss
— BB ER C ERERR — Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations 1,687 (1,225)
FRHME2EEE (O0RTE  Other comprehensive loss for the year,
net of tax (439) (2,893)
FREHEEEIEMREEE Total comprehensive loss for the year (127,162) (53,850)
UTEG2mEEREE Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
—AmREEBA — Owners of the Company (127,033) (53,418)
—JEEERE R — Non-controlling interests (129) (432)
(127,162) (53,850)
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AR e MR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R20235E12831H  As at 31 December 2023

&t 20234 20224
AR¥FT AER®FIT
Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ETRHEE Non-current assets
LY E N =Y Property, plant and equipment 16 11,691 12,311
mEEE Intangible assets 17 17,844 20,470
FRESE Right-of-use assets 18 7,553 2,366
b= A B m Interests in an associate 19 53,981 =
BATESAEMEE Financial assets at fair value
WENEREE through other comprehensive
income 20 - 2,502
IEIETR I E Deferred tax assets 29 750 15,894
91,819 54,043
REEE Current assets
=78 Inventories 21 11,822 9,348
BZEWEIEREWESE  Trade and bills receivables 22 34,393 73,021
HMEWREIERTEITIE  Other receivables and
prepayments 23 16,358 81,057
BREE Contract assets 24 166,834 263,872
IRTTAERRRIRSE Bank balances and cash 25 5,174 1,879
234,581 429,177
wEas Current liabilities
B EMARIEAE Trade payables 26 71,005 98,275
HthpE=h1E Other payables 27 61,900 85,246
aEaE Contract liabilities 28 42,471 25,145
IRITEW Bank borrowings 30 19,960 27,132
HEAR Lease liabilities 31 1,057 718
FEfS#R1E Tax payable 49,025 49,529
245,418 286,045
E) (AR EERE Net current (liabilities)/assets (10,837) 143,132
REERTHER Total assets less current liabilities 80,982 197,175
—EC=FFR
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RaMBILR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

7¥2023F12831H As at 31 December 2023

W&t 20234 20224
AR%FT AR¥FT
Notes 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
JERBEIAE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank borrowings 30 7,028 1,350
FERIESE Deferred tax liabilities 29 804 =
HE&RE Lease liabilities 31 4,387 -
12,219 1,350
BEEEE Net assets 68,763 195,825
B R EE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 32 1,762 1,762
B Reserves 33 67,647 194,680
TATHEE AEL#ER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company 69,409 196,442
JEHERG RS Non-controlling interests (646) 617)
aRES Total equity 68,763 195,825

FORFE21IB 2 MBIRERBEMN20244E38  The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 211 were approved
8HKEEESHERIEETIZ WAL FESE  and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and

RFREE . are signed on its behalf by:
REE Bk
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
EBE EFE
Director Director
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mEEEEER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#HZE2023F12H31HEFEE  For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

(REtER)
kEx  Hfth S RERA NGt el st
ARBETT AREBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARET:
(E32)  (EE33)

(Accumulated
losses)/ Non-
Share Other retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Sub-total interests Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Note 32) (Note 33)

12022%£181H At 1 January 2022 1,762 151,175 96,923 249,860 (185) 249,675
EREE Loss for the year = = (50,525) (50,525) (432) (50,957)
HEth2mesia Other comprehensive loss = (2,893) - (2,893) - (2,893)
FREHEGEEE Total comprehensive loss

for the year - (2,893) (50,525) (53,418) (432) (53,850
1202251283180 At 31 December 2022 1,762 148,282 46,398 196,442 (617) 195,825
12023£181H At 1 January 2023 1,762 148 282 46,398 196,442 (617) 195,825
FREE Loss for the year = - (126,594) (126,594) (129) (126,723)
Hitn2EEE Other comprehensive loss = (439) = (439) = (439)
FRRHEGEEE Total comprehensive loss

for the year - (439) (126,594) (127,033) (129) (127,162)
IR EE Capital contribution from non-

controlling interests - - - - 100 100
12023%£12831H At 31 December 2023 1,762 147,843 (80,196) 69,409 (646) 68,763
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FERERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#HE2023F12831HLEFEE  For the Year Ended 31 December 2023

Vg3 20234 20224
ARBFT AR¥FT
Note 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEH Operating activities
KREMSIRE Cash generated from operations 37(a) 12,591 2,623
BEIPIER Income tax paid (520) =
K TRENFRTS Net cash generated from
&3 operating activities 12,071 2,623
KREEH Investing activities
BEME -BERRE Purchases of property,
plant and equipment (4,303) (39)
EERTEE Purchases of intangible assets (79) (2,231)
HEYE - HEX Proceeds from disposal of
KBTS FIA property, plant and equipment = 963
KREEEFTAREFEE Net cash used in
investing activities (4,382) (1,307)
AEEE Financing activities
BAFE Interest paid (1,821) (1,658)
IRITERPIIERIE Proceeds from bank borrowings 28,780 22,527
BERIBTTER Repayments of bank borrowings (30,274) (25,908)
HENTNASI D Principal elements
of lease payments (1,173) (1,214)
JEPERE e H S B Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests 100 -
A& EENFR A Net cash used in financing
R&FEE activities (4,388) (6,253)
REKRBELEEYIEIM,~  Net increase/(decrease) in cash
(GRiZL) 7358 and cash equivalents 3,301 (4,937)
FYREXITEEEY Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 1,879 6,904
REKRIBEEEYD Translation differences on
HEER cash and cash equivalents (6) (88)
FERAERIAEEEY Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 5,174 1,879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CrZERBIN FIESEEMBARKETT)

— R

China New Energy Limited (TA~/A 1)) 1242
ETABAR 200655281127 B35t
MR ARBRAT BHRH 722020
F7RISHAEERBERZMEBRAR

(T2 PRry) £ HEE MR 05013
Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 1ESe Z&A
Bl FEEEMEAEB LIRS R0
SROAE2A0GE o

RABRKREERAT HNB AT E
EEFEARKNE (B RERD
BRI OB TR IR OB ER
AT G AR

REMBEREUARET TARE) 2
5 N\RETRARRABRAWBAT @
MBI HThEEE R

1

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
GENERAL INFORMATION

China New Energy Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
Jersey on 2 May 2006 as a public company with limited liability
under the Jersey Companies Law and its shares have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 15 July 2020. The address of its registered
office is at 13 Castle Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 1ES. The
Company’s principal place of business is at Unit 2406, 24/F.,
Strand 50, 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated service in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries in the People’'s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
Yuan (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

2 FERHiTREZESTEMES 2  APPLICATION OF NEW AND

RS 2R (TR MR
S#A)
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BRI RR A7 R 5 22 R
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1 00 China New Energy Limited

AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“IFRSs”)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

IFRS 17 (including
the June 2020 and
December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction
Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two model Rules

Amendments to IAS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to IFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.



FEARBAN FRERRREMN/SARE T T

FE R s] B i AE 5] Bl PR Fh
iR e 28 (TR R B 5 3k

K5 Y £ LAY R AT R AN 5T TR
HMEBREER (&

B & 51 R F 15K B~ 7
WEERFEIEFHE2H (E5TEK) (&
5 R B 1L BRI B 5

FEFEERTFEEEREAZFER]
Ao BRE S ER BN W HBRENE
SEFEST LIEREFEBRER A

EEESHER —mRRAER &
FERMBRENEMEN—HZE
SEHRER UG ERAETEER
MHBRENTIRERERBZFMHR
KFFEHBRTE > IR G St BERE R B
ERe

ZEE]INEB  BMES KRN A E
REEEERZEE - HthEENE
T BETBERERLAIBER AT > I
FFAEREARS - EMMEERNERE
BN G BREN A SRNBEKX i —
BEREEREFERGHBRER
BRAEN T SREEATSHERER

BUFREA T R R B BB e m 825K [E L
EAMHE (TEEER) TREEET > L
REB—EERM AR TP EERER
12 BN ESHBERIRE R E AR —R
SEHRNENEHEMHRRESBE
Ko IBESR I EEIEEERRER -

ERZREETHEERYHRR KR
WHREAXE BREAEENIGSE
FEIRA M3 2P A S ST BER 2 I ER

RIBZFETPREIES] WA DIREL
BRI BERER EERIBE
BT BREEAERVER WED
TEENSFHHRER FTBEREHY
BIRRMEPIRE LB REEREH
BREWETRENEZGSHABERE
o

2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“lFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments fo IAS 1 and IFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance but has affected
the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out in Note
3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised information,
or information that only duplicates or summarises the
requirements of the IFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting
policy information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure the
material accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
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1 02 China New Energy Limited

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDINGS
(“lFRSS") (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of
IAS 28 Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture!

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Going concern assessment

The Group’s recorded a net loss of approximately
RMB126,723,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 and as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB10,837,000. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have taken the following
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve
the financial position of the Group:

(i) Major shareholders of the Group have confirmed
that they will provide continuing financial support
to the Group to enable it to continue as a going
concern and to settle its liabilities as and when
they fall due in the foreseeable future;

(ii) Actively negotiating with lenders to renew loans
and borrowings that have fallen due;

(iii) Implementing comprehensive policies to monitor
cash flows through cutting costs and capital
expenditure; and
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

(iv) The directors of the Company anticipate that the
Group will generate positive cash flows from its
operations in the foreseeable future.

Provided that these measures can be successfully
implemented by the Group to improve the liquidity of the
Group, the directors of the Company are satisfied that the
Group will be able to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. Moreover, the eventual outcome
of these measures cannot be estimated with reasonable
certainty. Hence there exist a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and that the Group may be unable to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an
associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate),
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with |AS 36 as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not
allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an

asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
Service.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to
each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected inputs
to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Revenue recognition on performance obligations for
contracts with custormers

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
source:

Provision of ethanol production system technology
integrated service

The Group is engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated service in the
ethanol fuel and alcoholic beverage industries. Revenue
is recognised when control over the asset has been
transferred to the customer. Control of the asset is
transferred over time if the Group’s performance does
not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. The equipment has
generally no alternative use for the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date due to contractual restrictions and
the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the
contract.
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3.2 EAEHEEREN @ 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

KEEFEHZ W (& Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
E A SR ENEFIIN 7 BT Revenue recognition on performance obligations for

(4 contracts with custorners (Continued)

IR B2 E R ITAR S AR Provision of ethanol production system technology

@ integrated service (Continued)

18 E R HIRE N P 8242 > Bl If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
WmiEER B TR BEAEEN recognised over the period of the contract by reference
EETNAHHRREIERR 0 to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that

performance obligation.

SERETTRASENEENTE The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
RENAEEATRENSEM performance obligation is measured based on the Group's
EHNB DA BB ERS efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
BREENEBRRAA LGOS obligation, that is, the actual costs incurred up to the end
TEEE M s TAR A S BILEE ) 0 of the Reporting Period as a percentage of total estimated

costs for each product in the contract.

rEBEBEEAHERRHEIZER The Group generally offers 12 months warranties for
HRIE - AEERRE IR its product. The Group recognised retention money
EEEE REAAEEIKENT as contract assets as the Group’s entitlement to the
BN B REEATEmAA R consideration was conditional on satisfactory completion
TE o RE SN RIEHAE R E of the warranty period. The retention money will be
RAEZREWERIE recognised as trade receivables at the end of warranty
period.

AR R ERBBERREHEE & The Group does not recognise the warranty service as a
SRT A ERFRERFHE—F separate performance obligation in a single contract as
NN EBEBEASE BEEH the warranty service is assurance type, and the Group's
RBEREEREENEREEE obligation to repair or replace faulty products under the
N E AR A B o warranty terms is recognised as a provision.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of IFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under IFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of offices and staff dormitories
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

° any lease payments made on or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserves (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that require a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those asset, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefit
Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restructuring costs.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another IFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset. A liability is recognised
as benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and
salaries and annual leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before income
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associate, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of each
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS
12 “Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences. Current
and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets,
including buildings that are held for production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.



4 A
17 o = |

BX

3.2

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

MBREREREERK
FEIBREN @

EXREFHEEREN (@)

EEEE

BIUWBEZ FIEEE

BUKWEZAEBBRIAFHZ
A ERMR AR R HEIE R
AIRFRERRS R - BAAR
BRFHRZ BT EEZ BTN
HiGst A BEI U BEGERE -
st A B B A B RS
HARRIRET » MR (E s 28R
FRHEREI R -BIWEZRR
EBRP]BFERZ B EERRAE
AR RETREREYR

ABBELFEICEE - #%H
PR EEN 2 FAEHIN E L A HESE
7S

EEEEMATIERHEES
B RIRERTE GRBERZ
LREER) EEZRNEEEET

BER T LSS |

. SERER B E LU RS
HEZ BAMTRIITIE

. EmEREERER
WHEELEE

. FEERHERTEE ;

3

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;
° the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
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development expenditure (Continued)

° how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

o the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or
group of CGUs.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-

use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUSs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUSs.
In allocating the impairments loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less the estimated
costs of completion and the costs necessary to make the
sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type
warranty obligations under the relevant contracts with
customers for provision of construction services are
recognised at the date of completion of the relevant
projects, at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the Group’s obligation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.
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EEMEHRRENE®RER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

BAREHHREN @ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EAEHEEREN @ 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

EHITA Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) ZHEE (B (@) Financial assets (Continued)
ERMEENDEREES Classification and subsequent measurement of
=405 financial assets (Continued)
FrEEMEMEEREY All other financial assets are subsequently
BATFEFABREE measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
R EMEE recognition of a financial asset the Group may
28 MRAKRELIEF irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
EEE  INIERRWEES in fair value of an equity investment in other
FERT R EERE3 comprehensive income if that equity investment
SREF A HFTE RS is neither held for trading nor contingent
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Bl 7S & [ BT A~ B 4R 3 228 business combination to which IFRS 3 Business
EREMEEREE5Z Combinations applies.
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MG —IB B E A 28X a financial asset that are required to be measured
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mZEMEEEEAEA at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
FEFAB@TE AR reduces an accounting mismatch.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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EEMEHRRENE®RER 3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

BAZHEREN @ CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EAGHBREN (B 3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

EHMITA Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) ZHEE & (a)  Financial assets (Continued)
e AR AT EST AEM Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
2EWENER TA
AT EF ARMEE Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
DR TEREHRE subsequently measured at fair value with gains
B ESE AATE and losses arising from changes in fair value
B ELEN WG NEIE recognised in other comprehensive income and
FEMEEWE AT accumulated in the financial assets at FVTOCI
WER AT EFAEMS reserves, and are not subject to impairment
WG EHEEFHEN assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not
REt BHBETRERT be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
HoEHERKKER equity investments, and will be transferred to
Rt Wm I GEEF T EE retained earnings.

MOEERm MEEE
ERSHRERF

7S£ B BN AR B BIRER ) Dividends from these investments in equity
WyR ZERRTARK instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
BERRENEmPRES the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
PRIERZ S PARETEUL [CIEE 2 established, unless the dividends clearly represent
KREMA - REFTAER a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
FREMIKAIEER ° Dividends are included in the other income line

item in profit or loss.

SREERERRIEEER Impairment of financial assets and other items
ISR S 2ER BB T subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
BEHHNEMIEE

REFERBEBIPEERE The Group performs impairment assessment
(TTafA=EEHE)) B under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model
EIRIRE PR 75 R S 2E R on financial assets (including trade and bills
B FH R ENSEE receivable, other receivables and bank balances),
(B35 B 5 RN IE K e which are subject to impairment assessment
I~ H BRI K under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
IRITERED) ETRBERTH 0 each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
FBRAE E BRSNSk since initial recognition.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
and bills receivables and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

D)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that result in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

i) Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

i) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9

(Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and
contract assets are considered on a collective
basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information
such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:

e Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e [External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9
(Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables and contract
assets, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the assets expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
either as financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of an
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the group are recognised at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3.2, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition

The Group’s revenue from provision of ethanol production system
technology integrated service in the ethanol fuel and alcoholic
beverage industries is recognised over time when the Group’s
performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. The Group cannot change or
substitute the product or redirect the product for another use as
the product is tailor made to each customer’s needs and thus the
product does not have an alternative use to the Group. However,
whether there is an enforceable right to payment depends on the
terms of contract and the interpretation of the applicable laws
that apply to the contract. Such determination requires significant
judgments. In assessing whether the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for its contracts, the Group has performed an
assessment on the contractual terms as well as any legislation
that could supplement or override those contractual terms, and
conducted an evaluation of any existence of circumstances
that could restrict the Group to enforce its right to payment for
specific performance. Management uses judgments to classify
contracts into those with right to payment and those without the
right. Management will reassess its judgments on a regular basis
to identify and evaluate the existence of any circumstances that
could affect the Group’s enforceable right to payment and the
implication on the accounting for contracts.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. The progress is measured
based on the Group'’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs
incurred up to the end of Reporting Period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each product in the contract. Significant
judgments and estimations are required in determining the
completeness of the estimated total costs and the accuracy
of progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation at the reporting date. Changes in cost estimates in future
periods can have effect on the Group’s revenue recognised. In
making the above estimations, the Group relies on past experience
and work of contractors and, if appropriate, surveyors.

The information about revenue is disclosed in note 5.
Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs

The Group capitalises costs incurred on development projects
as intangible assets when recognition criteria are met. Significant
judgment is involved in assessing whether the criteria set out
in the accounting standards required for capitalisation of such
costs have been met, including the likelihood of the project
delivering sufficient future economic benefits, and whether costs,
including employment costs, were directly attributable to relevant
projects. The Group starts to capitalise research and development
expenditure upon patent application. Notwithstanding that the
Group has used all available information to make this estimation
and judgment, inherent uncertainty exists and the capitalised
costs may have to be expensed if there are significant changes
from previous estimates.

—E=EER
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Capitalisation and amortisation of internal development costs
(Continued)

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The Group reviews the estimated useful
lives of the assets semi-annually. The amortisation expense for
future periods is adjusted if there are significant changes on the
useful lives from previous estimates.

Development cost not yet ready for use, which are capitalised as
intangible assets are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that
are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Impairment assessment requires
the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
both the carrying value of intangible assets and the impairment
charge in the period in which such estimate has been changed.

The information about internal development costs is disclosed in
note 17.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
Reporting Period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group calculate ECL for trade receivables and contract assets
on collective basis. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns. For the balance with significant amount and different risk
chararteric, the ECL will be assessed on individual basis.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables
for the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation for the loss rates for contract assets.

The ECL calculation is based on the estimated default rates and
loss given default applied to each category of debtor, adjusted
for forward-looking information. In assessing forward looking
factors, the Group considers factors including economic policies,
macroeconomic indicators, industry risks and changes in
customers’ conditions.

The assessment of the correlation among estimated default
rates, loss given default, forecast economic conditions and
ECL is a significant estimate. The amount of ECL is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s estimated default rates, loss given default and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECL on the
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note
36(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The information about the ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets is disclosed in note 36(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of intangible asset — internal
development costs

Intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated amortisation
and impairment, if any. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating
the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.

Based on the management’s assessment, impairment loss
of approximately RMB1,390,000 was reversed (2022:
RMB7,024,000 was recognised) on the intangible assets — internal
development costs. Please refer to note 17(a) for details of the
impairment test.

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets belonged to
Zhongke Tianyuan CGU

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has the following other non-
financial assets belonged to Zhongke Tianyuan CGU:

° property, plant and equipment
° intangible assets
° right-of-use assets
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U == 5. REVENUE
(i) FREHW=IAMA 0] Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers
EYabRFHER Types of goods or services
20234 20224
AR®T T AR¥TT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ISR Provision of construction services
- OB ERBREN — ethanol production system
FERE technology integrated
services
IR TE Ethanol fuel industries 18,562 97,390
BRI TZE Alcoholic beverage industries 20,349 17,915
HAth Others 2,915 1,549
4Est Total 41,826 117,354
TEAh) T EIEHBEE, 7 2B “Others” mainly refers to revenue generated from projects
THEAMBEEEENWE relating to medical and industry of ethyl acetate.
W FEARPFE - Timing of revenue recognition:
20234 20224
AR®TT AR®EF T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
FliSai! QOver time 39,868 115,541
PR At a point in time 1,958 1,813
41,826 117,354
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REVENUE (continued)

(ii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining unsatisfied

B 7B . performance obligation for contracts with customers:

20235 20224

ARBTT ARET T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’'000

—FR Within one year 150,605 12,449
—F M EEFBBmE More than one year but not more

than two years 82,723 13,373

233,328 25,822

DEVE R

EEEEREBEIEEERREBHIR
HEEEENE TBEERREES
DEBE RN EEENMIRE -T2
HERREEHHADBELRTIRITE
=o

AERTEN CEMERBERBIREHTE
REZEBEERFRMNGREIRT - BE
BREREHNESGRIES—ED
ETEZ UEHR T OENERIFL
ARRAL FABDRTEEDHER—
EASE 3 B8 AR IS VR BB M TR R o Wi
KERPRGMANEN B R ETERDECK
RiESTAMERITES RS

1 50 China New Energy Limited

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segment. The chief operating decision maker has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of ethanol
production system technology integrated services in the ethanol
fuel and alcoholic beverage industries. Management reviews the
operating results of the business of the Group as one segment to
make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the
executive directors of the Company regard that there is only one
operating segment which is used to make strategic decisions.
Revenue and profit before income tax are the measures reported
to the executive directors for the purpose of resources allocation
and performance assessment.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The amount of the Group’s revenue from external customers
broken down by location of the customers is shown in the table
below.

=8 PRC 40,930 112,141
i) Myanmar 249 4,908
B Russia 349 =
Efe Indonesia 126 197
HhBExR Other countries 172 108
#Est Total 41,826 117,354

120235 F20226F 12831 8 » N EERIFT
BIFRBEESINPE

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all of the non-current assets
of the Group were located in the PRC.
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6 SEHEH®@ 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
FREERFRMNEN Information about major customers
MEREFEAAERERGEION U LHE Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing
P over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

20234 20224
ARETT AR®EFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERA Customer A2 15,432 N/A T 5E FR
EFB Customer B 4,714 =
BRC? Customer C2 4,385 N/A 3B
Z/D! Customer D! N/A REH 26,144
BHEE! Customer E! N/A REHA 13,006
BAF Customer F! N/A RER 12,082
ERG! Customer G! N/A RiEF 11,875
24,531 63,107
: TEFEU R I AL AN S A £ 20235 12831 1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
H I AR AI10%I Lo revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.
g TEFEU R N AL AN S M A E 20224 12831 g The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
H I FEEABURERAI10%L o revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
7 Hllg A 7 OTHER INCOME
20234 20226
AR®BTT AR®F T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AELWA (FIEEG)) Subsidy income (note (i) 1,564 5,757
FEIEUA Sundry income = 3
1,564 5,760
@ R = EIE BN A AL B IR HAE (i) Subsidy income mainly represented government grants provided to the
B (EAS R RIS RE P EN T AR Group for its support and award to innovative and growth enterprises. The
[&h o 75 BE 4R Bh 23 B AR 1 Re A UL B B R ER 2 grants were unconditional and were recognised as income when received.
WA °

1 52 China New Energy Limited
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8 Hfth (5548) W= HEE 8 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS — NET

202345 20224
AR®TT N
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
(MEsIAR) IR EIIRER (Bad debts written off)/recovery of
bad debts (4,270) 1,450
PER AR JFEE Exchange losses, net (1,170) (773)
EEERERERL Impairment loss reversed/(recognised)
(FE3%) on intangible assets 1,390 (7,024)
(4,050) (6,347)
9 HMBWARBKZA 9  FINANCE INCOME AND COST
20234 20224
AR#ETT ARETT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BIFEIA Finance income
BIEREEENSRHEEN Interest income from financial assets
A BUA held for cash management
purposes 7 9
B Finance costs
IRITERAEAX Bank borrowings interest expense (1,698) (1,579)
HEaBERS Lease liabilities interest expense (130) (88)
(1,828) (1,667)
A — 28 Finance costs — net (1,821) (1,658)
—EC=FEFR
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BRFFISIRAIES 18 10 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
PRPTSIR AT &IIBRIUA T B IEER Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging
20234 20224
ARETT AR¥TT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BTAA (BIEEEHH) Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration)
T8 Fre T4 REMER Salaries, wages, bonuses and
other benefits 11,108 9,032
EETEIBHERR Contribution to pension scheme 1,920 1,439
13,028 10,471
B REBEEEEEAREG Less: Capitalised in intangible assets = (2,231)
13,028 8,240
STAMUTHEEE Amounts included in
—HEM AR — Cost of sales 3,545 1,061
—HE REHES — Selling and marketing expenses 3,147 3,088
—{THEREX — Administrative expenses 6,336 4,091
TRERBEM A Costs of engineering services 9,226 17,510
EAZE M2 HEK Equipment, materials, parts and
JAFESR consumables used 29,078 83,596
ME - RE M REITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 4,923 4,232
ERESETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,212 1,153
mEERHE Amortisation of intangible assets 1,850 2,198
mEEME Write-off of intangible assets 2,245 =
TELLT B ISR R E R 18 Impairment losses, net of reversal
(0FREEED - recognised on:
— B S REWFUE R E R EE — Trade and bills receivables 31,268 20,052
—EREE — Contract assets (1,499) (4,230)
—H U RIE — Other receivables 46,262 24,977
76,031 40,799
STATTHAZHEEE : Amounts included in administrative
expenses:
—EERBEXER — Legal and professional fees 1,570 3,995
— I BB A — Auditor's remuneration 1,086 945
— i EE AR A — Research and development costs 6,427 4,834

China New Energy Limited
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11 e (X)) /E% 11 INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT
202345 20224
AR®TT AR¥ETT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BIHAFRIA . Current tax:
R ZEPTEHR PRC Enterprise Income Tax = -
IEIEFR1SR FIsD) Deferred income tax (expense)/credit (16,323) 5,764
Frigin (B I8 48%8 Total income tax (expense)/credit (16,323) 5,764

ERMER

REBEFERMARE SERERERN
BEE2BEBBTEN IU8.25% M K&
Mo MiBE2E B AT 2 L16.5%89
DRSO

MR AEENBALIFRNEBEEN
BREER RLERERARBAFLEE
(20224F : 4®) ©

BINFRIFIR

KABIRIRIOIF ZFAE A BAEER
EEMMIIAARBIRAS - SIRFEM
B ARARBRIEEAERR Bl AE
B IEETE BPTEME (19619F) (&
) MENEmMBREEERALEEE
B oA NBREAEMNMENMNERT
D2

Hong Kong profits tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity is taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong
(2022: Nil).

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in Jersey as a public company
with limited liability under the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. The
Company is regarded as resident for tax purposes in Jersey and
on the basis that the Group is neither a financial services group
nor a utility group for the purposes of the Income Tax (Jersey)
Law 1961, as amended. The Company is subject to income tax in
Jersey at a rate of zero per cent.

“EI=FER
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11

INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT (Continued)

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of the operations
of its subsidiaries in mainland China has been calculated at the
applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable profits for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The enterprise income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in mainland China is 25% according to the Enterprise
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “EIT
Law”) effective on 1 January 2008 except Guangdong Zhongke
Tianyuan New Energy Science and Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongke Tianyuan”), which was qualified as “High and New
Technology Enterprise” in 2016 and renewed in December 2019
and 2022 with a validity period of three years and was entitled to
a preferential income tax rate of 15% on its estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of
the PRC and effective from 2008 onwards, enterprises engaged
in research and development activities are entitled to claim
an additional tax deduction amounting to 50% of the qualified
research and development expenses incurred in determining its
assessable tax profits for that year. The additional tax deduction
has been increased from 50% of the qualified research and
development expenses to 75%, effective from 2018 to 2020,
according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by the State
Tax Bureau of the PRC in September 2018 (“Super Deduction”).
Effective from 2021 onwards, the additional tax deduction
rate of the qualified research and development expenses for
manufacturing enterprises has been increased from 75% to
100%, according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by
the State Tax Bureau of the PRC in March 2021.
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Frigi (BsZ) iE% @ 11 INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT (Continued)

P EFENARER PRC withholding income tax

RIBMZEFRERIE > B2008F181H#E According to the EIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, a
EFPEIRINERERABNFEREA withholding tax of 10% will be levied on the immediate holding
BB/ 2008F1 81 H & BREMIFEE IR companies outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare
BE BB i R EIR I E IR RS A B dividend out of profits earned after 1 January 2008.

10%FEI0H o

FeEmkEMEERGEERAFRME The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss

WS RIS IERRVEERIO T ¢

before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

20234 20224
ARETT ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FRAG RIS 1R Loss before tax (110,400) (56,721)
BEATEMERETEN Tax at the applicable enterprise
FRIE 1 25% (20224 : 25%) income tax rate: 25% (2022: 25%) (27,600) (14,180)
WEBABMEEENTE Effect of different tax rates
of subsidiaries 11,345 6,264
FERABIELERIBEERN Effect of tax losses and temporary
MRIBEGIERERERENZE difference not recognised
as deferred tax assets 32,202 1,198
FLRUW B RS AelHRRE  Expenses not deductible for
tax purposes 1,349 1,317
B EE ST B RV AR Super deduction of research and
development expenditure (973) (363)
16,323 (5,764)
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B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

12 EERTEFTHAESISE 12 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS
RIFER LR REBABEHIRE Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
NEREERTETHRASMESWT : disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

HE2023F 12831 HIEFEREE0IE The remuneration of each director for the year ended
SEHNT 31 December 2023 is set out as follows:
IE e
TEAREM &EEHE
ik &7 YR #Bst
AREFRT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Salaries,

wages,  Contribution
bonuses and to pension

Fees other benefits scheme Total
% Name RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HiTES Executive directors
REHREE Mr. Yu Weijun - 388 - 388
BIRELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing = 307 43 350
BiEBTES Independent non-executive directors
Richard Antony Bennettft 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 176 - - 176
BRERE LA Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 109 = = 109
"BXRYT Ms. Wong Mei Ling
(R2023E3815HEZE D) (appointed on 15 March 2023) 86 = = 86
371 695 43 1,109
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(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

12 EERTEFTHAESIMSE 12 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

€= EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
HE2022F12831HIEFES S EMN The remuneration of each director for the year ended
EHIWT 31 December 2022 is set out as follows:
IE Fee
TEAREM  BEEZEHE
ik & B 4ozt
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Salaries,

wages, Contribution
bonuses and to pension

Fees  other benefits scheme Total
e Name RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BIES Executive directors
RERERE Mr. Yu Weijun - 387 - 387
EIRELE Mr. Tang Zhaoxing = 307 43 350
BiERITES Independent non-executive directors
Richard Antony Bennettdc 4 Mr. Richard Antony Bennett 167 3 - 170
[T Mr. Chan Shing Fat Heron 104 29 = 133
B LEE Mr. Chan Siu Shan Sam
(742022128160 F#1D) (refired on 16 December 2022) 9 43 = 142
370 769 43 1,182
AT EEME T EARE The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
BIERNE M AEBREFFIZEIRFEH their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
< o the Company and the Group.
EHIRREBIIIERITESM e AR S The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
VEANA B ESRENIRFSEENS © above were for their services as directors of the Company.
FAMEEEEENEYNEERETM There was no arrangement under which the directors waived or
e Ze gk o agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.
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B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

13 {EE %M 13 EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
FroAEERASREHMALTEIE2 The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
BERNBESE (2022F 1 2%ESE) » Hif include 2 directors (2022: 2 directors) of the Company, details of
EMEE 1B & _EXXMIEE12 e ST F 5k T34 whose emoluments are set out in note 12 above. The emoluments
(20226F : 3%) ATHOFBIOT - paid to the remaining 3 (2022: 3) individuals are as follows:
20234 20224
AR®T T AR¥TT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE #e& Tt Salaries, wages, bonuses
Hhras) and other benefits 853 839
BETEIPHER Contribution to pension scheme 113 111
966 950
REEF T ATBFBNER U TEE - The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group fell

within the following bands:

20234 20224
2023 2022
FhNEE Emolument bands
2= %] 000,000 7T Nil to HKD1,000,000
(+HBE7 AR 15905,0007T) (equivalent to RMB905,000)
(20224 : AR 1859,0007T) (2022: RMB859,000) 3 3
14 KRR 14 DIVIDENDS
KR2023%F > B m A A B & @A IR EK No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary
I~ EIRFEMEARE - BIRSHAARIE shareholders of the Company during 2023, nor has any dividend
INEREKMEAIRR S (20224 © #8) © been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RBERIPL FALTEBL A ARET )
BE1E 15

(@ EBRELXEHR €))

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

SREAGEEREARE
BEAEEFEBEANARK
126,594,0007¢ (20224 : AR
50,525,0007T) K& FREE R
NINHESE198580,758,8988% (2022
£ 1 589,758,898%) 5t &

The computation of the basic loss per share amount are
based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately RMB126,594,000 (2022:
RMB50,525,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 589,758,898 (2022: 589,758,898)
during the year.

(b) SREEEE (b)  Diluted loss per share
B 20235 2022412831 H LE
FE - sREEEEEGREX
AR RRARAREEL
mOBTETEER-

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
computation of diluted loss per share were the same as
the basic loss per share as there were no potential ordinary
shares outstanding during the years.

ME-BEKRSZE 16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
1BF  HARE 210 HE 4zt
ARETT AR®ETRT AREBTR ARETRT ARETT
Office Motor
Buildings  equipment  Machinery vehicles Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
D CosT
20221818 At 1 January 2022 5772 825 24992 7903 39,492
"B Additions - 22 17 - 39
HE Disposals = = (965) - (965)
12022128311 At 31 December 2022 5772 847 24,044 7,903 38,566
RE Additions - 31 4,272 - 4,303
1R2023F12831H At 31 December 2023 5772 878 28,316 7903 42,869
BEHTE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
RR20224F1R1H At 1 January 2022 4,666 610 10,373 6,376 22,025
FREE Provided for the year 102 60 3626 444 4,232
HE Disposals = - ) - )
120228128311 At 31 December 2022 4,768 670 13,997 6,820 26,255
FREE Provided for the year 102 48 4,367 406 4,923
12023128318 At 31 December 2023 4,870 718 18,364 7,226 31,178
IRE(E CARRYING VALUES
1R20235F12H31H At 31 December 2023 902 160 9,952 677 11,691
120228128311 At 31 December 2022 1,004 177 10,047 1,083 12311
—EC=FEFR
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B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

16 ME -KBERRHE @

ARREHE BB SR EE BN
RO B E Kok e < BREIMEAN T

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment belonging

to each CGU for impairment assessment purpose are as follows:

20234 20224
ARETT ARETTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
P Analysed into:
RRIXITTIREEL B Zhongke Tianyuan CGU (Note 17)
(MizE17) 10,854 11,051

TERBERESE  RAEMGS IR
FH @) pBERA OFRERERE

18 :

2251 5% 104
A 5E10%F
N4 3ELF
55 206F

BEENTREBERIEAFHESRS
HARE TS REBERRE-

StAGREERRIYE  BERREN

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:

Machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Office equipment 3-b years
Buildings 20 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged

FENT to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:
20235 20224
AR®BTT ARET T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
THMAX Administrative expenses 414 456
5 & A Cost of sales 4,475 3,734
THE R EHRAY Selling and marketing expenses 34 42
4,923 4,232

11202312831 HEREAREA A AR
902,0007T (20224F : A R ¥1,004,0007T)
HNIEF BRI EAREBERIIER S
(Ff$5£30) ©
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Buildings with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB902,000 (2022: RMB1,004,000) as at 31 December 2023
were pledged as collateral for the Group'’s borrowings (Note 30).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17 BRE2EE 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
BITRE%

E BN LR iR RENE a5t
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR

Self-
Computer  developed Development
software patents  Trademarks costs Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(D% COST
202241811 At 1 January 2022 60 17,909 1,374 13,406 32,749
hE Additions - - - 2,231 2,231
sEREaR| Transfer to patents = 4113 = (4,113) =
120226128311 At 31 December 2022 60 22,022 1,374 11,524 34,980
HE Additions - - - 79 79
Hiss Write-off - - - (5,748) (5,748)
BREE Transfer to patents = 2281 = (2,281) =
120235128315 At 31 December 2023 60 24,303 1,374 3,574 29,311
3K AMORTISATION
RR2022%181H At 1 January 2022 60 4,794 434 - 5,283
FRERE Provided for the year = 2,061 137 = 2,198
1R20226E 128318 At 31 December 2022 60 6,855 571 - 7,486
FREE Provided for the year = 1,713 137 = 1,850
RR2023%12831H At 31 December 2023 60 8,568 708 - 9,336
AfE IMPAIRMENT
202241818 At 1 January 2022 = = = = =
FNRE Impairment for the year = = = 7,024 7,024
120226128311 At 31 December 2022 - - - 7,024 7,024
F RS Write-off for the year = = = (3,503) (3,503)
FEREL Write-back for the year = = = (1,390) (1,390)
120235128318 At 31 December 2023 - - - 2,131 2,131
REfE CARRYING VALUES
RR2023% 128311 At 31 December 2023 - 15,735 666 1,443 17,844
120226128311 At 31 December 2022 - 15,167 803 4,500 20,470

BRETGEHENRSIReESESE M The carrying amount of intangible assets belonging to each CGU for

NEFSEREENT : impairment assessment purpose are as follows:
20234 20224
ARBFT ARBT T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
DITA Analysed into:
PRRTTIREELEEN Zhongke Tianyuan CGU 17,844 20,470

B E2023F H2022F12H31HIEEE %= During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, certain research
FHRIEE B BRI M AT projects were terminated and the related development costs were fully
SiEH written off.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

17 BEREE ®

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17

AEEREMB R REBREBEEE
MR IR E AR RER R OB
EEFHREELERMBEME -AEER
SHRFERBESCAERE -BE
2023F R2022F 12A31H IEFE AT 8
TR RMAINEM A A EEEN KA
HEACHEN A B ERERE TR
LEH AR (BEFRELRER
A BEERA 73 AR 158,235,0007T

(2022%F : AEH57,065,0007T) °

AEBFEAEAEN TR #HER
FHERNETLEE | BERAFRIPIE
RERNREBEEER IR EEERNBEE
REEREITIEE - R KR BTTRENER]
BRIMERFEHRNIRIB AR AR ROERE

=o
BRAE M 106
G 105
B1TREER 10204

B EENBEF AR RERIEE

PUASRATERSE ©
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group incurred development costs on its research and
development projects for enhancing and upgrading its alcohol and
ethanol production technology, and expanding the business scope
of alcohol and ethanol production. The Group starts to capitalise
development costs upon patent application. During the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, some of the self-developed
technologies were successfully registered as patents of the Group
and the related capitalised development costs were transferred
to self-developed patents of the Group. The total expenditure on
research and development, including capitalised and expensed
costs for the year amounted to approximately RMBS8,235,000
(2022: RMB7,065,000).

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life
using the straight-line method over the following periods: The
useful life of computer software is estimated based on the asset’s
conditions and management’s past experience. The useful
life of trademarks and self-developed patents is determined in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.

Computer software 10 years
Trademarks 10 years
Self-developed patents 10-20 years

Amortisation of the intangible assets is included in cost of
sales and administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statements.
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17 BEREE®

(a)

(b)

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

HE2023F128A318LEE (@  Impairment tests for Zhongke Tianyuan CGU for the year
PRXTREELEMZEE ended 31 December 2023
A
BN R XTI EE B R In view of significant loss incurred by Zhongke Tianyuan
Y EAEB AT EEHES CGU, the directors of the Company performed
EXBAUCIERFBSEETR impairment assessment on the non-current assets of
BifE o PR KXTIREEL BN the CGU. Zhongke Tianyuan CGU mainly comprises
TEAEARE T EERBAT of Zhongke Tianyuan and its subsidiaries, which are
(ENtEAZEMRE KB engaged in the provision of ethanol production system
RTHIBM 7 B4 E RS RHITE technology integrated services in the ethanol fuel and
SR B AEEH —FH alcoholic beverage industries and represented the
EAKE R RIS ELE B whole of the only one reportable segment of the Group.
202312831 H 2 Al o448 The recoverable amount of Zhongke Tianyuan CGU
TLiRIERE TS IEE EREER as at 31 December 2023 has been determined to be
NE] (BEETE) T2 BE¥GE approximately RMB57,624,000 based on the value-in-
CIEREBEIEETAN AR use calculation with reference to a professional valuation
57,624,000 ° B BEEstE performed by Access Partner Professional Services
HEENSIEE I RESF Limited (“Access Partner”). That value-in-use calculations
W EEE B Raf i ofE use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
FARREIAEIER A155% « 183 approved by management covering a period of 5 years.
BIEBAXRE - ERNHEAREK The pre-tax discount rate used was 15.5%. Management
HETRREHEEEEEI determined the budgeted revenue and costs based on
RN o Wi e B =z > HBiBhE past performance and new contracts obtained, and its
HzIRERENEREEIEE expectations for the market development. The cash flows
K3 0% LT o Z I ER K IIES beyond five years have been extrapolated using a steady
EEBMNERKLHTERR Y E 3.0% growth rate for revenue and expenses respectively.
HAE B 2R o LSRE T » #2023 The growth rate reflected the long-term growth rate for
FI12B31HIEEE  BREGRK the country in which the entity of the CGU operated. As
THESESHEIMNYE -BREE a result of the impairment assessment, no impairment
LE ETEERERAESER loss had been recognised in respect of the property, plant
R AR SIEBl A » it and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
AR AR SIB ] SE B FNER in relation to Zhongke Tianyuan CGU during the year
AeENMZIESESBMMNER ended 31 December 2023. Management believes that any
([BEBBE U [E % EE reasonably possible change in any of above assumptions
would not cause the carrying amount of this CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount of this CGU.
8 E2022F 128318 LLFE (b) Impairment tests for development costs not yet available
i# =& B Eh F3 B9 B 2% B 4 R (B R for use for the year ended 31 December 2022
=
TEREF R0 BB RIBEEE A The following table sets out the key assumptions for
BEAENEERR : impairment tests for development costs not yet available
for use:
20224
2022
W FIZ2 R Z(%) Revenue annual growth rate (%) 5
TEEEF(%) Budgeted gross profit (%) 14
EHA% E (%) Long term growth rate (%) 2
MATERER R (%) Pre-tax discount rate (%) 16.9
—E_CFEFR
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B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17 BEREE ®

(b) EZF2022F12H31HIFE
i) 5K BT B A B9 A 3% R A SR (E R
# (@)

EEEER THEENEE X
BEERRIEE

. W IR R (%): LETA
ARBSRLERN R THEE

R

. FREEN(%): BERENE
MpBERFEREEREY
ARIRAITEHA °

J FEETHX  REEE
BANRAREMZA - H
BN EEBRBEERKR
STEBIATRAS o WA
ZRMmEEREERI
PRI 2N
ZAEAY

. R RR(%): 1L
POONETRRERREIINR SR
EMEFIERE L
KETRIREPRETRA—
e

. MANREIRE (%) RIRERE

HICSErER T2 M E
RS ERE
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b)

Impairment tests for development costs not yet
available for use for the year ended 31 December 2022
(Continued)

Management has determined the values assigned to each
of the above key assumptions as follows:

o Revenue annual growth rate (%): Average annual
growth rate of comparable patents over the five-
year forecast period.

° Budgeted gross profit (%): Based on past
performance of comparable patents and
management’s expectations for the future.

° Annual capital expenditure: Expected cash costs
in the cash generating unit. This is based on
the historical experience of management, and
the planned refurbishment expenditure. No
incremental revenue or cost savings are assumed
in the value-in-use model as a result of this
expenditure.

° Long term growth rate (%): This is the weighted
average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows
beyond the budget period. The rates are consistent
with forecasts included in industry reports.

° Pre-tax discount rate (%): Reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant industries and the countries
in which they operate.



FEARBAN FRERRREMN/SARE T T

BETEE @

(c) B E2023F12H31HLILLEFE
REAXEIEZRRED

BE2023F12A31ALLFE &
EEE D B EMERMEMTIE
BAER > Ri%_E S (a)Fritt 28
BERE & LEEREZ AR
49 AR H1,390,00070 0]
WERREEEF] o

B Yt [o] & B8 15 74 BE 85 AR A< B9 BR
HE AABEEKREEEEE
BRIFEFEREMNESETRE
8 WA E=2022F 12831
HIEFENREBENARE
7,024,0007¢ o B ERBIBNEE T
ETNHREEWANER FFHE
RUE /D B FE2022412831H L
FE  AEBNEREENREIE
[BTEHRMEEERIB R E

18 EHEEE

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(c)

Changes in key assumptions used in impairment testing
for the year ended 31 December 2023

During the year ended 31 December 2023, part of the
self-developed technologies are successfully registered
as patents of the Group and based on the impairment
test as mentioned in (a) above, the related development
costs which were impaired in prior year of approximately
RMB1,390,000 are write-back and transferred to patents.

The recoverable amount is below the carrying amount of
the development costs. The directors and management of
the Company have considered and assessed reasonably
possible changes for the key assumptions and an
impairment loss of approximately RMB7,024,000 was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The impairment loss arose is mainly due to decrease in
the budgeted revenue and budgeted net profit, as the
actual performance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 was underperformed relative to the
management expectations.

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

FHE L HEmE
biz0)) (B &£ i) st
AR¥TT ARETFIT AR¥TT

Leasehold Leased

lands properties
(Note (7)) (Note (i) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1R2022%F1H1H At 1 January 2022 2,359 1,660 4,019
TEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,070) (1,153)
12022%12H831H At 31 December 2022 2,276 590 2,866
E Additions - 5,899 5,899
TEER Depreciation charge (83) (1,129) (1,212)
1220235 12H31H At 31 December 2023 2,193 5,360 7,553

_EC-FEFR
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18 FHEEE @ 18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)
BRREL . BENSREEEEA The carrying amount of right-of-use assets belonging to each CGU
HERAEEEZREEWNT for impairment assessment purpose are as follows:
202345 20224
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
DA Analysed into:
FPRIXTTIREEL BN Zhongke Tianyuan CGU (Note 17)
(MI5%17) 7,553 2,866
202345 20224
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
FERX Interest expense
Gt AR TSR AN) (included in finance cost) 129 83
ERREYXEEHHEERNRSZ  Expense relating to short-term leases
Gt AITERS) in respect of leased properties
(included in administrative
expenses) 31 141
MHERE ML AEZE Total cash outflow for leases 1,127 1,371
HiaE : Notes:
0] 15 7K £ [E A h B 15 E B HFE & 1 H HY () It represents the Group's ownership interests on leasehold land held for
B BRI AR FHEAA10250 own use in the PRC, with remaining lease term of between 10 and 50
ZFo years.
(i) REEE  KEF GBS EHERNTE (i) For both years, the Group leases offices and staff dormitories for its

RETES AT U HESAHIBLER R
A 1E5IF (20224F © 1254F) » WHARK
AR IR o B E TR R s A T AT IS
HIRRER A EEEHSAINERLE
TE B B HVBITEAIBIHAIR °

(i) F20235F12/531 HAR ETAE (B4 # N E 15 (i)
2,193,0007T (20224 | A R #2,276,000
7T) B fEIE B = BRI 25 K E B E N
B9 (H15£30) °
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operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 to 5
years (2022: 1 to 5 years) without extension and termination options. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Right-of-use assets with a total carrying amount of approximately
RMB2 193,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB2,276,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (Note 30).
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FribBF S AT R 19 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE
20235 20224
ARKTFT AER¥T T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FELEHIEE Unlisted investment:
T B EFERRE Share of net assets 53,981 =

TRITRTEEBEZECHEATE
ko ZEHENDRARE AN GRS/
BWREPLE - B EREERR
EERHBREENBADYBREE

The following table shows information of associates that are
material to the Group. These associates are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method. The
summarised financial information presented is based on the IFRSs

B

= WNSIEY

Name of associate

financial statements of the associate:

RESTHREMEMRRBRAE (HhRHEM)

FEEEMI : R

B InAvAEIER

Principal place of business/ The PRC
country of incorporation

FEEF

Principal activiti

Heilongjiang Zhongke Green Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongke Green”)

EERMERAERREEAMEN
ies : Production and sales of edible alcohol and high protein feed.

1220235 8H31H  ARABNWEE F AT
BERPRRITHERBRARAF (T
MRt BAERERNELIE =7
MoK R PRAEMET LB % (1%
2023F10R 18R AT T #TE) * B8
B AR H53,000,0007T588 RRHE AR
TERY25.38% © IIL5h s M E IR IR A IR
B ABBRA L I RRAEMETREN
It ARE R AR M EARAERTL%
ZEDEFEN LHWIEE > PRXTT
R FER D BT PR M B R E
8924.54%J275.46% (T5R8E 1) ©

On 31 August 2023, Guangdong Zhongke Tianyuan New Energy
Science and Technology Co., Ltd (“Zhongke Tianyuan”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (as supplemented in the Supplemental Agreement
dated 18 October 2023) with Mr. Lin Yongmin and Zhongke
Green, independent third parties not connected with the Group to
subscribe for 25.38% of the equity interests in Zhongke Green by
injecting RMB53,000,000. In addition, Mr. Lin shall purchase the
equity interest held by an existing equity interest holder, Ms. Xia
Xiaohong, in Zhongke Green, amounting to 1% of the entire equity
interest in Zhongke Green. Immediately following the Subscriptions
and the said acquisition, Zhongke Tianyuan and Mr. Lin shall hold
approximately 24.54% and 75.46% of the entire equity interest of
Zhongke Green (the “Subscription Agreement”).

“EI=FER
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FRiGEE AT #E = @ 19 INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

RIERB IR PR RTEBEBEEE Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, Zhongke Tianyuan shall

RS MR R EE R R TE B m g UL settle the subscription price of RMB53,000,000 to Zhongke Green

REMBFIE AR EMERREE by offsetting the account receivable due from Zhongke Green as

A 53,000,000t IR B » BTER a result of a construction project previously engaged by Zhongke

S EIBSERRESENEE AH Green, and the settlement of the subscription price has been
completed upon completion of the transaction.

PRI R IT R M E BN BB L0 Zhongke Tianyuan and Mr. Lin have completed the transaction
s E immediately following the entering into of the Subscription
Agreement.

20234
2023
HEAEERB DL % of ownership interests 24.54%
AR®TT
RMB’000
R128318 : At 31 December:
EREEE Non-current assets 254,228
MBNEE Current assets 89,355
JFFREaE Non-current liabilities =
mENAE Current liabilities (123,610)
EEFE Net assets 219,973
EEEEESEMRE Group'’s share of net assets 53,981
EEERIREE Carrying amount of Group's interests 53,981
2023118120 GREERED & Period from 12 November 2023 (date of subscription) to
2023F12H31HHAR 31 December 2023
SRR Revenue 151,603
BRI AT EF Profit before tax 3,999
Hihemiias Other comprehensive income =
2HE W mAREE Total comprehensive income 3,999
ST BN Bt = B B A Dividends received from associate =

1 7 O China New Energy Limited
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FEARBAN FRERRREMN/SARE T T

BRATESARMEER 20

mAEREE

TR2023F F20225F 12331 B > AEEHRE
P—MER BBV EH AT
XEPEEMMEARATRI2.08%M
8 W FEE  BASE B AI#IE
AR FESR RN R AT EF AR
themEm (A THES ARMEER
1) S RRE A D ARRERT o L R SRER IR
BREAEERRIEDEERIEE-

NNBEERA > R2023F12831H
HRAROFEEMRERRATEE
2023F12A31H L FEHAMAEER
MEEAEEBREFRESRE AL i
B E2023F 12831 B ILFERIBATE
E18 0 GOMIRIE) A AR2,126,0007T
(2022£F 1 AR #1,668,0007T) » UETBH
MORZILE Z BRTE{E

BEREEATEFMBTEARERVER
I HYEE36(C) °

BATESARMEERENERMEE
MAR®EHE

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCE ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group invested in 2.08%
equity interests in an unlisted company incorporated in the PRC,
Inner Mongolia Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd., which is not
held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at
initial recognition to recognise in the financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") category. This is
a strategic investment and the Group considers this classification
to be more relevant.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company as at 31 December
2023, Inner Mongolia Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. is still
unable to generate cash flows to the Group due to no operation
had been launched during the year ended 31 December
2023. Hence, fair value loss, (net of tax) of approximately
RMB2,126,000 (2022: RMB1,668,000) was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to fully write down the carrying
amount of the investment.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value is provided in Note 36(c).

The financial assets at FVTOCI are denominated in RMB.

=8 21 INVENTORIES

20234 20224
AR®T T AR®EFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
[FEAA# Raw materials 4,536 4,762
EN G Finished goods 1,850 585
TAETMHER S Work-in-progress for standard parts 5,436 4,001
11,822 9,348

—EC=FEFR
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AR EMEIRAR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

22 BEFEWIHIEREUWER 22 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

202345 20224
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRERFIBE-E=hH Trade receivables — third parties 104,365 113,185
FEU =% Bill receivables 3,660 2,200
108,025 115,385

B BREVGRIEREWEZYE  Less: Allowance for credit losses of
EERIEEME trade and bills receivables (73,632) (42,364)
BEEWRIEREWEIESEEE  Trade and bills receivables — net 34,393 73,021

RIREZ QAN E S BUTREREWRE
& (NERRERR) RBRESDATINT

An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on invoice
date (net of impairment losses) is as follows:

202345 20224

ARBTT AR®FT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

R—ER Within one year 33,391 24,961
—EWE One to two years 1,002 7,737
“E=£F Two to three years - 40,323
34,393 73,021

2023 K2022F12A31 H » B Z EWGR
ERERRBUARBSHE

120235 12831H » £ AR #2,120,00075
(20224 : AR#700,0007T) FEWEIEE
IR E R A EBIRITIERRATIE R

ERE 5 BUGER ERE R R E G
B IE B HTEE36(b) ©

1 72 China New Energy Limited

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, trade and bills receivables
are denominated in RMB.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately RMB2,120,000 of bill
receivables (2022: RMB700,000) was pledged as security for the
Group’s bank borrowings.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables are
set out in Note 36(b).
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FEARBAN FRERRREMN/SARE T T

iR e TSR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

HtEWHIERFEHRIE 23 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

HAEWRURE R FENRIEF IR T -

Details of other receivables and prepayments are as follows:

20235 20224
AREBTT AREEFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEUS RAR: 75 78 (M 5EG)) Amounts due from related parties
(note (i) 16 42
RITFEERAREERBRME  Amounts due from directors related to
FHEIMEWEEFRIE the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme 416 389
EITEE XN AREEMBEBIRME  Amounts due from employees related
BTN E S RIE to the exercise of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme 1,986 1,854
BRI R R FOBRB RN 25 Prepayment for equipment of
BEENREEMMRIE ethanol fuel construction and
(&) alcoholic beverage construction
projects (note (ii)) 12,331 30,856
FEWIZ S > 7328 (MI5EGi) Deposits receivables, net (note (iii) 494 46,842
Hith > 388 Others, net 1,115 1,074
16,358 81,057

0] ZERER TR RERIREREE @
(i) Z LRI CERIRE R ROBRBREHER (ii)

The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The amounts represent the prepayment for equipment for use in the

(iif)

RENRBRNRE AR RERTR
R A E A

BEZeTERERERBITISREMA
AEEPEEMRKRERRBZMNHN
FAMTRIR > 73 AR 178,000,0007T > &5
FBEX AR #78,000,0007T (20224 © A
R #578,000,0007t » ReHBEIARE
31,158,00070) > WA IEE R TRERIE © B
FACOVID-19% B 7/ & > THE 10202312331
B RIE T o & F2023F12H31H L FE
TSR {ERT1E49 A\ K 1546,842,0007T (2022
F 1 AR523,303,0007T) °

(iif)

ethanol fuel construction and alcoholic beverage construction projects
which the Group has contracted with the customers, which will be
recognised as cost of sales when the equipment is delivered and installed.

Deposits receivables mainly represents up-front payments for guaranteeing
performance of the contracts to Inner Mongolia Zhongneng Biological
Technology Co., Ltd. of RMB78,000,000 with accumulated impairment of
approximately RMB78,000,000 (2022: RMB78,000,000 with accumulated
impairment of approximately RMB31,158,000) which will be returned upon
the project completes. Due to the COVID-19 epidemic impacts, the projects
were not yet completed as at 31 December 2023. An impairment loss of
approximately RMB46,842,000 was recognised during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB23,303,000).

—E=EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

23 H{hFEWRFHIERTE([HRIE 23 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

(&)

HAtE W IR R TR RIRIR L T & ¥t

(Continued)

Other receivables and prepayments are denominated in:

=
20234 20224F
ARETT AE¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR RMB 15,839 78,306
HEE GBP 519 2,751
16,358 81,057

HAE WA Z R BT I E I M

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out

36(b) ° in Note 36(b).
24 ERIEE 24 CONTRACT ASSETS

20235 20224

ARETT AER®TFIT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

HERAABFRAN Contract assets relating to

EREE construction contracts 186,900 285,437
B R R Less: Loss allowance (20,066) (21,565)
EREE—F5 Contract assets — net 166,834 263,872

20221818 EREENETRNIR/A
E15264,364,0007T ©

GREETZHEAERWEEEMMA
METREARNENENER RAS
ERAREFN AR AL EBREKRIEM
T ER RN RAERGR GREE
REBREE SRR AN AEER
HRHEREEBHANRZECREE
B WAEERESERRBEE

1 74 China New Energy Limited

As at 1 January 2022, contract assets amounted to approximately
RMB264,864,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group'’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future performance. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. The Group classifies these contract assets
as current because the Group expects to realise them in its normal

operating cycle.



24

25

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

SREE ® 24 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)
KEE—RKIMSBEIORNERIBERE The Group typically agrees to a retention period of one year after
RERIBE MBS —FENRE the completion of construction project for 5% to 10% of the
HRAEEZEZRENREEREUR contract value. This amount is included in contract assets until the
RAEENTEESIERERIL > 1A B end of the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to this final
RIEStACREE BEERBPERS payment is conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
1FoR2023F12831H st AGEEER inspection. At 31 December 2023, the retention receivables (net
FEWRE & (ORREERE A AR of loss allowance) included in the contract assets amounted to
1,245,0007T (20224 : AR #3,221,000 approximately RMB1,245,000 (2022: RMB3,221,000).
7o) ©
REFH BRI HIEE36(D) © Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 36(b).
IRITHEERRIRE 25 BANK BALANCES AND CASH
20234 20224
ARETT N
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRTTRFHERS Cash at bank and on hand 5,174 1,879
SRITAEERIZN F0.02%ZE030% (20224 Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
002%Z030%) BIHIZH| =T B o 0.02% to0 0.30% (2022: 0.02% to 0.30%).
RITRFEIREIHUATEEHE - Cash at banks and on hand were denominated in:
20234 20224F
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Wizt RMB (Note) 5,096 1,626
BT HKD 11 167
H§E GBP 30 33
£t usD 32 48
Hthaik Other currencies 5 5
5,174 1,879
st - Note:

HN B MR 3 S IR T B S B E R

SRAITREE R DIRIFIRT A R (S
SHEERHIEE36(0)

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances and pledged
bank deposits are set out in Note 36(b).

—E=EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

26 BHEAMRIE

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

26 TRADE PAYABLES

202345 20224

AR®BTT AR®EF T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

B 5 ENmIA Trade payables 71,005 98,275

20235 K220228F 12831 H » iR 3%
B B 5 FE (SR ERBREE DA T

=
I~

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of trade
payables based on invoice date was as follows:

20234 20224

AR®EFT AR®TFIT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

DR —& less than one year 9,317 23,235
1ZE24F 1-2 years 15,995 54,066
2FE3FE 2-3 years 28,336 8,504
IFEL L over 3 years 17,357 12,470
71,005 98,275

REBN2023F K2022F12H31HN E

BENTRANUAREE-

27 HthE(RIE

were denominated in RMB.

27 OTHER PAYABLES

The Group's trade payables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

20234 20224
ARETT AR®ETFIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
FE(TIZ(ER VAT payable 36,123 61,020
HMERIE RS E A Other payables and accruals 21,876 19,554
ERTE Wages payables 3,526 4,422
FE{SES=RIE (H5t) Amounts due to directors (Note) 375 250
61,900 85,246

et - Note:

JENHIE ST B RIZRER I

1 7 6 China New Energy Limited

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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27 H{tFEMRIE @

HAE BRI N EBEHE

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

27 OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Other payables were denominated in:

20234 20224F

AR®EFT AR®FIT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

— AR - RMB 58,752 82,210
—B7T —HKD 2,841 2,946
—HgE - GBP 307 o)
61,900 85,246

28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

20234 20224
ARETT ARET T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEESARMN Contract liabilities relating to
sRAE construction contracts 42,471 25,145

i EEEMGBRI A B ERZ®
ARERFRIIEEEREE BEE
ARG REEZ WaBBEesE4E
Bl o RER—RINIFERERKETE
RFUREN15%ZE30% 2 e RN ER T 1E
BUA AT EN15% E30% 2 2% © F22022
FIAIH > cRB8GENEENAARE
21,823,0007T

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity
commences, this gives rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives a
15%-30% deposit on acceptance of construction services orders
and 15%-30% deposit before construction work commences. As
at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB21,823,000.

—E=EER
Annual Report 2023 1 7 7



An e M TS ERAR M E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

28 ARIAE®w

TRBTINE FE20235F K20224 12831
HItFERINEAGESESEEEERN
W R MUK B R B 220234 522022
FI2A3HIEFEEBITHNBOERS

28 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in the year ended 31 December

BRI ER S RE © 2023 and 2022.
RMB’000
120221 H1H As at 1 January 2022 21,823
FEEARLWEABEBBEERSIW  Consideration received from customers during the
miEE year over the amounts of revenue recognised 13,652
REERENAESEEENEMEE  Revenue recognised during the year that was
& included in contract liability at beginning of
the year (10,330)
FR20228 12831 H %2023F181H As at 31 December 2022 and | January 2023 25,145

FEEBER RN EBED R
mEER

FEERFIFAEGRERENER
Wea

120235128318
29 REMEBEEE (BE)

() EEREBEE (BR)

EEEEE (BB AT

Consideration received from customers during the

year over the amounts of revenue recognised 23,706
Revenue recognised during the year that was

included in contract liability at beginning of

the year (6,380)
As at 31 December 2023 42,471

29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

0] Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is as follows:

202345 20224
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
EICIRIBE E - Deferred tax assets:
—BRiBRI2ER % — to be recovered after more than
Ig[a] 12 months 750 14 607
—iF 1218 8B rig(E] — to be recovered within 12 months = 1,287
750 15,894
RIEFMIBE(E ! Deferred tax liabilities:
—BRiBB12(ES % — to be recovered after more than
e 12 months (627) -
— B2 121E B k(o] — to be recovered within 12 months (177) =
(804) -

1 78 China New Energy Limited




AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 RERIEEE (AF) 29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

€= (Continued)
0] RIERIBEE(BE) (@& (i) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued)
RIS E EEBIN T - The movements on the deferred tax assets are as follows:
20235 20224
AR®TT ARETT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
] At beginning of the year 15,894 9,836
FRIEFE M (F0B%) st A (Charged)/credited to profit or loss (15,519) 5,764
SFAEMEERE Credited to other comprehensive
income 375 294
RER Atend of the year 750 15,894
FIERIEEEEBINT - The movements on the deferred tax liabilities are as
follows:
20234 20224
ARETT AR¥TT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AT At the beginning of the year = =
N\ Charged to profit or loss (804) =
RER At end of the year (804) =
B FE2023F 2022 12H31H LE The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) for the
FEENIEERIEEE (BB &) years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, without taking
(Rt KB —REE A EERN into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
BAEERIEDE) A0 - same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:
AT

A AHM
TREE  [EHER HE RESE 2EXE 5t
ARETE ARETT ARETR ARETT AREBTE ARETR

Bad debt Unutilised
provision Accruals Lease tax loss FVTOCI Total
BERERE &f Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000
20221818 At 1 January 2022 8,567 1,147 41 - 81 9,836
A/ (08 Bm Credited/(charged) to profit o loss
Hth2mlim or other comprehensive income 6,040 (523) (22) 269 294 6,058
12022128315 At 31 December 2022 14,607 624 19 269 375 15,894
(0rR) /s ABES (Charged)/credited to profit or loss
Hth2mlim or other comprehensive income ~ (14,607) (624) (823) (269) 375 (15,948)
12023128315 At 31 December 2023 - - (804) - 750 (54)

—E=EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 RIERIBEEE (BAHE) 29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

€=) (Continued)
(i) MIEEE (i)  Tax losses
202345 20224
AR®BTT AR®EF T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
W R IR LR B & B Unused tax losses for which
HRERMRIBERGIE no deferred tax asset has
been recognised 39,098 11,979
B AN ERER Temporary differences calculated
MREGE R ERE at applicable enterprise
income tax rate 5,865 2612
RMEERBEEBIEUNPEN The unused tax losses were incurred by a subsidiary
MEABEL M ABRAR located in the PRC that is not likely to generate taxable
TR K A] SEE L FESRTR UL A © income in the foreseeable future. Their respective expiry
HEZAEmBAPIW T dates are as follows.
20234 20224
AR®TT AR®EFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
20235 2023 - 1,281
20244 2024 1,278 1,278
20254 2025 3,094 3,094
20264 2026 6,326 6,326
20274 2027 34,738 -
45,436 11,979

1 80 China New Energy Limited
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29 RIEIRIBEE, (AE)

KREZNYEREE (B

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

29 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

(Continued)

(iii)  Unrecognised temporary differences (Continued)

20234 20224
AR®TT AR¥TT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
PR HEIEERIBEE B Temporary differences relating to
BB AR E BRI investments in subsidiaries for
BB BRFZZE - which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised:
—RnERF] — Undistributed earnings = 113,460
KRFEVRIEIRIEEER  Temporary differences for which
BEFERE . deferred tax assets have not been
recognised:
- IREREE R — Bad debt provision 26,121 =
- IEMBEBEERE — Impairment of non-current assets 320 1,054
- REARIELIE — Unused tax losses 6,815 =
33,256 1,054

2022128318 PRI KT
RERSEEPRX TN
MIERAR (MBEXT)
HEDERBAEENBARE
113,460,0007T B ERRKR ST
BZER IR FEEINR o EERIRE
RFEREIFTE (B EREEIER
BaE RRASAFEHTS
M A B IR > X B FEER
AERA R DKz E mH] o

distribute these profits in the foreseeable future.

“EI=FER
Annual Report 2023

/Zhongke Tianyuan and Guangdong Boluo Zhongke
Tianyuan High and New Technology Engineering
Co., Ltd. (“Boluo Tianyuan”) have undistributed
earnings amounting in aggregate to approximately
RMB113,460,000 as at 31 December 2022, which, if
paid out as dividends, would be subject to tax in the hands
of the shareholder. An assessable temporary difference
exists, but no deferred tax liability has been recognised
as the parent entity is able to control the timing of
distributions from the subsidiaries and is not expected to

181
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

30 RITER 30 BANK BORROWINGS
20234 20224
ARETFT AR¥F T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
EPEA Current

—BIKHF — Secured 14,960 25,526
— i IE — Unsecured 5,000 1,606
19,960 27,132

JEENER Non-Current
—Big — Secured 7,028 1,350
26,988 28,482

@) R2023F K20224E 128318 » 45 (a) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all of the Group's

EEARITEREUAREST bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.
Bo
(b) REEF2023F %2022F12H31 (b)  The Group's secured bank borrowings as at 31 December
HREEFIRITETNARE 2023 and 2022 of approximately RMB21,988,000 and
21,988,0007t & A 126,876,000 approximately RMB26,876,000 respectively were secured
ToH A IEEIRIR by the following.
20234 20224
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
L IEN =Y e Property, plant and equipment 902 1,004
EREEE Right-of-use assets 2,193 2,276
FEUN 45 Bill receivables 2,120 700
5,215 3,980

120234 K 2022512431 H » il
BFHERMERDRIR3.72% K
483%°

©  EREEEERRERNL S ©
REA  RIT AR B
20235 522022F 12831 HA
TAEARE o

1 82 China New Energy Limited

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 were 3.72% and 4.83%
respectively.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximated
their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the
impact of discounting borrowings with fixed interest rates
was not significant.



AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

30 IR1TEK

d) 20235 K20224E12831H » 45 (d)
EEEEERITERNT ¢

30 BANK BORROWINGS

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s bank
borrowings were repayable as follows:

20235 20224
ARETT AR®EFIT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
1FR Within 1 year 19,960 27,132
1525 Between 1 and 2 years 2,664 300
2EBF Between 2 and 5 years 4,364 1,050
26,988 28,482
31 fHE&aE 31 LEASE LIABILITIES
20234 20224
ARETT N
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEaHREaE: Lease liabilities payable:
—FRN Within one year 1,057 718
—F UL EFBEREZ Within a period of more than one year
FAREIA but not exceeding two years 1,139 =
MEU EBFRBRAREL Within a period of more than two
FAREIA years but not exceeding five years 3,248 =
5,444 718
B OREBEE N Less: Amount due for settlement
1218 8 A EERAS I A0 within 12 months shown
EEE| under current liabilities (1,057) (718)
JEREBBEE N Amount due for settlement
1218 B & R ER4E Y after 12 months shown under
EEE| non-current liabilities 4,387 =

BRAREESGEZ METIIEEEMRT

KAA04% (20224F © 653%) °

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease

liabilities was 4.04% (2022: 6.53%).
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B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

32 K& 32 SHARE CAPITAL
ZiEREE &2 &2
THiE AR®EF T
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital Share capital
GBP’000 RMB’000
ERE - Authorized:
202241818 » 2022 As at 1 January 2022,
F2023F12831H 31 December 2022 and
2023 40,000,000,000 10,000 N/ATE
BETIEHRE : Issued and fully paid:
FR20228E181H 22022 At 1 January 2022,
FER20235F12831H 31 December 2022

33 {#fE

and 2023 589,758,898 147 1,762

33 RESERVES

BATE
AL
2EK@NE
s HEE (RitHE)/
FRAYEE i1 A BEkE -1 REEA st
Hite) Hitte) Hite) Hite) Hitte)
Foreign Financial  (Accumulated
currency assets losses)/
Share  Combination Statutory translation at FVTOCI Retained
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves earnings Total
note (a) note (b) note(c) note (d) note (e)
2022 1R 1AM ER Balance at 1 January 2022 132,761 (33156) 29015 23011 (456) %923 248,098
EREE Loss for the year = = = = = (50,525) (50,525)
Hth2EESE Other comprehensive loss = = - (1,205) (1,668) (2,893)
202212831 AR Balance at 31 December 2022 132,761 (33156) 29,015 21,786 (2,124) 46,398 194,680
120235 1A 1AM Balance at 1 January 2023 132,761 (33156) 29015 21,786 (2,124) 46,398 194,680
FREE Loss for the year = s = = = (126,594) (126,594)
Bt 2EEE Other comprehensive loss = = = 1,687 (2,126) - (439)
20231231 R K4 E Balance at 31 December 2023 132,761 (33156) 29015 23473 (4,250) (80,19) 67,647
(a) BMHEHE (@  Share premium
TR P B RE A B R Share premium arising from the issue of shares can be
PR A R R A o uphsed in increasing paid-in capital as approved by the
directors.
(b) HHHEE (b)  Combination reserves
SO EISH EE| S AR (i]omb|n§t|olr1 reserve ][epresents tf}ehd|ﬁereré§e§ betwlelen
BSOS A tl ednomlna amount;) |nettatshsetzot the cor; ::TE entities
- under common control at the date on whic ey were
BEREEABKENREREZEN d

=

1 84 China New Energy Limited

acquired by the Group and the nominal amount of the
consideration for the acquisition.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

AR

R A5 B h TR S R Bl AL 2 B
BABBERANRAERM e
FRIRMFE > ZEWB AT A
BOEERBFTRMANBRIEES
BELERE EEXETERB
EEHFEMEARS0% A L 1RiE
ME R E B BIFEHENE
ABRSHERIUTEA T D
IKTFRRBE -

SN E A

MEBIINEEEL Z EREER
P EE3. 2P 7S H fth 2 [ W ot 7
B RN EEANEB#EETR
5te Rt RRAN L EREPERE
EHoREBme

BRAFE ARt EE WK m
BRNETREE

AEREZNH M2 E R
RAEZSFREN AT EES) %
FEFHNEEANIZ A TESTA
Hith2EWEHEENEREERN
R 5t o IABRAIR A FE S48 LEFEST
B AEBRZHEBESEERE

REBEA] o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

33 RESERVES (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Statutory reserves

According to the rules and regulations applicable to the
Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, when
distributing net profits of each year, these subsidiaries
are required to transfer an amount of their net profits as
reported in their statutory accounts to statutory reserves
until the accumulated balance of such reserves reaches
50% of their registered capital. Depending on the nature,
the statutory reserves can be used to set off accumulated
losses of the subsidiaries or distribute to the owners in
form of bonus issue.

Foreign currency translation reserves

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign
operations are recognised in other comprehensive
income as described in Note 3.2 and accumulated in a
separate reserve within equity. The cumulative amount
is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is
disposed of.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserves

The Group has elected to recognise changes in the
fair value of investments in equity securities in other
comprehensive income. These changes are accumulated
within the financial assets at FVTOCI reserves within
equity. The Group transfers amounts from this reserve to
retained earnings when the relevant equity securities are
derecognised.

“EI=FER
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 FEMBATISR 34 LIST OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
LR BIR2023F K2022F 12831 HME The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December
ENBARTYIER 2023 and 2022:
AL,/ ) B¥AR M023%12R31R 12022%12R31R o
AGIE BiERAS &R HREk cEEEGRE  FEEEERE TEEBROERE
Attributable equity  Attributable equity
Place and date of interest of the Group  interest of the Group
incorporation/ Registered Issued and fully ~ as at 31 December  as at 31 December  Principal activities and

Company name establishment capital paid capital 2023 2022 place of operation

ERER .

Directly owned: .

BRHHRTAER HE 10955,529% 7% 10955,529% 7% 100% 0% RRERECEEERGR
HEAR (MBEXT) 200659828 e i
(Zhongke Tianyuan)! The PRC, USD 10955529 USD 10,955,529 100% 100%  Provision of ethanal production

2 September 2006 system technology
integrated Services in the
PRC

kS |

Indirectly owned: . B . B ‘ -

ERGORTIETAN @) ABEB0000T  ARES00007 100% 0% KOEREERNERRR
BT TRERAT 1998E9830R SHERREERE
(EE X))

Guangdong Boluo Zhangke ~ The PRC, RMB5,000,000 RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Fabrication and manufacture of
Tanyuan Highand New 30 September 1998 equipment in accordance
Technology Engineering with project requirements
Co,, Ltd. (‘Boluo and designs in the PRC
Tanyuan')?

BNEBRRERAG  HED0IBE8E8H  ARELI000m  ARE1L1000007 “46% 5% RARElRMRITHERE

(202F (2028
AEH10000007)  AB1,0000007)
Guangzhou Hydrogen Power  The PRC, RMBI, 100,000 RMBI,100,000 *46% 51%  Provision of technology
Technology Co., Ld? 8 August 2018 (2022: RMB1,000,000)  (2022: RMB1,000,000) development services
in the PRC
BIEE - Notes:
1. RIEPE AR A RS 1. Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the PRC law.
2. RIBERE A EEMAEREEAT 2. Registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law.
3. RIFPEAEEMATINEGE R 3. Registered as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture under the PRC law.
* B E2023F 12831 HIEFE » ZEFEEL g During the year ended 31 December 2023, the attributable equity interest

FEREFRB1 %A TE #346% » Th IR JEIE AR M 2
HE ARKE100,0007T AR ERHEESL
EEARSEENSBRRAERAR ZH
B AR » A EE B I ENA 4
It ENEE R KB R A ERAERZ

MBARETE A

35 BEXREKRER

35

FEBEEHEA URRAEENE
BRI AESI ISR EL S WEBEBIE
BB RERGRAER ARIRARE
HoAEEBISRIRE FFEERT

fho
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of the Group was changed from 51% to 46% due to the RMB100,000
capital contribution from non-controlling interests. The directors of the
Company determine that the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of Guangzhou Hydrogen Power Technology Co., Ltd.
so as to obtain benefits from their activities. As such, Guangzhou Hydrogen
Power Technology Co., Ltd. is accounted for as subsidiary of the Group for
accounting purposes.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to owners through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.
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BXEEER @ 35 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
KEBNERNEBOIEER EDEHE The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
IRTTER (3E30) A A B A AEL bank borrowings (Note 30), and equity attributable to owners
% (BEEETIRA R5TEE,/RY of the Company, comprising issued share capital, accumulated
B R H A E) o losses/retained earnings and other reserves.
KRNABEETHEREREE - EAILL The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly.
BEEEN—IR BEFCEREANASK As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
ZEARLERI PSR - RIREE R and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
o REBBZEBELTIRE EITHR recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
FETHERIEEREER SN TFY overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new
HERRE AR - RER M A HIHE share issue and the issue of new debt or the redemption of
TS EBER NN BV E AN B 3K o 8 2 2023F K existing debt. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
2022F 12831 HIEEFE  BEAEEREZE capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
BER R it IR S o policies or process for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
ERITH 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) S=MIBEMNDE (@  Category of financial instruments
2023%F 20224
AREBTT AREEF T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE Financial assets
R IE R A ST E Financial assets at amortised cost
THEE
B RWEIBER Trade and bills receivables
U R 34,393 73,021
HAhrE W IE Other receivables 4,027 50,201
IRTTAE R RIRE Bank balances and cash 5,174 1,879
BT EF AHMEE Financial assets at FVTOCI
WS E E = 2,502
43,594 127,603
ERAE Financial liabilities
AR E A ST E Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Ea =L
B 5 R E M FRIE Trade and other payables
T BERMIGETR) (excluding VAT payable) 96,782 122,501
HEESR Lease liabilities 5,444 718
SRITERR Bank borrowings 26,988 28,482
129,214 151,701
ZEZ=FFR
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36 EMT AR w

(b) MBEREEBRRER

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

FEENETESMTIAGREES
FEMGRR IR R FE W TR 4 ~ ELth B UK
MR RTHEBRRRE RAT
Bt A AEME2ERENEME
E B RAMENRIEHES
B IRTER-ZFERM T AN
BIRERE BT - HEmT
BN EREET SRR (8
KREBRRANERR EERR

MENEE AR - [FEZF AR
BEHINT -EBEEERE
RZFRE LIEFREFR LAY

B S B HIEE °

45 2l B

EiEm b

SRR BRREERZ WAL

FELUERAE BB RERIT)
ENCHNEENER-

w5t

AEBETBHETEKEE KB

R UAEB BRI

A

RESHERGESE - FNEBEER?
BEXEAmRE ((HE) X
(T%&7T)) RABTRINERRZNE

B o

AE B H AR P EIMNERN EE
R A ~EREEBERER
BB > MRS A R R S BT

EREBER-

1 88 China New Energy Limited

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances
and cash, financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with the financial instruments include
market risks (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions
or recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of
transactions denominated and settled in RMB, which is
the functional currency of the entities in the Group. The
Group was exposed to currency risk arising from foreign
currency transactions, primarily with respect to Great
Britain Pound (“GBP”), United States Dollar (“USD”) and
HKD.

The Group has not hedged its foreign exchange rate
risk exposure. However, management of the Group
monitors currency risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant currency risk exposure should the need arise.
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36 EMIT A ®w 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) HMBEEAMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

HEEE (& Market risk (Continued)

EERE b (&) Currency risk (Continued)

NEZETFIRAFRBEE ~&E The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
BLOMNESHENEREERGH denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
BEMNIREEDT the respective dates of consolidated statement of financial

position are as follows:

202345 20224
ARETT N
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
g GBP
—HAhEWEIE — Other receivables 519 2,751
—IR{TAER NIRRT — Bank balances and cash 30 33
—HENFIA — Other payables 307 90
E5T usD
—IR{TAER NIRRT — Bank balances and cash 32 48
BT HKD
—IRITHERR IR — Bank balances and cash 11 167
—HAME I — Other payables 2,841 2,946

—E=EER
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) MBEAKREEBRKRBE (& (b)

G EEE

EEmEE (B

TRIITARE TIHAERIINE
FS%BIBURE DI« BURKE DA
ERELUMNESHENERER
WHERBERINEEREH)
5% MR AR ZIBRE ST
B/ 82 E5% BIZFEEHRRE

A WERRIR BN T

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
Should RMB strengthened/weakened by 5% against the
relevant currencies, the effect on post-tax profit or loss for
the years would be as follows:

PRI 1R EF S A5 R SN E AN
SR AR (R i FI B

18 NS R)
2023%F 20226
AREBTT ARETT

Change of post-tax profit or loss
increase profit or decrease loss/
(decrease profit or increase loss)

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
AERER RS RMB against GBP:
FHES% Strengthened by 5% (10) (114)
B2 1E5% Weakened by 5% 10 114
AREBRZET ! RMB against USD:
FHE5% Strengthened by 5% (1) 2
B2 (E5% Weakened by 5% 1 2
ARBERET RMB against Hong Kong dollar

(BTl - (“HKD"):

FHE5% Strengthened by 5% 120 118
87 1E5% Weakened by 5% (120) (118)
W EF R S Fair value interest rate risk

FEBNEEMNREABREEE
MEMER S AEEEEAF
BEFRER - NEET)ERET]
KA R AN A EBT R AR

1=
o

AEE HARETEAFREHLL

B EFRER

1 90 China New Energy Limited

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from borrowings
with fixed rates, which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk. The Group closely monitors trend of
interest rate and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BEEREEEEREE (&) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EERER B EFFE Credit risk and impairment assessment
rEERRHAESREE -BS The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
JE IS R TE B FE IR 245 ~ ELfthFE LR contract assets, trade and bills receivables, other
RIERTERRIREURER receivables, bank balances and cash and pledged
HIRTERERNEER R B bank deposits. The carrying amounts of trade and
SEWGEIE R FEN R g bills receivables, other receivables, bank balances and
IR IRITAE G RIREURE cash and pledged bank deposits represent the Group's
IR ITTFRNREEARER maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
NEMBEMENRAEER assets. The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
Ho MRV AERTMEE M the Group’s financial assets and contract assets, which are
SREE CBETTEPEERSE subject to ECL assessment:
) HEER
12(BR =2
AEEETE TEREEEE IRE4E
AR¥T
Internal 12-month Gross
2023%F Jiir23 credit or carrying
2023 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB’000
FRIBIEMAETEN  Financial assets at
TRIEE amortised costs
RTINS Bank balances and cash 25 B 1218 B 785 5,174
N/A 5818
12-month ECL
EWERE Bills receivables 20 (&%) 12{@ B T8 HA 3,660
(note i) 58858
12-month ECL
B S EWTIE Trade receivables 22 (=) 2 HATELA 104,365
(note i) 58518
Lifetime ECL
BRIEBE Contract assets 24 (B =) ZHATEM 186,900
(note i) =888
Lifetime ECL
H e WIS Other receivables 23 (Pft i) 1218 B 84A 6,004
(note ii) 5818
12-month ECL
HA RIS Other receivables 23 (Bfi =iii) ZHATEHA 78,000
(note iii) 5888
Lifetime ECL

—E=FEFR
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(b) MBEKREERBRKRER (8

15 B /m 2 R B 1B 5F 15 (4

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

12{8 8 325
RBEETH FEHEEESE ARmAR
ARETT
Internal 12-month Gross
20224 Kzt credit or carrying
2022 Notes rating lifetime ECL amount
RMB'000
WM A EtER  Financial assets at
TREE amortised costs
IRITE G AIRE Bank balances and cash 25 B 12{8 B 78488 1,879
N/A EEEB#E
12-month-ECL
W ZE Bills receivables 22 (&) 1218 B T85R 2,200
(note i) 518
12-month-ECL
B 5 ElTE Trade receivables 22 (P i) 2HATEH 113,185
(note i) FEBE
Lifetime ECL
GREE Contract assets 24 (D 2 HYEER 285,437
(note i) 518
Lifetime ECL
HAthEuTIE Other receivables 23 (P i) 12{8 B 7848A 6,416
(note ii) FEBE
12-month-ECL
HAhpEWEIE Other receivables 23 (Bt i) 2 HRTEHA 78,000
(note iii) 518
Lifetime ECL
Kzt - Notes:
@ E G BN TR ENERER S (i) For trade receivables, bills receivables and contract assets,

FIEEME > 7 EEEEHEE
B REER BIFRIBIL L
RHIRRIE B R IR 51 B RS IR A
1 PR AET TR T I5 A9 EE (8
FEETRIEFE) S R E
HEREEZ T RANRAIEE
Yz

(i) ETTAEBNIEERREE 755
EFREaA = B I E R
FR BB ST LU SAE XA MEIE I © ¢
2023F 2022412531 A » %%
ARBFUL AR AHT TR BEE AR

(i) B FE20235F 12531 HIEF/E » B
R TEEFA R ZIERIH Y
HEMEBEEI K EALE A
KB EE #578,000,00070

(20224 : A E#78,000,0007T)
EERZ T HRIEERE -5
BRI [EH A7 15 - 35 2 BT aE
23(ii)

1 92 China New Energy Limited

(ii)

(i)

the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for items
that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for
impairment individually, the Group determines the ECL on these
items by past due status.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, these balances are either not past
due or does not have fixed repayment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a debtor of other
receivable of amount RMB78,000,000 (2022: RMB78,000,000)
has been transferred to lifetime ECL as the project status
assoclated with the deposit paid to the debltor was paused and
significantly delayed. For details of the other receivable, please
refer to Note 23(iii).
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ESEBUNERESEEE

AERREERMHREEDS
IEBRERBBERIHEHE
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SHATRRIR IR -

VA e 4

HEWER OBRITARER
BERNEERBRAR BRER
RITNAEERFAALAEZE
EEFEEFRIRZSERE

IHo

HMENHE
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36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
contract assets and trade receivables.

Bills receivables

The credit risk associated with bills receivables, which
are all bank acceptance drafts, is limited because the
accepting bank will cash the bills unconditionally when the
Group presents these bills on due dates.

Other receivables

The credit risk of other receivable has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the counterparties
default rate and financial position of the counterparties.
The Group recognised the allowance for expected credit
losses by assessing the credit risk characteristics of other
receivables, discount rate and the likelihood of recovery
and considering the prevailing economic conditions.

Bank balances and cash

The credit risk of the Group on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of the counterparties are international
banks and state-owned banks with good reputation.

“EI=FER
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(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) HHEEAMREEEERER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERERBEFFEG (B Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
At ETEAEERE  B5EW To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
REREREELRELREE and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
Bl Ra iR nE 5 F credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
BEERFAENTRIZMER contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
RELEM WEBRER SR retention receivables and have substantially the same risk
HNEZEWHRIEESARERN characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types
RS At REERRA B of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that the
SREBGEIBNTEREEEA SR expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
BERBXRNESEILUE approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.
FEHBEERELDERHE—EER The expected loss rates are based on the estimated
ARANEEHEAEIENIBR default rates and loss given default applied to each
O WHEBEERFEERIER category of debtor, adjusted for forward-looking information
TERE N R A T (R R AR B4 on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
BiRE TR customers to settle the receivables.
REEBBREEIRS £DEE Analysis of trade and bills receivables and contract assets
SRR IE K FEWN R U K & TF) by categories based on method of provision for credit loss
BEZDM allowance

2023 20025
2023 2022
IREAE FEBERE IREAEE FEBEEE
Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance Gross carrying amount Credit loss allowance
&8 A% ) BREE &8 %) 28 A% IREE
Proportion Proportion Carrying Proportion Proportion Carrying
Category 85 Amount (%) Amount (%) amount Amount (%) Amount (%) amount
ARETFT ARETFT AREBTRT \RETRT ANREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Provision on individual basis (BRI E %R
~Tadeend bilsreceivebles  ~HEBUAERELER 64966 220  (64966) 100 - 19 (4407 460 4033
— Contract assets —-AREE 11,473 39 (11,473) 100 - 13,390 3 6,513) 186 6,877
Provision on portfolio basis ~ ##48 & EE5HR
Tadeendbils eceivables  —HRENFERMEASE 43059 146 (8666) 201 34393 40655 0 g% 196 3268
— Contract assets —-AREE 175,427 59.5 (8,593) 49 166,834 272,047 68 (15,052) 85 256,995
Total @it 294,925 100 (93,698) o 01227 400822 0 63929 - 3388

1 94 China New Energy Limited
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36 ERITH®@ 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) HMBEEAMREEEEREER (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERERBEE (B Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

REEBBREBEIRS £DEE Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract

SREEEIE - EREENERE assets by categories based on method of provision for

EZ DN @@ credit loss allowance (Continued)

0} ER EEHREERIE 0) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
BENESERREIERS for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
BIEEZD . individual basis:

2023 F HAK 45 R
2023 Closing Balance
IREME (SEERRE EE (%) BERER
Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for
Item IEH amount allowance (%) provision
ARETFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade receivables 1 B 5 REIE] 37 37 100% Note (iii)
Trade receivables 2 B EWHIBE? 8 (8) 100% Note (ii)
Trade receivables 3* B SRR 61,158 (61,158) 100% Note (iii)
Trade receivables 4* Eyrale iy 2,384 (2,384) 100% Note (ii)
Trade receivables 5* B 5 WL 30 (30) 100% Note (i)
Trade receivables 6 B EWFIE6 89 (89) 100% Note (ii)
Trade receivables 7+ B SR IET 980 (980) 100% Note (i)
Trade receivables 8 B EWFIEs 280 (280) 100% Note (i)
Contract assets 1* BREEL 9,702 (9,702) 100% Note (jii)
Contract assets 2 BREBE? 868 (868) 100% Note (i)
Contract assets 3* EEET:RY 106 (106) 100% Note (i)
Contract assets 4* EEETY 797 (797) 100% Note (ii)
76,439 (76,439)
* UTEEBR—F- * The following pairs represent each of the same party.
B S EWRIEI R AR Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 1;
HEL;
B EWRIBEIR AR Trade receivables 4 and contract assets 4; and
BEL, K
B 5 EWRIEN R & F Trade receivables 5 and contract assets 3.
BE3e

—E=FEFR
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FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

36 EMT AR w

(b)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

HMERREEBEREE (& (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

EERERBEFG (B Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

REEBBREEIRS £DEE Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract

SREEEIE -EREENERE assets by categories based on method of provision for

EZ D (@ credit loss allowance (Continued)

@ ZER BEEHREERIE 0) Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
BENEZREZTIBRE for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
FABEZ D . (@ individual basis: (Continued)

2022 F HiR KR
‘ 2022 Closing Balance
RERE EEERER EEAI(%) BER
Gross carrying Credit loss Proportion Reason for
ltem EH amount allowance (%) provision
ARETTT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade receivables 1 EYraleEll 8 ) 100% Note FfizE (ii)
Trade receivables 2* B EE 67,146 (26,823) 40% Note HiE (i)
Trade receivables 3* B SRR 2,384 (2,384) 100% Note Pz (i)
Trade receivables 4 E riale vl 1,617 (1,617) 100% Note Ffi&E (ii)
Trade receivables 5 B 5 EEIEL 2,506 (2,506) 100% Note 5t (i)
Trade receivables 6 B EWFIE6 89 (89) 100% Note FizE (i)
Trade receivables 7* B EWRET 980 (980) 100% Note FizE (i)
Contract assets 1* BREEL 11,451 (4.574) 40%  Note Fi5E (iil)
Contract assets 2* BREE 136 (136) 100% Note FfizE (ii)
Contract assets 3* BREES" 462 (462) 100% Note FiZE (i)
Contract assets 4 EEEED 440 (440) 100% Note P (i)
Contract assets 5* EEET:Y 901 (901) 100% Note i =E (ii)
88,120 (40,920)
* UTEHER—T5 e * The following pairs represent each of the same party.
;‘:’i%ﬁ%ﬂﬁz,ﬁlﬁz&é}ﬁ Trade receivables 2 and contract assets 1;
BEL;
g%% @”iﬁ]ﬁﬁ’&ﬁﬁ Trade receivables 3 and contract assets 5; and
BES; &
B2 EERETRER Trade receivables 7 and contract assets 3.
BE3.

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

1 96 China New Energy Limited




FEARBAN FRERRREMN/SARE T T

36 EMT A w

(b)

MERREERRRER (@)

15 B /a1 2 R Bt 1B 5F 12 (#47)

RIEEFBEBHE D EDEE
ZREWRIE BB RERERE
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@

RERBEAEREEER
BHENEZSRBIEERS
EEEZI @

RERBEAEREEER
BHENEZSRIEERS
EEENT :

Hiat

FrEEEEERERS
HAEEBNGEERKE
B RER (BIEAE
MERD  HIEHE a8
EITAHMLMARRERESTET IR
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0] BIEERA AR
Z B 5 EWRIE
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BEME BRER
IEE B @Bk
WeB1&E75 > HIE T
FL% & 7 B W
HEHREERE

iy — BEERR AR
rEBEHEZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Analysis of trade receivables, bills receivables and contract
assets by categories based on method of provision for
credit loss allowance (Continued)

0)

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on an
individual basis: (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets for which
credit loss allowance is provided on an individual
basis as follows:

Note:

The Group considered the reasonable and
supportable evidence and information (including
forward-looking information) available in relation
to the counterparty, to assess the expected
credit losses and recognised the loss allowance
accordingly.

(i) The management believes that full
impairment is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as there were internal
changes of debtor in respect of this trade
receivable and the Group is considering to
have litigation to collect the debts.

(i) The management believes that fully
impairment is necessary in respect of this
trade receivable as the Group has lost
contact with this debtor.

(iii) The management consider the debtor with
significant outstanding balances as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 was assessed
individually.

“EI=FER
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FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 EMT AR w 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) MBEAKREEBRKRBE (& (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

EERERBEFG (B Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

(ii) KHEERESHEEERIE (ii)
RENEZRIHIERS
FEERBEHBARER

Analysis of trade receivables and contract assets
for which credit loss allowance is provided on
portfolio basis, based on aging of debtors:

AT
1FER 1225/ 2E3ERN IEHL fst
ARETT ARETT AR%TR ARETR ARETR
Over Over
lyearand 2 yearsand
Within within within Over
1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B RRNTER Trade and bills receivables
EhZEE
1#20235%12A31H At 31 December 2023
FRAE Gross carrying amount
—ERERTER — Trade and hills receivables
RWEE 33,706 1,012 2,734 5,607 43,059
HsEx Expected loss rate 2% 2% 94% 99% =
BREEEE Loss allowance provision 521 21 2,571 5,553 8,666
FEE Net carrying amount 33,185 991 163 54 34,393
BREE Contract assets
1#2023%12A31H At 31 December 2023
FRAE Gross carrying amount
-sAEE - Contract assets 1,992 168,610 4,167 658 175,427
EHEEE Expected loss rate 6% 2% 100% 100% =
BiEEEEE Loss allowance provision 113 3,655 4,167 658 8,593
FRFE Net carrying amount 1,879 164,955 = = 166,834

1 98 China New Energy Limited
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(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 EMT A w 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) MBEREEZBRRER (&) (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

EERBERBETE (&

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

1R 1228/ 2E3ER 3ENE i
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT
QOver QOver
lyearand  2yearsand
Within within within QOver
1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BARWTIER Trade and bills receivables
1#2022512A318 At 31 December 2022
FmeE Gross carrying amount
—ERERTER — Trade and bills receivables
ENEE 25,831 8276 1,793 4,795 40,655
BHEER Expected loss rate 3% 7% 100% 100% =
BEARELE Loss allowance provision 870 539 1,753 47% 7,957
REFE Net carrying amount 24,961 7737 = = 32,698
BREE Contract assets
1#2022512A318 At 31 December 2022
EEE] Gross carrying amount
—AREE — Contract assets 209,194 55,740 5,943 1,170 272,047
BHEEX Expected loss rate 4% 5% 59% 100% =
BEEELE Loss allowance provision 7818 2529 353 1,170 15,052
FEEE Net carrying amount 201,376 53211 2408 = 256,995

FRERME 7 BUTRERERE

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

BRI REEINT - trade and bills receivables during the year is as follows:

2023%F 20224

2HATEHA = HATEHA

EEEBEES EEBEEES

AR®BTT AR®ETFTT

2023 2022

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

Total Total

RMB’000 RMB’000

R1B 18 M ER Balance at 1 January 42,364 22,312

F SRR EEE Impairment losses recognised

during the year 31,268 20,052

R12831H M4 ER Balance at 31 December 73,632 42 364
—EC=FFR
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B AERBEIN FRESEEMNAARKETIT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 EMIT A ®w 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) MEEBEEEEREE (@ (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
EERERBEFG (& Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
FABHEREBEENGBRER Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
EHT contract assets during the year is as follows:
20234 20224
2 HATEHA 2 HATEHA

FEGHRBE EEBEEES
AR®ETT ARBTT

2023 2022
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Total Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
K1 1B AR Balance at 1 January 21,565 25,795
FAMEBH R E R EE[D Reversal of impairment losses
recognised during the year (1,499) (4,230)
12831 B4R Balance at 31 December 20,066 21,565
20235 520224128310 » Bk At 31 December 2023 and 2022, except for the other
R2022FE12831 B 482 A AR receivables with gross amount of RMB78,000,000 as at
78,000,0007c B9 EL A FE I =RIE SN » 31 December 2022, all of the Group’s other receivables
AEEFRA A EWEIE K8 are either not past due or does not have fixed repayment,
TR EEEER RERZ12(E the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL.
BrEfEEBas25EEEE- Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of
FRAAEMERIBA R85 other receivables during the year is as follows:
BEREEIT
20234 20224F
Wt R12{EH st R12@EH
TEHAEERSIE TRHIEEEIE
ARETT ARBEFTT
2023 2022
Total and Total and
12m ECL 12m ECL
RMB’000 RMB’000
R1B1HN4EER Balance at 1 January 34,215 9,238
FAMEEEREEE Impairment losses recognised
during the year 46,262 24,977
R12831 B 4s 6 Balance at 31 December 80,477 34,215

2 00 China New Energy Limited
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AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage
of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
assets and liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through financial support of business partners and
suppliers.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserve of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. At present, the Group is
financed by advance payments from customers and bank
borrowings.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities at the reporting date based on
contractual undiscounted payments:

—FRN HBiE—F 4t
AR®EFTT AREBTFTT AR®EFT
Less than More than
one year one year Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
2023%F12H31H At 31 December 2023
RITRER Bank borrowings 20,474 7,344 27,818
B REMPEIRIE  Trade and other payables
(FEFERE(TIEER)  (excluding VAT payable) 96,782 - 96,782
HEal Lease liabilities 1,254 4,703 5,957
118,510 12,047 130,557
2022%12H31H At 31 December 2022
RITER Bank borrowings 27,899 1,432 29,331
B REMPBEIRIE  Trade and other payables
(P EFEEIBET  (excluding VAT payable) 122,501 - 122,501
HEaR Lease liabilities 762 = 762
151,162 1,432 152,594
ZEZ=FFR
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36 EMT AR w

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) SMIAEMNAFEN=Z (c)  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
RFEEZR Fair value hierarchy
REA R EE BT B TR IR R B This section explains the judgements and estimates made
BAFESEZERTAENAF in determining the fair values of the financial instruments
BFTTEH Z F i R (5t o iR that are recognised and measured at fair value in the
BEATEFMBEHAZBENAE financial statements. To provide an indication about the
REER AEECRESE reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
BBEERMTASA =K &E Group has classified its financial instruments into the three
e RSN TR levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the table.
BEI A FEFE Recurring fair value measurements
E34k aEst
AR®EFTT AREEFTT
Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
#22022%12H31H At 31 December 2022
EREE Financial assets
WA ESFAEMEE  Financial assets at fair value through
WHENEREE other comprehensive income 2,502 2,502

Flk: NERHTHEEZE
MIE B ARES
WITE T EKRREE
%) 2 ATFETHER
RS BRI T B 5t
HoWETHFAZEL
e

B2k WIFNERTHISEEER
ZERTE @nssh
RBMETR) 2R
FEDRGET AE
EoREEREEE
AR HRREHIZEE
R kR E BR R4S
Eftste M TAMNA
FEFIBENREER
BABBRURRH
® AT AIAR2
AR e

2 02 China New Energy Limited

Level 1:  The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
Reporting Period. These instruments are
included in level 1.

Level 2:  The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.
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(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
36 ERITH®@ 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) ETMIAMNQAFEHEZE @ ()  Fair value measurement of financial instruments

BEHATENE (2)

B3R W—IAHZEEARE
ABURI IFAR R P R
RHHEE AZT
B AE3MR-FFL™
RRAFEZFH A ULAR °

B E2022F12A31HIEFE » &
FUHRAFEFENEIR  F24R
e 53R 2 RO RS o

AEEBBERA IR S AR
AHERBRHBAREL

BERFEBIGET %

AHEMTALEPIANREME
FEEE

. MR AFESARMER
WamNEREEMS &
% (D)

Mzt : rEFELNFESFARM
ZEN T HEEER
FLEBARAGAR L HFEL
VR B IR A EIR92.08% K
1o WRE L BI20195F4
B4R > [F20224F12
H31H > KR E A B
RIFIEE TEEES—
EEFR T EHFE A
M (A EERFL IR AT EEA
Hith= EK B9 Z B ZE
RHEEZ

(Continued)
Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Level 3:  If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for unlisted equity securities.

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year ended
31 December 2022.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of
the reporting period.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair value

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

° For financial assets at FVTOCI, asset-based
approach (Note)

Note: The Group'’s financial assets at FVTOCI represent 2.08%
equity interests in an unlisted company, Inner Mongolia
Zhongneng Biotechnology Co., Ltd. The investee was
established on 4 April 2019 and as at 31 December 2022,
the investee has not launched any operation, the majority of
the assets are one building and land use right. Therefore,
the valuer used asset-based approach for financial assets at
FVTOCI.

—E=EER
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FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

36 EMT AR w

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

ETRMIANAFEFE (@)

BEMRFEFE (B

1E1EBA B IERHE LT ER
Fit%

TREAME R EIRAFESE
FRREXRTAIREHABIENE
BN ARPIMGEERN R
Exb) :

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

(Continued)

Recurring fair value measurements (Continued)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs used
in level 3 fair value measurements (see (b) above for the

valuation techniques adopted):

20226
120225 12A31AK FTRRBAMESR
Ht 12A31AMATE BARTRZGANE BAMEEE ATENRG
Fair value as at Range of inputs as at  Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 December 2022  Significant unobservable inputs 31 December, 2022 inputs to fair value
AEBTR
RMB'000
BATES A2 ER 2502 MEME-N% BERRE 15%-82%  miAEHE AATENS.
GREMEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI 2502 Rate of newness - Property, plant 15%-82%  The higher the rate of newness,
and equipment the higher the fair value.
THRETHE MRS/ AR 1002829  WEHE AATEHS
Market price of land and buildings 100-2829  The higher the market price,

FEBVRATESAREMER
WamEMEERBILMNGE
B EMETHE - MHRER
HEMMEEREAERETH

A
A ©

2 04 China New Energy Limited

(RMB/square metre)

the higher the fair value.

The financial assets at FVTOCI of the Group was valued
by independent and qualified valuers. Discussions of
valuation processes and results were held between the
Chief Financial Officer and the valuers.
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36 £RIT A @ 36 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) =Z=MIEMNATEIME @B (c)  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
(Continued)
B3R AFEELIH R Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

R2022F181H At 1 January 2022 4,463
HEESIE Total losses:

—REMEERE — in other comprehensive income (1,667)
—Hith — others (294)
7R2022F12831H At 31 December 2022 2,502
4RSI Total losses:

—REMEEKE — in other comprehensive income (2,127)
—Hth — others (375)

R2023F12831H At 31 December 2023 =
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FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 RERERERME 37 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
(a) PFREAEMAIGIEEKERMAR (@  Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash
EFEMNHER used in operations
HZE12A31HLLEE
20234 20224
AR®BTT AR®EF T
Year ended 31 December
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRPTISIRAIES B Loss before income tax (110,400) (56,721)
KLU RE Adjustments for:
— A A F R — Finance costs — net 1,821 1,658
—WE BB R E — Depreciation of property,
e plant and equipment 4,923 4,232
— B EITE — Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 1,212 1,153
— B EEHH — Amortisation of intangible assets 1,850 2,198
—EBEERERE — Impairment loss (reversed)/
(HB[E) HERR recognised on intangible
assets (1,390) 7,024
—\ B E M — Write-off of intangible assets 2,245 =
—SMEBEERESREEE - Netimpairment losses on
PERIEL SEi=DEE-E financial assets and contract
assets 76,031 40,799
—EREIEFRE — Exchange losses, net 1,170 773
—EEImAR  (U[EIRER) - Bad debts written off/
(recovery of bad debts) 4,270 (1,450)
Frihie= AT ¥410%  Share of result of associate (981) =
EESSEFHEIL Operating loss before working
K& 1R capital changes (19,249) (334)
EEETEH Changes in working capital:
—aREE — Contract assets 98,537 5,222
—=F&8 — Inventories (2,474) (2,214)
—BSEWFIEREW - Trade and bills receivables
EE R H AR and other receivables and
ENEYSSENNEOE] prepayment (31,244) (5,029)
—&aREaef’E — Contract liabilities 17,326 3,322
—BEREMMEMIIE - Trade and other payables (50,305) 1,656
ST IRE Cash generated from operations 12,591 2,623

206

China New Energy Limited
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(b)

FEARBAN FRERRREMN/SARE T T

FEERERERMET @

AR E IR AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

37 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (continued)

BEBHIER (b)  Net debt reconciliation
KRN S 2V FEFHER This section sets out an analysis of net interest bearing
IR EFS BB DT o debt and the movements in such debts for each of the
year presented.
202345 20224
AR®BTT AR®EFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
REMRIREEEBEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,174 1,879
IRITEREEEARE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—mE——ERER — current — repayable within
one year (21,017) (27,850)
IRTTERKEEERE Bank borrowings and lease liabilities
—3IEmE — non-current (11,415) (1,350)
BIETS Net debt (27,258) (27,321)
202345 20224
AR®T T AREEFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
B KIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,174 1,879
WEFHF—EEFE Gross debt — fixed interest rates (32,432) (29,200)
AT Net debt (27,258) (27,321)

—E=EER
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37 FEeHRERERMFT @ 37 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) BEEHHIKR @ (b)  Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

REk R-ER fim— HE&fF- HEAFA-
REEEN FENED 3] ik ] FERE st
ARETE ARETT ARETE ARETT ARBTE ARETR

Lease

Cash  Borrowings  Borrowings Lease Liabilities

and cash  due within -non- Liabilities - non-
equivalents 1 year current - current current Total

RMB000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'OOO ~ RMB'O0O ~ RMB'000  RMB'000

20225 Net debt as at

1A1HH 1 January 2022

BFEE 6,904 (24,363) (7,500) (1,186) (746) (26,891)
Behe Cash flows (4,937) 3,381 - 1214 - (342)
BMNE Reclassification - (6,150) 6,150 (746) 746 =
HEER Translation differences (89) = = = = (88)
20224 Net debt as at

12A318K 31 December 2022

FEE 1,879 (27,132) (1,350) (718) - (27,321)
#2023F Net debt as at

158181 1 January 2023

BER 1,879 (27,132) (1,350) (718) S (27,321)
HEARARE Addition of lease liabiliies - — = (1,512) 4,387) (5,899)
Béne Cash flows 3,301 1,49% - 1,173 - 5968
E=Fiibag Reclassification = 5678 (5,678) - - -
HMHEER Translation differences ®) - - - = 6)
#2023F Net debt as at

12A318M 31 December 2023

BEB 5174 (19,960) (7,028) (1,057) (4387)  (27,258)

2 08 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

BBk 5 32 5 38
(@)  BABE7T A8

BB 75 2 R B A R

BN GAMTSHRRE RN 2R

27

(b) EEEEEHM

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party balances
Details of the outstanding balances with related parties are
set out in the consolidated statement of financial position

and in Notes 23 and 27.

(b) Key management compensation

20234 20224
ARETT AR®EFTT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
TE Fre Ttk Salaries, wages, bonuses and other
HAhEH benefits 2,224 2633
HAREE 39 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

L2023 K 202212331 B » AR Il
ERERAER-

BRI 40

F2023F F20224E 12831 H » AxEE B 4R
EAIERERRIE

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group did not have any material capital commitment as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

—E=EER
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FRBRBEIN FAEEBREU/ARETT)

(All amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)

41 FEATIMERARKFEE 41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

et )|

(@ FAFMBRIEER

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position of the Company

20234 20224
ARETT AR¥FT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
ERENEE Non-current asset
R—REMEBASIA  Investments in a subsidiary
"E 70,791 86,034
REBEE Current assets
FEUS AR B Dividend receivables 6,063 5,615
FEUSHIEB/ATIZIE  Amounts due from subsidiaries = 1,062
HhfEWGRIERTE  Other receivables and
INE/RE prepayments 2,932 2,793
IRITHEGRKIRS Bank balances and cash 46 240
9,041 9,710
mEE Total assets 79,832 95,744
FE EQUITY
EATEBA Equity attributable to
FE(L iR Owners of the Company
&N Share capital 1,762 1,762
(= Reserves 71,333 89,588
4ARE T Total equity 73,095 91,350
afE LIABILITIES
mENEME Current liabilities
FETHMIB/ASTIFRIE  Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,265 -
HihpE(mE Other payables 3,260 4,198
B I8 Tax payable 212 196
6,737 4,394
Y= Total liabilities 6,737 4,394
HERREE Total equity and liabilities 79,832 95,744

KRB FHARRER B 120245
3R28HMESFFHUERIFET
> WH FIATAREE !

The Company’s statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf

by:
RER Bk
Yu Weijun Tang Zhaoxing
E=FE BFE
Director Director

2 1 0 China New Energy Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B ERPIN FRESEEMNA AR TT) (Al amounts in Renminbi thousands unless otherwise stated)
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(b) FAEHEES

RN R #®E 41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (continued)

(b) Reserve Movement of the Company

MBS
ki aE feéf RHER At
ARETRT  AR®TR  ARETT ARETR
WiE32e) W)

Foreign
currency
translation  Accumulated
Share premium reserves losses Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Note 32(a) Note 32()

#2022 1510 M4
EREE
Hit2ERE

1#2022%12A31H
MtER

ERER

Rt EEE

1#2023%12A31H
MtER

Balance at 1 January 2022 132,761 22,902 (58,706) 9,957
Loss for the year - - (6,542) (6,542)
QOther comprehensive loss = 827 = (827)
Balance at

31 December 2022 132,761 22,075 (65,248) 89,588
Loss for the year - - (20,387) (20,387)
Other comprehensive loss - 2,132 - 2,132
Balance at

31 December 2023 132,761 24.207 (85,635) 71333

—E=EER
Annual Report 2023 21 1



M2
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TREFMAEEBE F20194F ~ 2020~ 20214 The following table summarises the results, and assets and liabilities of the
2022F Fh2023F 12831 HIEFE 2 #4E - EERK  Group for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and
aE: 2023:

REFHEN19FI2H3IHIEFEZ#4E EE  The summary of the results, and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
KREaERERFBEANAT BHIA20209E6H330H  year ended 31 December 2019 was extracted from the prospectus of the
ZIBRER Company dated 30 June 2020.

HE12A31HIEEE
2023F 20224 20214 20204 20194
ARETRE ARBTT AR®TT AR®TT ARET®
Year ended 31 December
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ZEEEREME  Major ltems of Consolidated

AREREE Statement of Profit or Loss and

HH Other Comprehensive Income
e Revenue 41,826 117,354 386,831 521,561 398,558
Z (&) /F Gross (loss)/profit (5,122) 15,187 45,322 132,716 109,417
£ (&) /F=x Gross (loss)/profit margin (12.2%) 129% 11.7% 25.4% 27.5%
FW (5518) /EM  (Loss)/profit for the year (126,723) (50,957) 7,795 44,364 59,168
NEVHEB NG (Loss)/profit attributable to the owners

(&518) /&F of the company (126,594) (50,525) 8421 44,364 59,168
FEIERR RS Loss attributable to the non-controlling

b= interests (129) (432) (626) - -
3 (5518) /FIE=R  Net (loss)/profit margin (303.0%) (43.4%) 2.0% 85% 14.8%
IFEMBIRRR Major Items of Consolidated

FEER Statement of Financial Position
ERBEE Non-current assets 91,819 54,043 63,246 51,031 45,464
TREEE Current assets 234,581 429,177 473511 448 140 355,569
JEREEE Non-current liabilities 12,219 1,350 8,246 13,832 2891
REBE Current liabilities 245,418 286,045 278,836 242,729 267,712
NEHEE AEML Capital and reserves attributable to

BRKEE the owners of the company 69,409 196,442 249 860 242 610 130,430
JEIERE R Non-controlling interests (646) 617) (185) = =
BEBREX Gearing ratio 3.75 147 115 1.06 2.07

2 1 2 China New Energy Limited
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